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OFFICIAL STATEMENT
March 8, 2016

In the opinion of Bond Counsel (identified below), assuming continuing compliance by the Issuer (defined below) after the date of initial
delivery of the Certificates (defined below) with certain covenants contained in the Ordinance (defined below) and subject to the matters
described under "TAX MA77"ERS" herein, interest on the Certificates under existing statutes, regulations, published rulings, and court
decisions (1) will be excludable from the gross income of the owners thereof for federal income tax purposes under Section 103 of the
Internal Revenue Code, as amended to the date of initial delivery of the Certificates and (2) will not be included in computing the alternative
minimum taxable income of the owners thereof who are individuals or, except as hereinafter described, corporations . (See 'TAX
MATTERS" herein.)

The Issuer has designated the Certificates as "Qualified Tax-Exempt Oblipafions" for financial institutions.

$2,400,000
CITY OF BELLMEAD, TEXAS

(A political subdivision of the State of Texas located in McLennan County, Texas)
COMBINATION TAX AND LIMITED PLEDGE REVENUE CERTIFICATES OF OBLIGATION, SERIES 2016

Dated Date: March 1, 2016 Due: March 1, as shown on page ii
The $2,400,000 City of Bellmead, Texas Combination Tax and Limited Pledge Revenue Certificates of Obligation, Series 2016 (the
"Certificates") are being issued pursuant to the Certificate of Obligation Act of 1971 (Sections 271.041 through 271.064, Texas Local
Government Code, as amended), Chapter 1502, as amended, Texas Government Code, an ordinance (the "Ordinance") adopted by the
City Council of the City of Bellmead, Texas (the "City" or "Issuer") on March 8, 2016, and the City's Home Rule Charter. (See 'THE
CERTIFICATES -Authority for Issuance" herein.)

The Certificates constitute direct and general obligations of the Issuer payable primarily from the proceeds of an annual ad valorem tax
levied upon all taxable property within the City, within the limitations prescribed by law, and are further payable from and secured by a lien
on and pledge of the Pledged Revenues (identified and defined in the Ordinance), being a limited amount of the Net Revenues derived
from the operation of the City's combined utility system (the "System") ,such lien on and pledge of the limited amount of Net Revenues
being subordinate and inferior to the lien on and pledge of such Net Revenues securing payment of any Prior Lien Obligations, Junior Lien
Obligations, or Subordinate Lien Obligations hereafter issued by the Issuer (all such terms as defined in the Ordinance). The City previously
authorized the issuance of the currently outstanding Limited Pledge Obligations (as described and defined in the Ordinance)f which are
payable, in part, from and secured by a lien on and pledge of a limited amount of the Net Revenues in the manner provided in the
ordinance authorizing the issuance of the currently outstanding Limited Pledge Obligations. In the Ordinance, the City reserves and retains
the right to issue Prior Lien Obligations, Junior Lien Obligations, Subordinate Lien Obligations, and Additional Limited Pledge Obligations
(all as identified and defined in the Ordinance) while the Certificates are outstanding, without limitation as to principal amount but subject to
any terms, conditions or restrictions as may be applicable thereto under law or otherwise. (See "THE CERTIFICATES -Security for
Payment" and 'TAX RATE LIMITATIONS" herein.)

Interest on the Certificates will accrue from March 1, 2016 (the "Dated Date") as shown above and will be payable on March 1 and
September 1 of each year, commencing September 1, 2016, until stated maturity or prior redemption, and will be calculated on the basis of
a 360-day year of twelve 30-day months. The definitive Certificates will be issued as fully registered obligations in book-entry form only and
when issued will be registered in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee of The Depository Trust Company ("DTC"), New York, New York.
DTC will act as securities depository. Book-entry interests in the Certificates will be made available for purchase in the principal amount of
$5,000 or any integral multiple thereof. Purchasers of the Certificates ("Beneficial Owners") will not receive physical delivery of certificates
representing their interest in the Certificates purchased. So long as DTC or its nominee is the registered owner of the Certificates, the
principal of and interest on the Certificates will be payable by BOKF, NA, Austin, Texas, as Paying Agent Registrar to the securities
depository, which will in turn remit such principal and interest to its participants, which will in turn remit such principal and interest to the
Beneficial Owners of the Certificates. (See "BOOK-ENTRY-ONLY SYSTEM" herein.)

Proceeds from the sale of the Certificates will be used for the purpose of paying contractual obligations of the City to be incurred for making
permanent public improvements and for other public purposes, to-wit: (1) constructing, acquiring, purchasing, renovating, enlarging, and
improving the City's utility system, and the purchase of materials, supplies, equipment, machinery, land, and rights-of-way for authorized
needs and purposes relating to these utility system improvements; (2) the purchase of materials, supplies, equipment, machinery,
landscaping, Iand, and rights-of-way for authorized needs and purposes relating to the aforementioned capital improvements; and (3) the
payment of professional services related to the design, construction, project management, and financing of the aforementioned projects.
~SPP "THE CERTIFICATES -Use of Certificate Proceeds" herein.)

SEE FOLLOWING PAGE FOR STATED MATURITIES, PRINCIPAL AMOUNTS, INTEREST
RATES, INITIAL YIELDS, CUSIP NUMBERS, AND REDEMPTION PROVISIONS FOR THE

CERTIFICATES

The Certificates are offered for delivery, when, as and if issued and received by the initial purchaser thereof at a competitive sale (the
"Purchaser') and subject to the approving opinion of the Attorney General of the State of Texas and the approval of certain legal matters by
Norton Rose Fulbright US LLP San Antonio, Texas, Bond Counsel. The legal opinion of Bond Counsel will be printed on, or attached to, the
Certificates. (See "LEGAL MATTERS -Legal Opinion and No-Litigation Certificate" herein). It is expected that the Certificates will be
available for initial delivery through DTC on or about April 13, 2016.
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base CIJSIP - 079635 ~~~

Stated Interes4 initial
Maturity Principal Rafe Yield CU51P
March 1 Amount _j%Z _~°/~_ Suffix~`'~

2017 $ 95,000 2.000 0.850 EX2
201II 95,000 2.000 1.000 EYO
2019 i 00,000 2.000 1.100 EZ7
2020 100,000 2.000 1.250 FA1
2021 105,000 2.400 1.400 FB9
2022 105,000 2.000 1.550 FC7
2023 105,000 2.000 1.650 ~D5
?_024 110,000 2.000 1.800 FE3
2025 110,000 3.000 1.900 FFO
2026 115,000 3.000 2.000 FG8
LUL% "i'1U,000 :i.000

,,_ ;
L.USU'''' t-i-Iti

2028 125, 00 3.00 2.~i~~~b~ FJ2
2Q29 125,000 3.000 2.200~b~ FK9
2030 130,000 3.000 2.300~b~ FL7

$275,000 3.000% Term Certificate due March 1, 2032 Price to Yield 2.550%~b~ FN3~a~

$285,000 3.000% Term Certificate due March 1, 2034 Price to Yield 2.750°/ ~b~ FQ6~a~

$300,OOtD 3.000%'Term Certificate due March 1, 2036 Price to Yield 3.000°/a FS2~a~

(lnterPst tc~ accrue from the Dated Da#e)

The Issuer reserves the right to redeem the Certificates maturing on or after March 7, 2027, in whole or in part, in principal amounts
of $5,000 ar any integral multiple thereaf on Marsh 1, 2026, ar any date #hereafter, at the redemption price of par plus accrued
interest as further described herein. In addition, the CeYcificates maturing March 9, 2432, March 7, 2034 and March 1, 2036 are
subjecf fo mandaiory sinking fund redemption, as further described herein. {See "THE CER7l~lCATES -Redemption Provisions
of the Certificates" herein.)

~̀ '~ CUSIP is a registered trademark of the American Bankers Association. CIJSIP data herein is provided by CUSP Global Seniices
mananP~l by Stanrlarrl R. Pnpr'.~ Finanr_.ial SPrvi~g.s ! I C;, nn hah~/f of tha American Rankar.~ A.csnriatinn ~nrl arg .gplgly fnr thg
convenience of the owners and pofenfial owners of the Certificates. No assurance can be given that the CUSIP number for a
particular maturity of the Certificates will remain the same after fhe date of initial delivery of the Certificates. This data is not intended to
create a database and does not serve in any way as a substitute for the CUSIP Service. None of the City. the Financial Advisor, or
the ~u;c,`~aser shah be responsible for tha selection or correctness of the CUS1P numbers sef forfh herein.

(b) Yield calculated based on the assumption that the Certificates denoted and sold at a premium will be redeemed on March 1, 2026,
the firsf optional call date for such Cer#ificates, at a rec/emption price of par plus accrued interest t~ the redemption date.



CITY OF BELLMEAD, TEXAS
3015 Bellmead Drive
Bellmead, Texas 76705
254 799-2436 —Phone
254-799-5969 -Facsimile

ELECTED OFFICIALS

On Council Term Expires
Name Position Since Mav Mav Occupation
Gary Moore Mayor 2012 2016 Appliance Delivery Service
Mathew Jordon Mayor Pro Tem 2014 2016 Retired
Dr. Alfreda Love Council Member 2015 2017 School Administrator
Travis Gibson Council Member 2015 2017 School Administrator
Jose Arrollo Jr. Council Member 2015 2016 Retired
Doss Youngblood Council Member 2013 2017 Retired

ADMINISTRATION
Years Years of
With Municipal

Name Position the City Experience
Everett "Bo" Thomas City Manager 3.75 years 28.5 years
Victor Salas Asst. City Manager/CFO 3.75 years 28.5 years
Codi Delcambre Interim City Clerk 0.75 years 17 years
Charles Buenger City Attorney 2.0 years 40.5 years
Lydia Alvarado Police Chief 4.5 years 22.5 years
Bill Havenka Fire Chief 23.5 years 23.5 years

CONSULTANTS AND ADVISORS

Bond Counsel .......................................................................................................................................Norton Rose Fulbright US LLP
San Antonio, Texas

Certified Public Accountants ...................................................................................................................Patillo, Brown &Hill, L.L.P.
Waco, Texas

Financial Advisor ...................................................................................................................................SAMCO Capital Markets, Inc.
San Antonio, Texas

For Additional Information Please Confact:

Mr. Victor Salas
Assistant City Manager/CFO

City of Bellmead
3015 Bellmead Drive
Bellmead, Texas 76705
(254) 799-2436 (Phone)
vsalas@bellmead.com

Mr. Mark McLiney
Senior Managing Director

SAMCO Capital Markets, Inc.
1020 NE Loop 410, Suite 640
San Antonio, Texas 78209
(210)832-9760 (Phone)

mmcliney@samcocapital. com

Mr. Andrew Friedman
Managing Director

SAMCO Capital Markets, Inc.
1020 NE Loop 410, Suite 640
San Antonio, Texas 78209
(210)832-9760 (Phone)

a friedman @samcoca pital. com



USE OF INFOP,MATION IN THE L~FFICIAL S7A~~IVIEN7

No dealer, broker, salesman, o. oilier person has been auihorizeu io yive airy ii~iorii~aiion, o~ io make airy represei~iaiion oii~er
than those contained in this Official Statement, and, if given or made, such other information or representations must not be relied
I 1IlQfl aS h1aV ~1C1 hP_.P_.Yl aI 11~r1Qr"17P.(~ nV F{l P. ISgiigr, This; t~`rfiC!~I ~iafr.mgnP IC fif)f 7Q {lP. I ICPf~ IYl ~r~nnPriinr~i \Nl~rt al"1 f7il,~Pl" ~() SP.~~ ill" T~"1 P.

solicitation of an offer to buy in any state in which such offer or solicitation is not authorized or in which the person making such
offer or solicitation is not authorized or in which the person making such offer or solicitation is not qualified to do so or to any person
to whom it is unlawful to make such offer or solicitation. Any information or expression of opinion herein contained are subject to
change wifihout notice, and neither the delivery of this O~cial Sfatemer~f nor any sale made hereunder shall, under any
circumstances, create an implication that there has been no change in the a~iairs of the Issuer or other matters described herein
since the date hereof.

the Financial Advisor has provided the following sentence for inclusion in this O~eial Statement. The Financial Advisor has
reviewed the information in this Official Stafement in accordance with its responsibilities io the Issuer and, as applicable, to
inves4ors under the federal securities laws as applied to the facts and circumstances of this transaction, but the Financial Advisor
does not guarantee the accuracy or corriple4eness of such information.

THE CERTIFICATES ARE EXEMPT FROM REGISTRATION WITH THE UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE
COMMISSION AND CONSEQUENTLY HAVE NOT SEEN REGIST~RE(7 TH~REWITN. THE REGISTRATION,
QUALIFICATION, OR ~XEtv1PlIQN QF THE C~RTIFICAT'~S IN ACCC7FiDANCE WITH APPLICABLE SECURITIES t_AW
PROVISIONS OF THE JURIS~IC~I~IONS IN WHICH THE CERTIFICATES HAVE BEEN REGISTERED, QUALIFIED, OR
EXEMPTED SHOULD iVOT SE REGARDED AS A RECOfVIMENDATION THEREOF.

None of the City, the Financial Advisors or the Purchaser makes any representation or warranty with respect fo the information
centain~d in this Official Stateme^; regarding Thy Depository Trust Company ("JTC") cr its Boo'r.-Entry-only System cr with
respect to the bond insurer, if any, or its municipal bond insurance guaranty policy, as described herein under the caption "BOND
iiv5ui~ivCt' and ~Buivu iivSur~HivL~ GEi~iEr~i~L RISKS" as such information is proviciecl by u I L and the potential bond
insurer, respectively.

The agreements of the City and others related to the Certificates are contained solely in the contracts described herein. Neither
this Official Statement nor any other statement made in connection with the offer or sale of the Certificates is to be construed as
constituting an agreement with the Purchaser of the Certificates. INVESTORS SHOULD READ THE ENTIRE OFFICIAL
STATEMENT, INCLUDIiVG ALL APPEN~IC~S A ~I 'ACHE~ HERETO, ~f0 OBTAIN INFORMATIC7N ESSENTIAL 70 MAKING AN
iNFORM`D INVESTMENT DECISION.
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SELECTED DATA FROM THE OFFICIAL STATEMENT

The selected data is subject in all respects to the more complete information and definitions contained or incorporated in this Official
Statement. The offering of the Certificates to potential investors is made only by means of this entire Official Statement. No person is
authorized to detach this page from this Official Statement or to otherwise use it without the entire Official Statement.

The Issuer The City of Bellmead, Texas (the "City" or "Issuer") is located three miles to the northeast
of Waco on U.S. Highway 84. The 2010 census population was 9,901, increasing 7.46%
since 2000. The current population estimate is 10,092. The City operates under a
Mayor/City Council form of government pursuant to the laws of the State of Texas and the
City's Home Rule Charter. (See "APPENDIX B -General Information Regarding the City of
Bellmead and McLennan County, Texas" herein.)

The Certificates The Certificates are being issued pursuant to the Certificate of Obligation Act of 1971
(Sections 271.041 through 271.064, Texas Local Government Code, as amended),
Chapter 1502, as amended, Texas Government Code, an ordinance (the "Ordinance")
adopted by the City Council of the City, on March 8, 2016 and the City's Home Rule
Charter. (See "THE CERTIFICATES - Authority for Issuance" herein.)

Paying AgenURegistrar The initial Paying AgenURegistrar is BOKF, NA, Austin, Texas.

Security The Certificates constitute direct and general obligations of the Issuer payable primarily
from the proceeds of an annual ad valorem tax levied upon all taxable property within the
City, within the limitations prescribed by law, and are further payable from and secured by a
lien on and pledge of the Pledged Revenues (identified and defined in the Ordinance),
being a limited amount of the Net Revenues derived from the operation of the Citys
combined utility system (the "System"), such lien on and pledge of the limited amount of
Net Revenues being subordinate and inferior to the lien on and pledge of such Net
Revenues securing payment of any Prior Lien Obligations, Junior Lien Obligations, or
Subordinate Lien Obligations hereafter issued by the Issuer (all such terms as defined in
the Ordinance). The City previously authorized the issuance of the currently outstanding
Limited Pledge Obligations (as described and defined in the Ordinance) which are payable,
in part, from and secured by a lien on and pledge of a limited amount of the Net Revenues
in the manner provided in the ordinance authorizing the issuance of the currently
outstanding Limited Pledge Obligations. In the Ordinance, the City reserves and retains the
right to issue Prior Lien Obligations, Junior Lien Obligations, Subordinate Lien Obligations,
and Additional Limited Pledge Obligations (all as identified and defined in the Ordinance),
while the Certificates are outstanding, without limitation as to principal amount but subject
to any terms, conditions or restrictions as may be applicable thereto under law or
otherv✓ise. (See 'THE CERTIFICATES -Security for Payment' and "TAX RATE
LIMITATIONS" herein.)

Redemption Provisions of the The Issuer reserves the right, at its sole option, to redeem Certificates stated to mature on
Certificates or after March 1, 2027, in whole or in part, in principal amounts of $5,000 or any integral

multiple thereof, on March 1, 2026, or any date thereafter, at the redemption price of par
plus accrued interest to the date fixed for redemption. In addition, the Certificates
maturing March 1, 2032, March 1, 2034 and March 1, 2036 are subject to mandatory
sinking fund redemption, as further described herein. (See "THE CERTIFICATES -
Redemption Provisions of the Certificates" herein.)

Tax Matters In the opinion of Bond Counsel, the interest on the Certificates will be excludable from
gross income of the owners thereof for purposes of federal income taxation under existing
statutes, regulations, published rulings and court decisions, subject to matters discussed
herein under "TAX MATTERS", including the alternative tax on corporations. (See "TAX
MATI~ERS" and "APPENDIX C -Form of Opinion of Bond Counsel" herein.)

Qualified Tax-Exempt Obligations The Issuer has designated the Certificates as "Qualified Tax-Exempt Obligations" for
financial institutions. (See "TAX MATTERS -Qualified Tax-Exempt Obligations" herein.)

Use of Certificate Proceeds Proceeds from the sale of the Certificates will be used for the purpose of paying contractual
obligations of the City to be incurred for making permanent public improvements and for
other public purposes, to-wit: (1) constructing, acquiring, purchasing, renovating, enlarging,
and improving the City's utility system, and the purchase of materials, supplies, equipment,
machinery, land; and rights-of-way for authorized needs and purposes relating to these
utility system improvements; (2) the purchase of materials, supplies, equipment,
machinery, landscaping, Iand, and rights-of-way for authorized needs and purposes
relating to the aforementioned capital improvements; and (3) the payment of professional
services related to the design, construction, project management, and financing of the
aforementioned projects. (See "THE CERTIFICATES -Use of Certificate Proceeds"
herein.)



F2ating

Payment ~ecorcl

Fu4ure fond I~~ues

Delivery

Legality

Standard & Poor's Ratings Services, a Standard & Poor's Financial Services LLC business
("S&P") has assigned an underlying, un2nhanced rating of "aA-" fo tha Certificates. an
explanation of the significance of such rating may be obtained from S&P. (See "OTHER
PERTINENI~ INFORMATION - Raiing"'rierein.)

I~he Issuer has never defaulted on the payment of its bonded indebtedness

The City may potentially issue $4 million in Certificates of Obligation in late fall 2016 to
assist in funding the construction of a new ball park in the City of Bellmead. The project is
anticipated to be additionally funded by hotel occupancy saxes and/or Belimead Economic
Developmen4 Corporafion sales tax funds.

When issued, anticipated on or about April 13, 2016

Delivery of the Certificates is subject to the approval by the Attorney General of the State
of l'exas and fhe approval of certain legal matters by Norton Rose Fulbright US LLP, San
An~onio, Texas, Bond Cc~unsei.

(The remainder of thrs page intenfionally left blank.)
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OFFICIAL STATEMENT

relating to

$2,400,000
CITY OF BELLMEAD, TEXAS

(A political subdivision of the State of Texas located in McLennan, Texas)

COMBINATION TAX AND LIMITED PLEDGE REVENUE CERTIFICATES OF OBLIGATION, SERIES 2016

INTRODUCTORY STATEMENT

This Official Statement provides certain information in connection with the issuance by the City of Bellmead, Texas (the "City" or the
"Issuer") of its $2,400,000 Combination Tax and Limited Pledge Revenue Certificates of Obligation, Series 2016 (the "Certificates")
identified on the cover page.

The Issuer is a political subdivision of the State of Texas (the "State") and a municipal corporation organized and existing under the
Constitution and laws of the State of Texas and its Home Rule Charter. Unless otherwise indicated, capitalized terms used in this Official
Statement have the same meanings assigned to such terms in the Ordinance. Included in this Official Statement are descriptions of the
Certificates and certain information about the Issuer and its finances. ALL DESCRIPTIONS OF DOCUMENTS CONTAINED HEREIN
ARE SUMMARIES ONLY AND ARE QUALIFIED IN THEIR ENTIRETY BY REFERENCE TO EACH SUCH DOCUMENT. Copies of
such documents may be obtained upon request from the Issuer or its Financial Advisor, SAMCO Capital Markets, Inc., 1020 NE Loop
410, Suite 640, San Antonio, Texas 78209, via electronic mail or upon payment of reasonable copying, handling, and delivery charges.

All financial and other information presented in this O~cial Statement has been provided by the City from its records, except for
information expressly attributed to other sources. The presentation of information, including tables of receipts from taxes and other
sources, is intended to show recent historic information, and is not intended to indicate future or continuing trends in financial position or
other affairs of the City. No representation is made that past experience, as is shown by financial and other information, will necessarily
continue or be repeated in the future.

This Official Statement speaks only as to its date, and the information contained herein is subject to change. A copy of the Final Official
Statement pertaining to the Certificates will be deposited with the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board through its Electronic Municipal
Market Access ("EMMA") system. See "CONTINUING DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION" herein for a description of the City's
undertaking to provide certain information on a continuing basis.

THE CERTIFICATES

General Description of the Certificates

The Certificates will be dated March 1, 2016 (the "Dated Date"), will mature on the dates and in the principal amounts and will bear
interest at the rates set forth on page ii of this Official Statement. The Certificates will be registered and issued in denominations of
$5,000 or any integral multiple thereof. The Certificates will bear interest from the Dated Date, or from the most recent date to which
interest has been paid or duly provided for, and will be paid semiannually on March 1 and September 1 of each year, commencing
September 1, 2016, until stated maturity or prior redemption. Principal of and interest on the Certificates are payable in the manner
described herein under "BOOK-ENTRY-ONLY SYSTEM". In the event the Book-Entry-Only System is discontinued, the interest on the
Certificates payable on an interest payment date will be payable to the registered owner as shown on the security register maintained by
BOKF, NA, Austin, Texas as the initial Paying Agent/Registrar, as of the Record Date (defined below), by check, mailed first-class,
postage prepaid, to the address of such person on the security register or by such other method acceptable to the Paying
Agent/Registrar requested by and at the risk and expense of the registered owner. In the event the Book-Entry-Only System is
discontinued, principal of the Certificates will be payable at stated maturity or prior redemption upon presentation and surrender thereof
at the corporate trust office of the Paying Agent/Registrar.

If the date for the payment of the principal of or interest on the Certificates is a Saturday, Sunday, a legal holiday or a day when banking
institutions in the city where the Paying Agent/Registrar is located are authorized by law or executive order to close, then the date for
such payment will be the next succeeding day which is not a Saturday, Sunday, legal holiday or a day on which banking institutions are
authorized to close; and payment on such date will have the same force and effect as if made on the original date payment was due.

Authority for Issuance

The Certificates are being issued pursuant to the Certificate of Obligation Act of 1971 (Sections 271.041 through 271.064 Texas
Local Government Code, as amended), Chapter 1502, as amended, Texas Government Code, an ordinance (the "Ordinance")
adopted by the City Council of the City (the "City Council") on March 8, 2016, and the City's Home Rule Charter.
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Limited Pledge of Ad Valorem taxes. ~i~he Certificates are general obligations of the City, payable from its collection of an ad
valorem tax levied annually, within the legal limitations impos(~e~d by law, upon all taxable property located in the City. (See "A~
V//n'ILV~LI~V1 lY/̂'~v i'I~V VLL~JV ~LJ GIIU "VI /̂'~V ij /̂l i_L LIIV~I~i /̂'~Iv I ViVV IIGI GII i,~

Limited f evenue Fledge C3enefiting the Certificates. Solely to comply with Texas law allowing the Certificates to be sold for cash,
the Certificates are further secured by a lien on and pledge of the Pledged F2evenues (being a limited amount of the Net Revenues
derived from the operation of the Issuer's combined utility system (the "System") not to exceed $1,000 during the entire period the
Certificates or interest thereon remain outstanding, such lien on and pledge of the limited amount of Net Revenues being
subordinate and inferior to the lien on and pledge of such Net Revenues securing payment of any Prior Lien Obligations, Junior Lien
Obligations, or Subordinate Lien Obligations hereafter issued by the Issuer (all such terms as defined in the Ordinance). The City
previously authorized the issuance of the currently outstanding Limited Pledge Qbligations (as described and defined in the
Ordinance) which are payable, in part, from and secured by a lien on and pledge of a limited amount of the Net Revenues in the
manner provided in the ordinance authorizing the issuance of the currently outstanding Limited Pledge Obligations. In the
Ordinance, the City reserves and retains the right to issue Prior Lien Obligations, Junior Lien Obligations, Subordinate Lien
Obligations, and f~dditiona! Limited Pledge Obligations (al! as identified and defined in the Ordinance), while the Certificates are
outstanding, without limitation as to principal amount but subject to any terms, conditions or restrictions as may be applicable
thereto under law or otherwise.

Redemption ~'rovisions of the Certificates

Optional Redemption: The Issuer reserves the right, at its sole option, to redeem Certificates stated to mature, on or after March 1,
2027, in whole or in part, in principal amounts of $5,000 or any iniegral multiple thereof on March 1, 2026, or any date thereafter, at
the par value thereof plus accruea ir~teres~ 4o the date fixed fior redemp4ion. i~ less fnar~ all 05` t'r~e ~ertiiicates wii'r~in a s4a4eci rr~aiuriiy
are to be redeemed, the particular Certificates to be redeemed shall be selected by lot or by other customary random method by the
Paying Agent/Registrar.

Mandatory Sinking fund Redemption: The Certificates maturing March 1, 2032, March 1, 2034 and March 1, 2036 {the "Term
Certificates") are subject to mandatory sinking fund redemption in part prior to their stated maturity, and will be redeemed by the
Issuer at the redemption prices equal to the principal amounts thereof plus interest accrued thereon to the redemption dates, on the
dates and in the principal amounts shown in the following schedule:

i erm iertifiicaie
IVlarch 1, 2032

~edempfion Date Principal Amount
iviarch ~i, 203'i $ 135, 00
iViarch 1, 2032" 140,000

i erm i~eriiiicaie
fVlarch 1, 2034

Redemption Date Principa9.4moun4
Ytarch i, 233 $ 140,OOd
March 1, 2034* 145,000

Term Certificate
March 3~, 2036

Redesrap#fors Rafe ~59F3C9~ic~I A9Yl~i358~

March 1, 2035 $150,OOC
March 1, 2036 150,000

Final Maturity

The Paying Agent/Registrar shall select by lot the numbers of the Term Certificates to be redeemed on the next following
March 1 from moneys set aside for tha# purpose in the Certificate Fund (as defined in the Ordinance). Any Term Certificake not
selected far priar redemption shat! be paid on the date of their Stated Maturity.

ThG ~i iiiCi~ru'i ui iivu±i+ of f'.~ Tci i i vci iifiCuic i 2i~uii cu iv chic i cucciTi4'.`. j,Ui ~uuiii iv iii2 CY2i uiivi i of ~uC! i i iiui i~uivi y' i c~.uUill('iiivi i

provisions shall be reduced, at the option of the City, by the principal amount of any Term Certificates of such Stated iviaturity which,
at least fifty (50) days prior to the mandatory redemption date (i) shall have been defeased or acquired by the City and delivered to
ll~e Paying Ayer~UReyislrar for cancellation, {is) steal! Piave been pGrci~iaseG anG canceled by ll~e Payiriy AyenUReyistrar at t1~~
request of the Gity with money in the Certificate Fund, or (iii) shall have been redeemed pursu~nf to fhe option~f redemption
provisions set forth above and not theretofore credited against a mandatory redemption requirement.

Nofice.~ At least 30 days prior to the date fixed for any redemption of any Certificates or {portions thereof prior to stated maturity, ?he
Issuer shall cause notice of such redemption to be sent by United States mail, first-class postage prepaid, to the registered o~nmer of
each Certificate or a portion thereof to be redeemed at its address as it appeared on the registration books of the Paying
Agent/Registrar on the day such notice ofi redemption is mailed. By the dafe fixed for any such redemption, due provision shall be
made with the Paying Agent/Registrar for the payment of the required redemption price for the Certificates or portions thereof which
are to be so redeemed. If such notice of redemption is given and if due provision for such payment is made, all as provided above,
the Certificates or portions thereof which are to be so redeemed thereby automatically shall be treated as redeemed prior to their
scheduled maturities, and they shall not bear interest after the date fixed for redemption; and they shall not be regarded as being



outstanding except for the right of the registered owner to receive the redemption price from the Paying Agent/Registrar out of the
funds provided for such payment.

ANY NOTICE OF REDEMPTION SO MAILED SHALL BE CONCLUSIVELY PRESUMED TO HAVE BEEN DULY GIVEN
IRRESPECTIVE OF WHETHER RECEIVED BY THE CERTIFICATEHOLDER, AND, PROVIDED THAT PROVISION FOR
PAYMENT OF THE REDEMPTION PRICE IS MADE AND ANY OTHER CONDITIONS TO REDEMPTION ARE SATISFIED,
INTEREST ON THE REDEEMED CERTIFICATES SHALL CEASE TO ACCRUE FROM AND AFTER SUCH REDEMPTION DATE
NOTWITHSTANDING THAT A CERTIFICATE HAS NOT BEEN PRESENTED FOR PAYMENT.

Certificates of a denomination larger than $5,000 may be redeemed in part ($5,000 or any integral multiple thereof). Any Certificate
to be partially redeemed must be surrendered in exchange for one or more new Certificates of the same stated maturity and interest
rate for the unredeemed portion of the principal.

The Paying Agent/Registrar and the Issuer, so long as aBook-Entry-Only System is used for the Certificates, will send any notice of
redemption, notice of proposed amendment to the Ordinance or other notices with respect to the Certificates only to DTC. Any
failure by DTC to advise any DTC participant, or of any DTC participant or indirect participant to notify the Beneficial Owner, will not
affect the validity of the redemption of the Certificates called for redemption or any other action premised on any such notice.
Redemption of portions of the Certificates by the Issuer will reduce the outstanding principal amount of such Certificates held by
DTC. In such event, DTC may implement, through its Book-Entry-Only System, a redemption of such Certificates held for the
account of DTC participants in accordance with its rules or other agreements with DTC participants and then DTC participants and
indirect participants may implement a redemption of such Certificates from the Beneficial Owners. Any such selection of Certificates
to be redeemed will not be governed by the Ordinance and will not be conducted by the Issuer or the Paying Agent/Registrar.
Neither the Issuer nor the Paying AgenURegistrar will have any responsibility to DTC participants, indirect participants or the
persons for whom DTC participants act as nominees, with respect to the payments on the Certificates or the providing of notice to
DTC participants, indirect participants, or Beneficial Owners of the selection of portions of the Certificates for redemption. (See
"BOOK-ENTRY-ONLY SYSTEM" herein.)

Use of Certificate Proceeds

Proceeds from the sale of the Certificates will be used for the purpose of paying contractual obligations of the City to be incurred for
making permanent public improvements and for other public purposes, to-wit: (1) constructing, acquiring, purchasing, renovating,
enlarging, and improving the City's utility system, and the purchase of materials, supplies, equipment, machinery, land, and
rights-of-way for authorized needs and purposes relating to these utility system improvements; (2) the purchase of materials,
supplies, equipment, machinery, landscaping, land, and rights-of-way for authorized needs and purposes relating to the
aforementioned capital improvements; and (3) the payment of professional services related to the design, construction, project
management, and financing of the aforementioned projects.

Sources and Uses

Sources

Par Amount of the Certificates $2,400,000.00
Accrued Interest on the Certificates 7,449.17
Premium 91,656.80
Total Sources of Funds $2,499,105.97

Uses

Project Fund Deposit $ 2,400,000.00
Purchaser's Discount 26,927.00
Accrued Interest Deposit to Certificate Fund 7,449.17
Bidder's Premium Deposit to Certificate 4,595.60
Fund

Costs of Issuance 60,134.20
Total Uses $2,499,105.97

Payment Record

The Issuer has never defaulted on the payment of its bonded indebtedness.

Amendments

The Issuer may amend the Ordinance without the consent of or notice to any registered owners in any manner not detrimental to
the interests of the registered owners, including the curing of any ambiguity, inconsistency, or formal defect or omission therein. In
addition, the Issuer may, with the written consent of the holders of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the Certificates then
outstanding affected thereby, amend, add to, or rescind any of the provisions of the Ordinance; except that, without the consent of
the registered owners of all of the Certificates affected, no such amendment, addition, or rescission may (1) change the date
specified as the date on which the principal of or any installment of interest on any Certificate is due and payable, reduce the

3



principal amount thereof, or the rate of interest thereon, change the redPm}~tior~ price or amounts, change the place or daces at or
the coin or currency in which any Certificate or interest thereon is payable, or in any other way modify the terms of payment of the
principal of or interest on the Certificates, (2) give any prefe~~ence t~ any C~rtificafe ~vei~ army oti~er Certificate, (3) extent! any waiver
of default fo subsequent defaults, or {4) reduce the aggregate principal amount of Certificates required for consent to any
cniiciiuiii ciii, Ciiaiiyc, iiivuiiiCaiivii, vi vJa i'vvi.

Defeasance

The Ordinance provides for the defeasance of the Certificates when payment of the principal amount of the Certificates plus interest
accrued on the Certificates to their due date {whether such due date be by reason of stated maturity, redemption, or otherwise), is
provided by irrevocably depositing with a paying agent, or other authorized escrow agent, in trust (1) money in an amount sufficient
to make such payment, and/or (2) Government Securities (defined below), certified, in the case of a net defeasance, by an
independent accounting fiirm of national reputation, to mature as to principal and interest in such amounts and at such times to
insure the availability, without reinvestment, of sufficient money to make such payment, and all necessary and proper fees,
compensation and expenses of the paying agent for the Certificates; provided, however, that no such certification by an
independent accounting firm of the sufficiency of deposits shall be required in connection with a gross defeasance of Certificates.
The City has additionally reserved the right, subject to satisfying the requirements of (1) and (2) above, to substitute ather
Government Securities originally deposited, to reinvest the uninvested moneys on deposit for such defeasance and to withdraw for
the benefit of the City, moneys in excess of the amount required for such defeasance. The Ordinance provides that "Government
Securities" means any securities and abligations now or hereafter authorized by State law that are eligible to discharge obligations
such as the Certificates. Current State law permits defeasance with the following types of securities: (a) direct, noncailable
obligations of the United States of America, including obligations that are unconditionally guaranteed by the United States of
America, (b) noncallabie obligations of an agency or instrumentality of the United States of America, including obligations that are
unconditionally guaran4eed or insueed by 4he agency or' insfrumenfality and ~hafi, on the da4e ofi the purchase thereof, are rated as to
invesirnenf quality by a nationally recognized investment raring firm no4 less than AHA nr ifs equivafenfi, (c) noncailabie obligations
of a state or an agency or a county, municipality, or other political subdivision of a state 4hafi on the date the governing body of the
City adopts or approves the proceedings authorizing the financial arrangements have been refunded and are rated as to investment
quality by a nationally recognized investment rating firm not less than AAA or its equivalent, and (d) any additional securities and
obligations hereafter authorized by State law as eligible for use to accomplish the discharge of obligations such as the Certificates.
There is no assurance that the ratings for U.S. Treasury securities acquired to defease any Certificates, or those for any other
Government Securities, will be maintained a4 any particular rating category. Further, theta is no assurance that current State !aw
will not be amended in a manner that expands or contracts the list of permissible defeasance securities (such list consisting of these
securities identified in clauses (a) through (c) above), or any rating requirement thereon, that may be purchased with defeasance
proceeds relating to the Certificates ("Defeasance Proceeds"), though the City has reserved the right to utilize any additional
securities for such purpose in the event the aforementioned list is expanded. Because the Ordinance does not contractually limit
such permissible defeasance securities and expressly recognizes the ability of the City to use lawfully available Defeasance
r roceeds to deiease ail or any portion of the Certificates, registered owners of ~.ertificates are deemed to have consented to the
use ofi Defeasance Proceeds io purchase such other defeasance securities, notwithstanding the fact that such defeasance
securities may not be of the same investment quality as those currently identified under State law as permissible defeasance
securities.

Upon such deposit as described above, such Certificates shall no longer be regarded to be outstanding or unpaid. After firm
banking and financial arrangements for the discharge and fiinai payment of the Certificates have been marls as described abave, all
rights of the City to initiate proceedings tp calf the Certificates for redemption or take any o4her action amending the terms of the
Certificates are extinguished; provided, however, the Cify has the option, to be exercised at the time of the defeasance of the
Certificates, to call for redemption at an earlier date those Certificates which have been defeased to their maturity date, if the City (i)
in the proceedings providing for the firm banking and financial arrangements, expressly reserves the right to call the Certificates for
redemption, (ii) gives notice of the reservation of that right to the owners of the Certificates immediately following the making of the
firm banking and financial arrangements, and (iii} directs 4hat notice of the reservation be included in any redemption notices that it
authorizes.

Default and {2emedies

The Ordinance establishes specific everils of default with respect to the Certificates. if the City defaults in the payment of principal,
interest, or redemption price on the Certificates when due, or if it tails to make payments into any fund or funds created in the
Ordinance, or defaults in the observation or perFormance of any other covenants, conditions, or obligations set forth in the Ordinance,
,he registered owners may seek a v~rit o. mandamus to campel City officials to carry out their legally imposed duties witl~~ aspect to the
Certificates, if there is no other available remedy at law to compel performance of the Certificates or the ordinance and the City's
obligations are not uncertain or disputed. The issuance of a writ of mandamus is controlled by equitable principles, so rests with the
discretion of the court, but may not be arbitrarily refused. There is no acceleration of maturity of the Certificates in the event of defaul#
and, consequently, the remedy of mandamus may have to be relied upon from year to year. The Ordinance does not provide for the
appointment of a trustee to represent the interest of the bondholders upon any failure of the City to perform in accordance with the
terms of the Ordinance, or upon any other condition and accordingly all legal actions to enforce such remedies would have to be
undertaken at the initiative of, and be financed by, the registered owners. The Texas Supreme Court ruled in Tooke v. City of Mexia,
197 S.W.3d 325 (Tex. 2006) that a waiver of sovereign immunity in a contractual dispute must be provided for by statute in "clear and
unambiguous" language. Because it is unclear whether the Texas legislature has effectively waived the City's sovereign immunity from
a suit for money damages, bondholders may noY be able to bring such a suit against the City for breach of the Certificates or the
Ordinance. Even if a judgment against the City could be obtained, it could not be enforced by direct levy and execution against the
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City's property. Further, the registered owners cannot themselves foreclose on property within the City or sell property within the City to
enforce the tax lien on taxable property to pay the principal of and interest on the Certificates. Furthermore, the City is eligible to seek
relief from its creditors under Chapter 9 of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code ("Chapter 9"). Although Chapter 9 provides for the recognition of
a security interest represented by a specifically pledged source of revenues, the pledge of ad valorem taxes in support of a general
obligation of a bankrupt entity is not specifically recognized as a security interest under Chapter 9. Chapter 9 also includes an
automatic stay provision that would prohibit, without Bankruptcy Court approval, the prosecution of any other legal action by creditors or
bondholders of an entity which has sought protection under Chapter 9. Therefore, should the City avail itself of Chapter 9 protection
from creditors, the ability to enforce would be subject to the approval of the Bankruptcy Court (which could require that the action be
heard in Bankruptcy Court instead of other federal or state court); and the Bankruptcy Code provides for broad discretionary powers of
a Bankruptcy Court in administering any proceeding brought before it. The opinion of Bond Counsel will note that all opinions relative
to the enforceability of the Ordinance and the Certificates are qualified with respect to the customary rights of debtors relative to their
creditors and general principals of equity that permit the exercise of judicial discretion.

REGISTRATION, TRANSFER AND EXCHANGE

Paying AgenURegistrar

The initial Paying AgenURegistrar is BOKF, NA, Austin, Texas. In the Ordinance, the Issuer retains the right to replace the Paying
AgenURegistrar. If the Paying Agent/Registrar is replaced by the Issuer, the new Paying AgenURegistrar shall accept the previous
Paying AgenURegistrar's records and act in the same capacity as the previous Paying Agent/Registrar. Any successor Paying
Agent/Registrar, selected at the sole discretion of the Issuer, shall be a national or state banking association or corporation
organized and doing business under the laws of the United States of America or of any state, authorized under such laws to
exercise trust powers, shall be subject to supervision or examination by federal or state authority, and registered as a transfer agent
with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission. Upon a change in the Paying Agent/Registrar fnrthe Certificates, the
Issuer agrees to promptly cause written notice thereof to be sent to each registered owner of the Certificates affected by the change
by United States mail, first-class, postage prepaid.

The Certificates will be issued in fully registered form in multiples of $5,000 for any one stated maturity, and principal and
semiannual interest will be paid by the Paying Agent/Registrar. Interest will be paid by check or draft mailed on each interest
payment date by the Paying AgenURegistrar to the registered owner at the last known address as it appears on the Paying
AgenURegistrar's books or by such other method, acceptable to the Paying AgenURegistrar, requested by and at the risk and
expense of the registered owner. Principal will be paid to the registered owner at stated maturity or prior redemption upon
presentation to the Paying Agent/Registrar; provided, however, that so long as DTC's Book-Entry-Only System is utilized, all
payments will be made as described under "BOOK-ENTRY-ONLY SYSTEM" herein. If the date for the payment of the principal of
or interest on the Certificates shall be a Saturday, Sunday, a legal holiday or a day when banking institutions in the city where the
Paying AgenU Registrar is located are authorized to close, then the date for such payment shall be the next succeeding day which
is not such a day, and payment on such date shall have the same force and effect as if made on the date payment was due.

Record Date

The record date ("Record Date") for determining the registered owner entitled to receive the interest payable on a Certificate on any
interest payment date means the fifteenth (15`) day of the month next preceding each interest payment date. In the event of a
non-payment of interest on a scheduled payment date, and for 30 days thereafter, a new record date for such interest payment will
be established by the Paying AgenURegistrar. (See "REGISTRATION, TRANSFER, AND EXCHANGE -Special Record Date for
I nterest Payment" herein.)

Special Record Date for Interest Payment

In the event of anon-payment of interest on a scheduled payment date, and for 30 days thereafter, a new record date for such
interest payment (a "Special Record Date") will be established by the Paying Agent/Registrar, if and when funds for the payment of
such interest have been received from the Issuer. Notice of the Special Record Date and of the scheduled payment date of the past
due interest (the "Special Payment Date" which shall be 15 days after the Special Record Date) shall be sent at least five business
days prior to the Special Record Date by United States mail, first class postage prepaid, to the address of each registered owner of
a Certificate appearing on the registration books of the Paying Agent/Registrar at the close of business on the last day next
preceding the date of mailing of such notice.

Future Registration

I n the event the Certificates are not in the Book-Entry-Only System, the Certificates may be transferred, registered, and assigned on
the registration books of the Paying Agent/Registrar only upon presentation and surrender thereof to the Paying Agent/Registrar,
and such registration and transfer shall be without expense or service charge to the registered owner, except for any tax or other
governmental charges required to be paid with respect to such registration and transfer. A Certificate may be assigned by the
execution of an assignment form on the Certificate or by other instrument of transfer and assignment acceptable to the Paying
AgenURegistrar. Anew Certificate or Certificates will be delivered by the Paying AgenURegistrar in lieu of the Certificates being
transferred or exchanged at the corporate trust office of the Paying Agent/Registrar, or sent by United States registered mail to the
new registered owner at the registered owner's request, risk and expense. New Certificates issued in an exchange or transfer of
Certificates will be delivered to the registered owner or assignee of the registered owner in not more than three (3) business days



after the receipt of the Certificates fo be canceled in the exchange or transfer and the written instrument of transfer or request for
exchange duly executed by the registered owner or his duly authorised agent, in form sa4isfactory to the Paying AgenilRegis4rar.
New C~rtificat~s registered and delivered in an exchange or transfer shall be in denominations of X5,000 for any oi~e stated maturity
or any integral mulfiple thereafi and for a like aggregate nrinripal amount and rate of interest as the ~'ertifica¢e or Certificates
SuiiBiideieu iu~ exciiai~ye yr ir~nsier. (see "tSVVI~-EIV I FCY-VIVLY SYJ 1 tlVl~~ i121"21t1 TOI" a QBSCYIpTIOiI Ol` ih2 SyS~2fTl i0 b2 U(IIIZBCI Ill
regard 40 ownership and transferability of the Certificates.)

L.imi~atior~ orr Transfer of Certifica4es

Neither the Issuer nor the Paying ~genURegistrar shall be required (7) to issue, transfer, or exchange any Certificate called for
redemption, in whole or in part during a period beginning ai the opening of business fiffeen (15) days before the day of fhe fiirst
mailing of a notice of redemption of Certificates hereunder and ending at the close of business on the day of such mailing or (2)
thereaifer to transfier or exchange in whole or in part any Certificate so selected for redemption; provided, however, such limitation is
not applicable to the transferor exchange of the unredeemed balance of a Certificate called for redemption in part.

Replacernen2 CergifiicaYes

The Issuer has agreed to replace mutilated, destroyed, lost, or stolen Certificates upon surrender of the mutilated Certificates to the
Paying AgenUF2egistrar, or receipt of satisfactory evidence of such destruction, loss, or theft, and receipt by the Issuer and Paying
AgenURegistrar of security or indemnity as may be reyuireci by either of ihem to hold fhem harmless. The Issuer may require
payment of taxes, governmental charges, and other expenses in connection with any such replacement.

:riza~a~~rf~T~rl~r~~~~-~~r~~~

This section describes how ownership of the Certificates is to be transferred and how the principal of, premium, if any, and interest
Oh fhP, CP.t"fIfIC~~P,.S ~fP_, f4 ~P_. n~ll~ tp ~~(1 r_.redited by Thg ~I et~ngitpry Tract (;prr~pan~i /"IITr"1 nla~fi Ynrk, ~la~fi VOCE. ~AIhIIE tf?2

Certificates are registered in its nominee name. The information in this section concerning DTC and the Book-Entry-only System
has been provided by Dl"C for use in disclosure docum~;nts such as this Official Statement. The City, the Financial Advisor, and the
Purchaser believe the source of such information to he reliable, but take no responsibility for the accuracy or compleieness iher~eof.

Thy City cannot and does not give any assurancz that (1) DTC will distribute payments of debt service on the Ceriiiicates, or
redemption or other notices, to DTC Participants, (2) DTC Participants or others will distribute debt service payments paid to DTC or
its nominee (as the registered owner of the Certificates), or redemption or other notices, to the Beneficial Owners, or that they will
do so on a timely basis, or (3) DTC will serve and act in the manner described in this Official Statement. The current rules
applicable to DTC are on file with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission, and the current procedures of DTC to be
followed in dealing with DTC Parficipanfs are on file with DTC.

DTC will act as securities depository for the Certificates. i he Certificates will be issued as fully registered securities registered in the
name ofi Cede & Co, {L~TC's ~artnershi~ nominee) or such other name as may be requested by an authorized representative of
DTC. One fully registered bond certificate will be issued for the Certificates, in the aggregate principal amount of such issue, and will
be deposited with DTC.

DTC, the world's largest depository, is a limited-purpase trust company organized under the New York Banking Law, a "banking
organization" within the meaning of the fVew York Banking Law, U member of the Federal P.eserve System, a "clearing corparatian"
~nrifhin the meaning of the New York Unifiorm Commercial Code, antl a "clearing agency" registered pursuant to the provisions of
Section 17A of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. DTC holds and provides asset servicing for over 3.5 million issues of U.S. and
non-U.S. equity, corporate and municipal debt issues, and money market instruments from over 100 countries that DTC's
participants ("Direct Participants") deposit with DTC. DTC also facilitates the post-trade settlement among Direct Participants of
sales and other securities transackions in deposited securities, through electronic computerized book-entry transfers and pledges
between Direct Participants' accounts. This eliminates the need for physical movement of securities certificates. Direct Participants
include both U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, clearing corparations, and certain other
organizations. t~TC is a ~,vholly-owned subsidiary of The Depository Trust &Clearing Corporation (°DTCC°). DTCC is the holding
rnm~anv for (1TC~ National Srvci iritieg rira~riny (~~,nrrnnratinn ynFi Fivnr~ Inrnmo f loar~nn vnr~nr~ s„nn III ^f ' yh~~t~ ~yioici2u
clearing agencies. DTCC is owned by the users of its regulated subsidiaries. Access to the D7C; system is also available to others
such as both U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, and clearing corporations that clear through
or maintain a custodial relationship with a Direct Participant, ei#her directly or indirectly ("li~~~recfi ?a~~ticipants"?. DTC !7as a Skanciard
~ Puo~'s rating of AA-s~. Tire DTC r~uies applicable to its Participants are on fiile with file United States Securities and Exchange
Commission. More information about DTC can be found at www.dtcc.com.

Purchases of Certificates under the DTC system must be made by or through Direct Participants, which will receive a credit for the
Certificates on DTCs records. Tlir uwnersliiE~ irilerest of each act~~al purchaser of each Certificate ("Beneficial Owner") is in turn to
be recorded on the Direct and Indirect Participants' records. Beneficial Owners will not receive written confirmation from DTC of
their purchase. Beneficial Owners are, however, expected to receive written confirmations providing details of the transac#ion, as
well as periodic statements of their holdings, from the Direct or Indirect Participant through which the Beneficial Owner entered into
the transaction. "Cransfers of ownership interests in the Certificates are to be accomplished by entries made on the books of Direct
and Indirect Participants acting on behalf of Beneficial Owners. Beneficial Owners will not receive physical certificates representing
their ownership interests in Certificates, except in the event that use of the book-entry system for the Certificates is discontinued.



To facilitate subsequent transfers, all Certificates deposited by Direct Participants with DTC are registered in the name of DTC's
partnership nominee, Cede & Co., or such other name as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC. The deposit of
Certificates with DTC and their registration in the name of Cede & Co. or such other DTC nominee do not effect any change in
Beneficial Ownership. DTC has no knowledge of the actual Beneficial Owners of the Certificates; DTC's records reflect only the
identity of the Direct Participants to whose accounts such Certificates are credited, which mayor may not be the Beneficial Owners.
The Direct and Indirect Participants will remain responsible for keeping account of their holdings on behalf of their customers.

Conveyance of notices and other communications by DTC to Direct Participants, by Direct Participants to Indirect Participants, and
by Direct Participants and Indirect Participants to Beneficial Owners will be governed by arrangements among them, subject to any
statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time. Beneficial Owners of Certificates may wish to take certain
steps to augment the transmission to them of notices of significant events with respect to the Certificates, such as redemptions,
tenders, defaults, and proposed amendments to the Certificate documents. For example, Beneficial Owners of Certificates may
wish to ascertain that the nominee holding the Certificates for their benefit has agreed to obtain and transmit notices to Beneficial
Owners. In the alternative, Beneficial Owners may wish to provide their names and addresses to the registrar and request that
copies of notices be provided directly to them.

Redemption notices shall be sent to DTC. If less than all of the Certificates within a maturity are being redeemed, DTC's practice is
to determine by lot the amount of the interest of each Direct Participant in such maturity to be redeemed.

Neither DTC nor Cede & Co. (nor any other DTC nominee) will consent or vote with respect to Certificates unless authorized by a
Direct Participant in accordance with DTC's Procedures. Under its usual procedures, DTC mails an Omnibus Proxy to the City as
soon as possible after the record date. The Omnibus Proxy assigns Cede &Co.'s consenting or voting rights to those Direct
Participants to whose accounts Certificates are credited on the record date (identified in a listing attached to the Omnibus Proxy).

Redemption proceeds, principal, and interest payments on the Certificates will be made to Cede & Co., or such other nominee as
may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC. DTC's practice is to credit Direct Participants' accounts upon DTC's
receipt of funds and corresponding detail information from the City or the Paying AgenURegistrar, on payable date in accordance
with their respective holdings shown on DTC's records. Payments by Participants to Beneficial Owners will be governed by standing
instructions and customary practices, as is the case with securities held for the accounts of customers in bearer form or registered
in "street name," and will be the responsibility of such Participant and not of DTC nor its nominee, the Paying Agent/Registrar, or the
City, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time. Payment of redemption proceeds,
principal, and interest payments to Cede & Co. (or such other nominee as may be requested by an authorized representative of
DTC) is the responsibility of the City or the Paying Agent/Registrar, disbursement of such payments to Direct Participants will be the
responsibility of DTC, and disbursement of such payments to the Beneficial Owners will be the responsibility of Direct and Indirect
Participants.

DTC may discontinue providing its services as depository with respect to the Certificates at any time by giving reasonable notice to
Issuer or Paying Agent/Registrar. Under such circumstances, in the event that a successor depository is not obtained, physical
certificates are required to be printed and delivered. The Issuer may decide to discontinue use of the system of book-entry transfers
through DTC (or a successor securities depository). In that event, physical certificates will be printed and delivered to the holder of
such Certificates and will be subject to transfer, exchange and registration provisions as set forth in the Ordinance and summarized
under "REGISTRATION, TRANSFER AND EXCHANGE" hereinabove.

The information in this section concerning DTC and DTC's book-entry system has been obtained from sources that the City, the
Financial Advisor, and the Purchaser believe to be reliable, but none of the City, the Financial Advisor, or the Purchaser takes
responsibility for the accuracy thereof.

So long as Cede & Co. is the registered owner of the Certificates, the Issuer will have no obligation or responsibility to the DTC.
Participants or Indirect Participants, or the persons for which they act as nominees, with respect to payment to or providing of notice
to such Participants, or the persons for which they act as nominees.

Use of Certain Terms in Other Sections of this Official Statement

In reading this Official Statement it should be understood that while the Certificates are in the Book-Entry-Only System, references
in other sections of this Official Statement to registered owners should be read to include the person for which the Participant
acquires an interest in the Certificates, but (i) all rights of ownership must be exercised through DTC and the Book-Entry-Only
System, and (ii) except as described above, payment or notices that are to be given to registered owners under the Ordinance will
be given only to DTC.

Effect of Termination of Book-Entry-Only System

In the event that the Book-Entry-Only System is discontinued by DTC or the use of the Book-Entry-Only System is discontinued by
the City, printed certificates representing the Certificates will be issued to the holders and the Certificates will be subject to transfer,
exchange and registration provisions as set forth in the Ordinance and summarized under "REGISTRATION, TRANSFER AND
EXCHANGE —Future Registration."
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aquifer. The capacity of these wells range from 430 to 700 gallons per minutes ("GPM"). The total pumping capacity, as ofi January
1, 2016, is 3.H3 million gallons daily ("MGD"). The City of Bellrnead currenfly possesses 1,477 acre feet of around water rights
annually through the Southern Trinity Groundwafer Conservation District. The City of Beilmead, through an inter-local agreement
with the City of Waco, has a reserve water connection with the City of Waco's water system as a contingency to purchase water in
the event of emergency or mechanical failures with the City of Belimead's water system.

The City of Bellmead's water system has four (4) elevated water storage towers. Together, the four water towers total 950,000
gallons of elevated storage. There are seven (7) ground storage tanks with a fo2al capacity afi 3,904,000 gallons of ground storage.

The water is distributed and metered throughout the system through approximately 315,000 feet of pipe. The sizes of pipes used
throughout the system range from 3/" to 12" in diameter. Meter sizes range from 3/" fo 6". As of January 1?, 2016 the City of
Sellm2ad had 3,494 sen;ic2 cannections.

Water rates for residential are presently $17.UO for the first 2,000 gallons and $3.50 per thousand gallons thereafter. Water rates for
commercial customers are presently $17.00 far the firsf 2,000 gallons and $3.68 per thousand gallons thereafter. Customers outside
the City limits are charged $17.00 for the first 2,000 gallons and $5.20 per 1,000 gallons above 2,000 gallons.

Wasteuvater System

i he City or` Beiimead is one ofi eight local member cities of the Waco ivletropoiitan Area t~egional Sewer System ("W fVI,e,RSS"). All
member cities participate on a cos4 sharing basis to fund the opera#ions and maintenance; as vvel! ~s ranital im~rovemant Heads, of
the WMARSS. -C'he City of Bellmead currently has a 5.707% interest in the system. The Ci#y of Waco is a member of WMARSS
and is responsible for the operations and maintenance of the sysfiem. The system is subject to joint administration of the system
through the WMARSS Board. The Board consists of th. City Managers from each of the eight participating cities,

The City of Belimead is currently served by approximately 230,000 feet of sewer pipe. Wastewater pipes, within the City limits,
range in size from 4" to 30" in diameter. The lower elevation areas within the City, are served by 12 lift stations. All wastewater
collected within the City of Beilmead is metered and sent to the WMARSS treatment plant in the City of Waco.

Residential wastewater rates are $9.50 for the first 1,000 gallons and $2.00 for each additional 1,000 gallons up to a maximum of
$21.00. Commercial wastewater rates are the same as residential rates except thaf there is no maximum on the amount charged.

INifE sTiViE~ii P0~9CiE~

The Issuer invests its investable funds in investments authorized by Texas law in accordance with investment policies approved by
the City Council of the Issuer. The City Manager and Director of Finance /Chief Financial Officer are designated as invcstm~nt
officers far the City. Both State law and the Issuer's investment policies are subject to change.

~ega! I~v~~t~e~t

Under Texas law, the Issuer is authorized to invest in (1) obligations, including letters of credit, of the United States or its agencies
and instrumentalities, (2) direct obligations of the State of Texas or its agencies and instrumentalities, (3) collateralized mortgage
obligations directly issued by a federal agency or instrumentality of the United States, the underlying security for which is
guaranteed by an agency ar instrumentality of the United States, (4) other obligations, the principal and interest of which are
unconditionally guaranteed or insured by, or backed by the full faikh anti credit of the Skate of Texas or the United Stites or their
respective agencies and instrumentalities, including obligations that are fully guaranteed or insured by the Federal C~eposit
Insurance Corporation or by the explicit hall fai#h and credit of the United States, (5) obligations of states, agencies, counties, cities,
a ll C~ QtrIP_.Y C1nII~IC:aI Sl1r1CIIVISInY1S of a(1V SfaPP. YatPCI ?C tQ Ill\/P.Stfl'7 P.Ilt niia~ity by a natinna~Iv ra~nnni7aGl invract~n Qnt rafinn firm not Ince

tfiar~ "A" or its equivalent, (6) (a) certificates of deposit and share certificates issued by a depository institution that has iYs main
office or branch office in the State of Texas, that are guaranteed or insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation or the
National Credit Union Share Insurance Fund or their respective successors, or are secured as to principal by c~blig~tions described
in clauses (1) through ~~} ar~d clause { .3j or i7 any rt~er manner ar~d arr~oui~t provided by law for Sysiem deposits, and in addiiion
(b) the System is authorized, subject to certain conditions, to invest in certificates of deposit with a depository institution that has its
main office or branch office in the State of Texas and that participates in the Certificate of Deposit Account Registry Service0
net~nrork ("CDARSO") and as further provided by Texas law, (7) fully collateralizer_1 repurchase agreements that have a defined
termination date, are fully secured by a combination of cash anal obligations ~escriliecl in clause (1) and require the security being
purchased by the Issuer or cash held by the Issuer to be pledged to the Issuer, held in the Issuer's nar~ie and deposited at the time
the investment is made with the Issuer or with a third party selected and approved by the Issuer, and are placed through a primary
government securities dealer or a financial institution doing business in the State of Texas, (8) bankers' acceptances with the
remaining term of 270 days or less from the date of issuance, if the short-term obligations of the accepting bank or its parent are
rated at least "A-1" or "P-1" or the equivalent by at least one nationally recognized credit racing agency, (9) commercial paper with
the remaining term of 270 days or less from the date of issuance that is rated at least "A-1" or "P-1" or the equivalent by at least
(a) two nationally recognized credit rating agencies or (b) one nationally recognized credit ra#ing agency if the nar~er is fully secured
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by an irrevocable letter of credit issued by a U.S. or state bank, (10) no-load money market mutual funds registered with and
regulated by the United States Securities and Exchange Commission that have a dollar weighted average portfolio maturity of 90
days or less and include in their investment objectives the maintenance of a stable net asset value of $1 for each share, (11) no-
load mutual fund registered with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission that: have an average weighted maturity
of less than two years; invest exclusively in obligations described in the preceding clauses and clause (13), and are continuously
rated as to investment quality by at least one nationally recognized investment rating firm of not less than "AAA" or its equivalent,
(12) public funds investment pools that have an advisory board which includes participants in the pool and are continuously rated as
to investment quality by at least one nationally recognized investment rating firm of not less than "AAA" or "AAA-m" or its equivalent,
and (13) bonds issued, assumed or guaranteed by the State of Israel. Texas law also permits the Issuer to invest bond proceeds in
a guaranteed investment contract subject to the limitations set forth in Chapter 2256, as amended, Texas Government Code.

Entities such as the Issuer may enter into securities lending programs if (i) the securities loaned under the program are 100%
collateralized including accrued income, a loan made under the program allows for termination at any time and a loan made under
the program is either secured by (a) obligations that are described in clauses (1) through (5) and clause (13) above, (b) pledged
irrevocable letters of credit issued by a state or national bank that is continuously rated by a nationally recognized investment rating
firm at not less than "A" or its equivalent or (c) cash invested in obligations described in clauses (1) through (5) and clause
(13) above, clause (9) above and clauses (10) and (11) above, or an authorized investment pool; (ii) securities held as collateral
under a loan are pledged to such investing entity or a third party designated by such investing entity; (iii) a loan made under the
program is placed through either a primary government securities dealer or a financial institution doing business in the State of
Texas; and (iv) the agreement to lend securities has a term of one year or less.

The Issuer may invest in such obligations directly or through government investment pools that invest solely in such obligations
provided that the pool are rated no lower than "AAA" or "AAA-m" or an equivalent by at least one nationally recognized rating
service. The Issuer is specifically prohibited from investing in (1) obligations whose payment represents the coupon payments on
the outstanding principal balance of the underlying mortgage-backed security collateral and pays no principal; (2) obligations whose
payment represents the principal stream of cash flow from the underlying mortgage-backed security and bears no interest;
(3) collateralized mortgage obligations that have a stated final maturity of greater than 10 years; and (4) collateralized mortgage
obligations the interest rate of which is determined by an index that adjusts opposite to the changes in a market index.

Investment Policies

Under Texas law, the Issuer is required to invest its funds under written investment policies that primarily emphasize safety of
principal and liquidity; that address investment diversification, yield, maturity, and the quality and capability of investment
management; and that includes a list of authorized investments for Issuer funds, maximum allowable stated maturity of any
individual investment, the maximum average dollar-weighted maturity allowed for pooled fund groups, and the methods to monitor
the market price of investments acquired with public funds and the requirement for settlement of all transactions, except investment
pool funds and mutual funds, on a delivery versus payment basis and procedures to monitor rating changes in investments acquired
with public funds and the liquidation of such investments. All Issuer funds must be invested consistent with a formally adopted
"Investment Strategy Statement' that specifically addresses each funds' investment. Each Investment Strategy Statement will
describe its objectives concerning (1) suitability of investment type, (2) preservation and safety of principal, (3) liquidity,
(4) marketability of each investment, (5) diversification of the portfolio, and (6) yield.

Under Texas law, Issuer investments must be made "with judgment and care, under prevailing circumstances, that a person of
prudence, discretion, and intelligence would exercise in the management of the person's own affairs, not for speculation, but for
investment, considering the probable safety of capital and the probable income to be derived." At least quarterly the investment
officers of the Issuer shall submit an investment report detailing: (1) the investment position of the Issuer, (2) that all investment
officers jointly prepared and signed the report, (3) the beginning market value, any additions and changes to market value and the
ending value of each pooled fund group, (4) the book value and market value of each separately listed asset at the beginning and
end of the reporting period, (5) the maturity date of each separately invested asset, (6) the account or fund or pooled fund group for
which each individual investment was acquired, and (7) the compliance of the investment portfolio as it relates to: (a) adopted
investment strategy statements and (b) state law. No person may invest Issuer funds without express written authority from the City
Council.

Additional Provisions

Under Texas law, the Issuer is additionally required to: (1) annually review its adopted policies and strategies, (2) adopt an
ordinance or resolution stating that it has reviewed its investment policy and investment strategies and records any changes made
to either its investment policy or investment strategy in the said ordinance or resolution, (3) require any investment officers with
personal business relationships or relatives with firms seeking to sell securities to the entity to disclose the relationship and file a
statement with the Texas Ethics Commission and the City Council; (4) require the qualified representative of firms offering to
engage in an investment transaction with the Issuer to: (a) receive and review the Issuer's investment policy, (b) acknowledge that
reasonable controls and procedures have been implemented to preclude investment transactions conducted between the Issuer
and the business organization that are not authorized by the Issuer's investment policy (except to the extent that this authorization is
dependent on an analysis of the makeup of the Issuer's entire portfolio or requires an interpretation of subjective investment
standards), and (c) deliver a written statement in a form acceptable to the Issuer and the business organization attesting to these
requirements; (5) perform an annual audit of the management controls on investments and adherence to the Issuer's investment
policy; (6) provide specific investment training for the Treasurer, Chief Financial Officer, or other investment officers; (7) restrict
reverse repurchase agreements to not more than 90 days and restrict the investment of reverse repurchase agreement funds to no
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greafer 4han fhe term of the reverse repurchase agreement; (8) restrict the investment in mutual funds in the aggregate to no more
than IIO% of the Issuer's monthly average fund balance, excluding bond proceeds and reserves and other funds held for debt
service and further rsstrict the investment in non-money mar4cet mutual funds of any portion of bond proceeds, reserves and funds
held for debt service and fo no more Than 1.5% ofi the Issuer's mon#hly average funr~ balance, Pxcluding hond nr~ceeds and
r~s~rv~s aru aiher iurds i~~id i~~ deui service ar~U it~rthet ~~esirici the iriv~sfrnent in no-load money market muivai lunds or` any
portion of bond proceeds reserves and funds held for debt service to no more than 15% of the entity's monthly average fund
balance, excluding bond proceeds and reserves and other funds held for debt service; (9) require local governmenf investment
pools fo confirm fo the new disclosure, rating, net asses value, yield calculation, and advisory board requirements, and (10) at least
annually review, revise, and adopt a list of qualified brokers that are authorized to engage in investment transactions with the Issuer.

~a~rrer~g Ir~ves~men~~

As of January 12, 2.016 (unaudited), fhe Cify held investments as follows:

Investment Type a4moun~ Percen,fia,~e,
Depository Bank Accounts $ 7,025,200 32.54%
Ceriifiicates of Deposit 16,381,213 66.61%
Investment Pool Accounts 184,069 0.85%

Total $21.590.482 100.00%

As of such date, the market value of such investments (as determined by the Issuer by reference to published quotations, dealer
bids, and comparable information} was approximately 100% ofi their book value. No funds of the Issuer are invested in derivative
securities, i.e., securities whose rate of return is determined by reference to some other instrument, index, or commodity.

EiVIPLOYE~ BENEFIT PLABV

~i~~~ ~~~c~i~rtii~~

The Ci4y provides pension benefits for all of its eligible employees through a nontraditional, joint contributory, hybrid defined benefit
plan in the state-wide Texas Municipal Retirement System {TMRS), an agent multiple-employer public employee retirement system.
The plan provisions that have been adopted by the City are within the options available in the governing state statutes of TMRS.

TMR5 issues a publicly a~~ailahie comprehensive annual financial report that includes financial statements and required
supplementary information (RSI) for TMRS; 4he report also provides detailed explanations of the contributions, benefits, and
actuarial methods ar~d assumptions used by the System. This report may be obtained from TMF2S' website at www.TMRS.com.

The plan provisions are adopted by the governing body of the Gity, within the options available in the state statutes governing
TMRS. Plan provisions for the City were as follows:

Phan Year 2013
Employee deposit rate 6%
Matching ration (city to employee) 2 to 1
Years required for vesting 5 years
Service re#irement eligibility (expressed as 60/5, 0/25
age/years of service) 100% Repeating,
Updated Service Credit Transfers
Annuity Increase (to retirees) 70% of CPI Repeating

~onfribuiion~

Plan Year 2014
6%
2 to 1
5 years
60/5, 0/25

100°/o Repeating,
Transfers

70% of CPI Repeating

Under the state law governing ~MI~S, the contribution rate for each city is determined annually by the actuary, using the Entry Age
Normal (EAN) cost method (EAN was first used in the C~ecember 31, 2013 valuation; previously, the Projected Unit Credit actuarial
cost method had been used). This rate consisis of the normal r_.ost contribution rate and the prior service cost contribution rate,
which is calculated to be a level percent of payroll from year to year. The normal cost contribution rate for an employee is the
contribution rate which, if applied to a member's compensation throughout their period of anticipated covered service with the
municipality, would be sufficient to meet ail beneTits payable on their behalf. I he salary- weighted average of the individual rates is
the total normal cost rate. The prior service contribution rate amortizes the unfunded (overfunded) actuarial liability (asset) over the
~p~licable period for that city. Both the normal cost and prior service contribution rates include recognition of the projected impact of
annually repeating benefits, such as Updated Service Credits and Annuity Increases.

The City contributes to the TfviRS Plan at an actuarially determined rate. Both the employees and the City make contributions
monthly. Since the City needs to know its contribution rate in advance for budgetary purposes, there is a one-year delay between
the actuarial valuation that serves as the basis for 4he rate and the calendar year when the rats goes into effect (i.e., the December
31, 2013 valuation will determine the contribution rate beginning January 1, 2015).

The annual pension cost and net pension obligation / (asset) are as follows:
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Three-Year Trend Information

Fiscal Year Annual Pension
Ending Cost (APC)
9/30/2012 268,019
9/30/2013 241,743
9/30/2014 267.187

12/31 /2011
Projected Unit Credit

Level Percent of Payroll
26.4 years closed period

Net Pension
Obligation/ (Asset)

The required contribution rates for fiscal year 2014 were determined as part of the December 31, 2011 and 2012 actuarial valuations.
Additional information as of the latest actuarial valuation, December 31, 2013, also follows:

Valuation Date
Actuarial Cost Method
Amortization Method
GASB 25 Equivalent Single-
Amortization Period
Amortization Period for new
Gains/Losses
Asset Valuation Method
Actuarial Assumptions
Investment Rate of Return
Projected Salary Increases
Includes Inflation at
Cost-of Living Adjustments

Actual
Contribution Made

Percentage of
APC Contributed

268,019 100%
241,743 100%
267,187 100%

30 years

10-year Smoothed Market

7.0%
Varies by age and service

3.00%
2.1

12/31 /2012
Projected Unit Credit

Level Percent of Payroll
25.1 years closed period

30 years

10-year Smoothed Market

7.0%
Varies by age and service

3.00%
2.1

12/31 /2013
Entry Age Normal

Level Percent of Payroll
30.0 years closed period

30 years

10-year Smoothed Market

7.0%
Vanes by age and service

3.00%
2.1

Funded Status and Funding Progress - In October 2013, the TMRS Board approved actuarial changes in (a) the funding method from
Projected Unit Credit to Entry Age Normal, (b) the post- retirement mortality assumptions used in calculating liabilities and contribution
rates and in the development of the Annuity Purchase Rate factors, and (c) the amortization policy. These actuarial changes were
effective with the December 31, 2013 actuarial valuation. For a complete description of the new actuarial cost method and assumptions,
please see the December 31, 2013 TMRS Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR).

The funded status as of December 31, 2013, the most recent actuarial valuation date, is presented as follows:

Actuarial Actuarial Actuarial Unfunded UAAL as a
Valuation Value of Accrued Funded AAL Covered Percentage of
Date Assets Liability (AAL) Ratio (UAAL) Payroll Covered Payroll

(1) (2) (3) (4) (5) (6)

12/31/2013 $ 10,085,429 $ 11,007,558 91.6°/a $ 922,129 $ 2,886,129 32.0%

Actuarial valuations involve estimates of the value of reported amounts and assumptions about the probability of events far into the
future. Actuarially determined amounts are subject to continual revision as actual results are compared to past expectations and
new estimates are made about the future.

Actuarial calculations are based on the benefits provided under the terms of the substantive plan in effect at the time of each
valuation, and reflect along-term perspective. Consistent with that perspective, actuarial methods and assumptions used include
techniques that are designed to reduce short-term volatility in actuarial accrued liabilities and the actuarial value of assets. The
schedule of funding progress, presented as Required Supplementary Information following the notes to the financial statements,
present multi-year trend information about whether the actuarial value of plan assets is increasing or decreasing over time relative
to the actuarial accrued liability of benefits.

Other Post-Employment Benefits

The City also participates in the cost sharing multiple-employer defined benefit group-term life insurance plan operated by the Texas
Municipal Retirement System (TMRS) known as the Supplemental Death Benefits Fund (SDBF). The City elected, by ordinance, to
provide group- term life insurance coverage to both current and retired employees. The City may terminate coverage under and
discontinue participation in the SDBF by adopting an ordinance before November 1 of any year to be effective the following January
1.

The death benefit for active employees provides a lump-sum payment approximately equal to the employee's annual salary
(calculated based on the employee's actual earnings, for the 12-month period preceding the month of death); retired employees are

insured for $7,500; this coverage is an "other postemployment benefit," or OPEB.
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Cor~~ributions

The City contribufies to the SDBF at a c~niractuaily required rage as deferrnined by ~n annual acruari~i valuation. The ratE i:~ equal
to the cost of providing one-year term life insurance. The funding policy for the SDBF program is to assure that adequate resources
aic a^Vaii~vic iG iii2ci aii uEaili ucii~iii NayiiiciiiS ivi ilic ia~Cuiiiiiiy yeai; iiie iiiiCiii i5 iivi iu NfB-iuiiu ieii~eB ieiiii iii@ iii5uiuiiCe uuiiiiy
employees' entire careers.

(RE"1~IR~E-only portion of tPie rate)

Plan/Calendar Year Annual ~2equired Actual Contribution
Contribution~Rate~ Made (date)

0.05% 0.05%
0.06% 0.06%
0.06% 0.06%

Percentage of ARC
Confribu4ed

2012
2013
2014

MV 0/~/^i~VflLIVI ~M/vA rRVlneL61VRLa~~

Property T'ax bode and County-Wide Appraisal Ibis#rict

100%
100%
100%

The Texas Property Tax Code (the "Tax Code ") provides for county-wide appraisal and equalization of taxable property values and
establishes in each county of the State of Texas an appraisal district and an appraisal review board responsible for appraising
property for all taxing units within the county. The McLennan County Appraisal District (the "Appraisal District") is responsible for
appraising property within the City generally as of January '1 of each year. The appraisal values set by the Appraisal District are
subject fo review and change by the ivlcLennan county Keview hoard (the "Appraisal Keview Board°) which is appointed by the
Appraisal District. Such appraisal rolls; as apnr~vecl by the Annr~isal ReuiP~ ~o~rc_i; are ~,sec_i by the Iss~~er in est~hlishinc, its tax
roll and tax rate.

property Subject to ~'axat9on by the l~~u~r

Except for certain exemptions provided by Texas law, ai! real and certain tangible p2rsanal property with a tax situs in the City are
subject to taxation by the City. Principal categories of exempt property (including certain exemptions which are subject to local
option by the City Council) include property owned by the State of Texas or its political subdivisions if the property is used for public
purposes; property exempt from ad valorem taxation by federal law; certain improvements to real property and certain tangible
personal property located in designated reinvestment zones on which the Issuer has agreed to abate ad valorem taxes, certain
household goods, family supplies and personal effects; farm products owned by the producers; certain property of anon-profit
corporation used iii scientific research and educational activities benefiting a college or university, and designated historical sites.
Other principal categories of exempt property include tangible personal property no4 held or used fior production of income, solar
and wind-powered energy devices; mast individually owned automobiles; certain varying amounts of val~!ation attributable to
residential homesteads of disabled persons or persons ages 65 or over and property of disabled veterans or the surviving spouse or
children of a deceased veteran who died while on active duty in the armed forces; and certain classes of intangible praperty.
Owners of agricuitura! and open space land, under certain circumstances, may request valuation of such land on ih~ basis of
productive capacity rather than market value.

At an election held on September 13, 2003, the voters of the State of Texas approved a consri4utional amendment authorizing
counties, cities, towns or junior college districts to establish an ad valorem "tax freeze" on residence homesteads of the disabled
and persons sixty-five years of age or older. The surviving spouse of a taxpayer who qualifies for the freeze on ad valorem taxes is
entitled to the same exemption so long as (i) the taxpayer died in a year in which he qualified for the exemption, (ii) the surviving
spouse was at least 55 years of age when the taxpayer died, and (iii) the property was khe residence homestead of the surviving
spouse when the taxpayer died and the property remains the residence homestead of the surviving spouse. This "tax freeze" can
be implemented by official action of a governing body, or pursuant to an election called by the governing body upon receipt of a
yeti#ion signed by 5% of registered vokers of the municipality.

~Oaluatiora of Property vor Taxa@ior

Generally, property in the City must be appraised by the Appraisal District at market value ~s of January 1 of each year. Onee an
appraisal r~li is ~,repared ar~d Finally apNr~ved by i~~e A~praisai Review Board, ii is used by the issuer in establishing its tax roils and
tax rate. Assessments under the Tax Code are to be based on one hundred percent (100%) of market value, except as described
below, and no assessment ratio can be applied.

State law requires the appraised value of a residence homestead to be lased si,l~ly on tiie Uro~aerty's value as ~ residence
homestead, regardless of whether residential use is considered to be the highest and best use of the property. State law further
limits the appraised value of a residence homestead for a tax year to an amount not to exceed the lesser of (1) the market value of
the property or (2) the sum of {a) 10% of the appraised value of the property for the lask year in which the property was appraised
for taxation times 4he number of years since the property was last appraised, plus (b) the appraised value of the property for the last
year in which the property vas appraised plus (c) the market value of all new improvements fo the property.
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Article VIII of the Texas Constitution and the Tax Code permits land designated for agricultural use (Section 1-d), open space or
timberland (Section 1-d-1) to be appraised at the lesser of its value based on the land's capacity to produce agricultural or timber
products or its market value. Landowners wishing to avail themselves of the agricultural use designation must apply for the
designation, and the appraiser is required by the Tax Code to act on each claimants right to the designation individually. If a
claimant receives the agricultural use designation and later loses it by changing the use of the property or selling it to an unqualified
owner, the Issuer can collect taxes based on the new value, including three (3) years for agricultural use and five (5) years for
agricultural open space land and timberland prior to the loss of the designation. The same land may not be qualified under both
Section 1-d and 1-d-1.

Oil and gas reserves are assessed on the basis of a valuation process which uses pricing information contained in the most recently
published Early Release Overview of the Annual Energy Outlook published by the United States Energy Information Administration,
as well as appraisal formulas developed by the State Comptroller of Public Accounts. Effective January 1, 2016, the valuation
assessment of oil and gas reserves will depend upon pricing information in either the standard edition of the Annual Energy Outlook
or, if the most recently published edition of the Annual Energy Outlook was published before December 1 of the preceding calendar
year, the Short-Term Energy Outlook report published in January of the current calendar year.

The Tax Code requires the Appraisal District to implement a plan for periodic reappraisal of property to update appraisal values.
The plan must provide for appraisal of all real property in the Appraisal District at least once every three (3) years. The Issuer, at its
expense, has the right to obtain from the Appraisal District a current estimate of appraised values within the City or an estimate of
any new property or improvements within the City. While such current estimate of appraised values may serve to indicate the rate
and extent of growth of taxable values within the City, it cannot be used for establishing a tax rate within the City until such time as
the Appraisal District chooses to formally include such values on its appraisal roil.

Residential Homestead Exemptions

Under Section 1-b, Article VIII of the Texas Constitution, and State law, the governing body of a political subdivision, at its option,
may grant:

1. An exemption of not less than $3,000 of the market value of the residence homestead of persons 65 years of age or
older and the disabled from all ad valorem taxes thereafter levied by the political subdivision.

2. An exemption of up to 20°/o of the market value of residence homesteads; minimum exemption $5,000.

In the case of residence homestead exemptions granted under Section 1-b, Article VIII, ad valorem taxes may continue to be levied
against the value of homesteads exempted where ad valorem taxes have previously been pledged for the payment of debt if
cessation of the levy would impair the obligation of the contract by which the debt was created. The surviving spouse of a taxpayer
who qualifies for the freeze on ad valorem taxes is entitled to the same exemption so long as (i) the taxpayer died in a year in which
he qualified for the exemption, (ii) the surviving spouse was at least 55 years of age when the taxpayer died, and (iii) the property
was the residence homestead of the surviving spouse when the taxpayer died and the property remains the residence homestead
of the surviving spouse.

State law and Section 2, Article VIII, mandate an additional property tax exemption for disabled veterans or the surviving spouse or
children of a deceased veteran who died while on active duty in the armed forces; the exemption applies to either real or personal
property with the amount of assessed valuation exempted ranging from $5,000 to a maximum of $12,000.

A disabled veteran who receives from the United States Department of Veterans Affairs or its successor 100% disability
compensation due to aservice-connected disability and a rating of 100% disabled or of individual unemployability is entitled to an
exemption from taxation of the total appraised value of the veteran's residence homestead. Furthermore, following the approval by
the voters at a November 8, 2011 statewide election, effective January 1, 2012, the surviving spouse of a deceased veteran who
had received a disability rating of 100% is entitled to receive a residential homestead exemption equal to the exemption received by
the deceased spouse until such surviving spouse remarries.

Following the approval by the voters at a November 5, 2013 statewide election, a partially disabled veteran or the surviving spouse
of a partially disabled veteran is entitled to an exemption equal to the percentage of the veteran's disability, if the residence was
donated at no cost to the veteran by a charitable organization.

Also approved by the November 5, 2013, election was a constitutional amendment providing that the surviving spouse of a member
of the armed forces who is killed in action is entitled to a property tax exemption for all or a part of the market value of such
surviving spouse's residence homestead, if the surviving spouse has not remarried since the service member's death and said
property was the service member's residence homestead at the time of death. Such exemption is transferable to a different
property of the surviving spouse, if the surviving spouse has not remarried, in an amount equal to the exemption received on the
prior residence in the last year in which such exemption was received.

Freeport Goods and Goods-In-Transit Exemption

Article VIII, Section 1-j of the Texas Constitution provides for an exemption from ad valorem taxation for "freeport property," which is
defined as goods detained in the state for 175 days or less for the purpose of assembly, storage, manufacturing, processing or
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r`abricafion. Taxing units that Took action prior to April 1, 1990 may continue to tax freeport property and decisions to continue to tax
freeport property may be reversed in the future. However, decisions to exempt freeport property are no# subjecf to reversal.

in addition, Article VIlI, Section 1-n of the T~:xas Constitution provides for an exemption from taxation for "c~7oods-in-transit", which
~rG ueiir~cu as ~,erso~~ai piupeiiy dcC~uiteCi 0~ iiiij~uiiecf i~iiu iiie s[aie aril '[ranspor[ea to anoiner iocaiion inside or outside the slate
within 175 days of the date fhe property was acquired or imported into the state. The exempfion excludes oil, na4ural gas,
petroleum products, aircraft and special inventory, including motor vehicle, vessel and out-board motor, heavy equipment and
manufactured housing invenfory. After holding a public hearing, a taxing unit may take action by January 1 of the year preceding a
tax year to tax goods-in-transit during the following tax year. A taxpayer may obtain only a freeport exemption or agoods-in-transit
exemption for items of personal property. Senate Bill 1, passed by the 82~d Texas Legislature, 1St Called Session, requires that the
governmental entities take affirmative action after October 1 of the prior year but prior to January 1 o`r the iirs2 tax year in which the
City proposes to continue its taxation of goods-in-transit in the 2012 tax year and beyond.

~'ax Investment Financing/T'ax Abatemen~/Economic development Program

fax Increment ReinvesPment (Financing) Zones: The Ci[y, by action of the City Council, may create one or more tax increment
reinvestment zones ("TIP.Zs" or "Tlrs") within the City, and in doing so, other overlapping taxing entities nay agree to contribute taxes
levied against the "Incremental Value" in the TIRZ to finance or pay for public improvements or projects within the TIFtZ. At the time of the
creation of the TIFtZ, a "base value" for the real property in the TIRZ is established and the difference between any increase in 4he
assessed valuation of taxable real property in the ̀f'11=2~ in excess of the base value of taxable real properly in the TIRZ is known as the
"Incremental Value", and during the existence of the TIRZ, all or a portion (as determined by the City) of the taxes levied by the City
against the Incremental Value in the TIRZ are restricted to paying project and financing costs within the TIRZ and are not available for the
payment of other obligations of the City.

Tax Abatement ~ipreements: i he Gity also may enter into tax abatement agreements to encourage economic development. Under the
agreements; a property owner agrees #n cans#ruc# certain imnmyements nn its nro~erty_ Tha C:ity, in tern, agrg@s npt tp le~ni a tax pn all
or part of the increased value attributable to the improvements un#il the exnira#ion ~f the agreement. The a4~atement agreement could last
for a period of up to 10 years.

Economic Development Programs of Grants and Loans: The City is authorized, pursuant to Chapter 380, Texas Local Government
Code ("Chapter 380") to establish programs to promote state or local economic development and to stimulate business and commercial
activity in the City. In accordance with a program established pursuant to Chapter 380, the City may make loans or grants of public funds
fior economic development purposes, however, no obligations secured by ad valorem taxes may b~ issued for such purposes unless
approved by voters of the City.

Issuer and Taxpayer Resnedle~

Under certain circumstances, 4axpayers and taxing units, including the Issuer, may appeal the orders of the Appraisal Review Board by
filing a timely pe#ikinn far reviewv in district court within 45 days after no#ice is received that a final order has been entered. In such evenP,
the property value in question may be determined by the court, or by a jury, if requested by any party, or through binding arbitration, ifi
requested b}~ the taxpayer. Additionally, taxing units may bring suit against the Appraisal District to compel compliance with the Tax
Code.

The Tax Cede sets forth notice and hearing procedures for certain tax rate increases by the lssu2r and provides far taxpayer referenda
that could result in the repeal of certain tax increases. The Tax Code also establishes a procedure for notice to property owners of
reappraisals reflecting increased property value, appraisals which are higher than renditions, and appraisals of property not previously on
an appraisal roll.

The Financial Ins4itutions o4ct of °i9~9

The "financial Institutions Reform, Recovery end Enforcement Act of 1989° {"FIRREA"), enacted on August 9, 1989, contains
certain previsions which affect the time for protesting property valuations, the fixing of tax liens and the collection of penalties and
i.ntgrPgt nn riPlinni iant taxgg nn rgal nrnnarty n~ninPri by the Faris ral fls~nncit Inca ~ranre ('nrnnr~;±jnn /tho "Ffll!"'1

Under - FIRREA, real property held by the FDIC is subjec4 to ad valorem taxation, however such act states that (i) no real property
of the FDIC shall be subject to foreclosure or sale without the consent of the FDIC and no involun#ary lien shall attach 4o suc!?
property, (iij the rr-DiC st'iail ..vi ue liable ia~ ally peiiaiiies or lines, inciudiny those arising from the failure to pay any real property
tax when due, (iii) no personal property owned by FDIC is subject to ad valorem taxation, and (iv) notwithstanding failure of ~
person to challenge an appraisal in accordance with State law, such value shall be determined as of the period for which such tax is
imposed.

As of the date hereof, the Issuer is not aware of any significant properties in the Cify which are under the control of the FDIC,
however, real property could come under their control while acting as the receiver of an insolvent financial institution. Accordingly,
to the extent the FIRREA provisions are valid and applicable to property in the Cify, and to the extent that the FDIC attempts to
enforce the same, the provisions may affect the time at which the Issuer can collect taxes on property owned by the FDIC, if any, in
the City.
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Levy and Collection of Taxes

The Issuer is responsible for the levy and collection of its taxes unless it elects to transfer such functions to another governmental
entity. Before the later of September 30 h̀ or the 60 h̀ day after the date the certified appraisal roll is received by the taxing unit or as
soon thereafter as practicable, the rate of taxation is set by the Issuer based upon the valuation of property within the City as of the
preceding January 1. Taxes are due October 1, or when billed, whichever comes later, and become delinquent after January 31 of
the following year. A delinquent tax incurs a penalty of six percent (6%) of the amount of the tax for the first calendar month it is
delinquent, plus one percent (1 %) for each additional month or portion of a month the tax remains unpaid prior to July 1 of the year
in which it becomes delinquent. If the tax is not paid by July 1 of the year in which it becomes delinquent, the tax incurs a total
penalty of twelve percent (12%) regardless of the number of months the tax has been delinquent and incurs an additional penalty of
up to twenty percent (20%) if imposed by the Issuer. The delinquent tax also accrues interest at a rate of one percent (1 %) for each
month or portion of a month it remains unpaid. The Tax Code also makes provision for the split payment of taxes, discounts for
early payment and the postponement of the delinquency date of taxes under certain circumstances.

Issuer's Rights in the Event of Tax Delinquencies

Taxes levied by the Issuer are a personal obligation of the owner of the property as of January 1 of the year for which the tax is
imposed. On January 1 of each year, a tax lien attaches to property to secure the payment of all state and local taxes, penalties,
and interest ultimately imposed for the year on the property. The lien exists in favor of the State of Texas and each local taxing unit,
including the Issuer, having power to tax the property. The Issuer's tax lien is on a parity with tax liens of such other taxing units. A
tax lien on real property takes priority over the claim of most creditors and other holders of liens on the property encumbered by the
tax lien, whether or not the debtor lien existed before the attachment of the tax lien; however, whether a lien of the United States is
on a parity with or takes priority over a tax lien of the Issuer is determined by applicable federal law. Personal property, under
certain circumstances, is subject to seizure and sale for the payment of delinquent taxes, penalty, and interest.

At any time after taxes on property become delinquent, the Issuer may file suit to foreclose the lien securing payment of the tax, to
enforce personal liability for the tax, or both. In filing a suit to foreclose a tax lien on real property, the Issuer must join other taxing
units that have claims for delinquent taxes against all or part of the same property. Collection of delinquent taxes may be adversely
affected by the amount of taxes owed to other taxing units, by the effects of market conditions on the foreclosure sale price, by
taxpayer redemption rights (a taxpayer may redeem property within two (2) years after the purchaser's deed issued at the
foreclosure sale is filed in the City records) or by bankruptcy proceedings which restrict the collection of taxpayer debts. Federal
bankruptcy law provides that an automatic stay of actions by creditors and other entities, including governmental units, goes into
effect with the filing of any petition in bankruptcy. The automatic stay prevents governmental units from foreclosing on property and
prevents liens for post-petition taxes from attaching to property and obtaining secured creditor status unless, in either case, an order
lifting the stay is obtained from the bankruptcy court. In many cases, post-petition taxes are paid as an administrative expense of
the estate in bankruptcy or by order of the bankruptcy court.

CITY APPLICATION OF THE PROPERTY TAX CODE

The City grants an exemption of $7,500 of residence homesteads of persons 65 or older and the disabled. See Appendix A —Table
9, Page A-4 for a listing of the amounts of these exemptions.

The City does not grant an exemption of 20% of the market value of all residence homesteads, with a minimum exemption of
$5, 000.

The City has not adopted the tax freeze for citizens who are disabled or are 65 years of age or older, which became a local option
and subject to local referendum on January 1, 2004.

The City does not tax non-business personal property.

The City has contracted with the McLennan County Tax Assessor/Collector for the collection of the City's property taxes.

McLennan County does not permit split payments or discounts.

The City does grant the Article VIII, Section 1-j ("freeport property")exemption.

The City does not grant an exemption for "goods-in-transit'. The City has not taken official action to continue to tax goods-in-transit
for 2012 and beyond.

The City does not participate in a Tax Increment Reinvestment Zone.

The City has no abatement agreements.

The City has not made any loans or grants under Chapter 380, Texas Local Government Code.
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~7ur~ic9~~9 ~a;es i ax ~aalec~~ar~~

Tile Ciiy has adopied one provisions oT Chapter 34 or tine Tax Code, as amended, wnicn provides fior the rnaximum levy of a one
percent sales tax which may be used by the City far any lawful purpose except that the City may not pledge any of the anticipated
sales tax revenue to secure the paymenf of the Certificates or other indebtedness. Net collections on a fiscal year basis are shown
in Table 14 of APPENDIX A —Financial Information Relating to the City of Belimead, i exas.

Optional Sale ~'ax

The Tax Code provides certain cities and counties the option of assessing a maximum one-half percent (1/2°/o) sales tax on retail
sales of taxable items for the purpose of reducing its ad valorem taxes, if approved by a majority of the voters in a local option
election. if the additional tax is approved and levied, the ad valorem property tax levy must be reduced by the amount of the
estimated sales tax revenues to be genera4ed in the currenf year. Further the Tax Code provides certain cities the option of
assessing a maximum one-half percent (1/2%) sales tax on retail sales of taxable items for economic development purposes, if
approved ~y a rnajoriiy of the vaiers iii a focal opiion eleciion.

At an election held on March 26, 1980, the registered voters of fhe City approved an additional one-half percent ('/2°/o) sales tax to
be collected for economic developmenfi purposes in accordance with Chapters 501, 502 and 504, Texas Local Government Code,
as amended (formerly Section 4A of Article 5190.6, Texas Revised Civil Statutes). Levy of this sales tax began on October 1, 1992.

At an election held on November 6, 2007, registered voters of the City voted to reduce the one-half percent ('/ %) additional sales
tax For economic development to one-quarter percent ('/%) and approved an additional one-quarter percen4 ('/%) additional sales
Yax for street maintenance and improvements. Levy of these additional sales taxes began in July 1, 2010.

At an election held nn May 8, 2. 10, the registered voters of the City ~~otec~ to dissolve the 4A Economic Development Corporation
and approved an additional one-quarter percent ('/%)sales tex to be collected for community development purposes in accordance
with Chapters 507, 502 and 505, Texas Local Government Code, as amended {formerly Section 48 of Article 5190.6, Texas
Revised Civil Statutes). Levy of this community development sales tax began on October 1, 2010.

The City has not held an election regarding an additional sales tax for reduction of property tax reduction.

The Commissioners Court of McLennan County levies and assesses the remaining'/z°/o additional sales and use tax for ad valorem
property tax reduction.

TRX EZATE L1NiiTATiONS

Article XI, Section 5 of the Texas Constitution, applicable [Q cities of more than 5,000 population: $2.54 per $100 assessed
valuation. The Issuer has adopted a Home Rule Charter which does not limit the City's maximum tax ra#e limit beyond the
Constitutional limit of $2.50 per $100 of assess~;d valuation for ail Issuer purposes.

No direct funded debt limitation is imposed on the City under current Texas la~v. Article XI, Section 5 of the Texas Constitution is
applicable to the City, and limits its maximum ad valorem tax rate to $2.50 per $100 assessed valuation for all City purposes. As
stated above, the City operates under a Home F2ule Charter which does not limit the City's maximum tax rate beyond the
Constitutional limit. The Texas Attorney General has adopted an administrative policy tha4 generally prohibits the issuance of debt
by a municipality, such as the City, if its issuance produces debt service requirements exceeding that which can be paid from $1.50
of the foregoing $2.50 maximum fax rate calculated at 90% collection. The issuance of the Certificates does not violate this
ions#itutional provision or the Texas Attorney General's administrative policy.

Before the later of September 30 h̀ or the 60 h̀ day after the date the certified appraisal roll is received by the Issuer, or as soon
thereafter as practicable, the City Council must adopt a tax rate per $100 taxable value for the current year. The tax rate consists of
t~nm rmm~nn~ntc. /1 \ ~ r~t~ fnr fi inrlinn of mwintnnVn~n~ an~1 nn~~-~~;nn ovrionA'4i roc an4J !71 a o+o fnr ̀lo~ht c

The Tax Code

The iiiy rr~usi anr~uaiiy calculate and publicize its °er'fective zax rate" ana "rollback tax rate". The City Council may not adopt a tax
rate that exceeds the lower of the rollback rate or the effective tax rate until it has held two public hEarings on the proposed increase
following notice to the taxpayers and otherwise complied with the Tax Code. if' the adopted tax rate exceeds the rollback tax rate,
the qualified voters of the City, by pe4ition, may require that an election sae held to determine whether or not #o reduce the tax rate
d~luple~l (or the curreril yeas to tf~e rollback lax rate.

"Effective tax rate" means the rate that will produce last year's total tax levy (adjusted) from This year's toial taxable values
(adjusted). "Adjusted" means lost values are not included in the calculation of last year's taxes and new values are not included in
this year's taxable values.



"Rollback tax rate" means the rate that will produce last year's maintenance and operation tax levy (adjusted) from this year's values
(unadjusted) multiplied by 1.08 plus a rate that will produce this year's debt service from this year's values (adjusted) divided by the
anticipated tax collection rate.

Reference is made to the Tax Code for definitive requirements for the levy and collection of ad valorem taxes and the calculation of
the various defined tax rates.

TAX MATTERS

Tax Exemption

The delivery of the Certificates is subject to an opinion of Norton Rose Fuibright US LLP, San Antonio, Texas, Bond Counsel to the
City ("Bond Counsel"), to the effect that interest on the Certificates for federal income tax purposes under existing statutes,
regulations, published rulings and court decisions (1) will be excludable from the gross income, as defined in section 61 of the
Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended to the date of initial delivery of the Certificates (the "Code'), of the owners thereof
pursuant to section 103 of the Code and (2) will not be included in computing the alternative minimum taxable income of the owners
thereof who are individuals or, except as hereinafter described, corporations. The statute, regulations, rulings and court decisions
on which such opinion will be based are subject to change. A form of Bond Counsel's opinion appears in APPENDIX C attached
hereto.

Interest on all tax exempt obligations, including the Certificates, owned by a corporation will be included in such corporation's
adjusted current earnings for purposes of calculating the alternative minimum taxable income of such corporation, other than an S
corporation, a qualified mutual fund, a real estate investment trust (REIT), a financial asset securitization investment trust (FASIT),
or a real estate mortgage investment conduit (REMIC). A corporation's alternative minimum taxable income is the basis on which
the alternative minimum tax imposed by section 55 of the Code will be computed.

In rendering the foregoing opinions, Bond Counsel will rely upon representations and certifications of the City pertaining to the use,
expenditure and investment of the proceeds of the Certificates and will assume continuing compliance with the provisions of the
Ordinance by the City subsequent to the issuance of the Certificates. The Ordinance contains covenants by the City with respect to,
among other matters, the use of the proceeds of the Certificates and the facilities financed therewith by persons other than state or
local governmental units, the manner in which the proceeds of the Certificates are to be invested and the periodic calculation and
payment to the United States Treasury of arbitrage "profits" from the investment of the proceeds and the reporting of certain
information to the United States Treasury. Failure to comply with any of these covenants may cause interest on the Certificates to
be includable in the gross income of the owner thereof for federal income taxes from the date of the issuance of the Certificates.

Except as described above, Bond Counsel will express no other opinion with respect to any other federal, state or local tax
consequences under present law, or proposed legislation, resulting from the receipt or accrual of interest on, or the acquisition or
disposition of, the Certificates. Bond Counsel's opinion is not a guarantee of a result, but represents its legal judgment based upon
its review of existing statutes, published rulings and court decisions and the representations and covenants of the City described
above. No ruling has been sought from the Internal Revenue Service (the "Service") with respect to the matters addressed in the
opinion of Bond Counsel, and Bond Counsel's opinion is not binding on the Service. The Service has an ongoing program of
auditing the tax-exempt status of the interest on municipal obligations. If an audit of the Certificates is commenced, under current
procedures the Service is likely to treat the City as the "taxpayer," and the Beneficial Owners would have no right to participate in
the audit process. In responding to or defending an audit of the tax-exempt status of the interest on the Certificates, the City may
have different or conflicting interests from the Beneficial Owners of the Certificates. Public awareness of any future audit of the
Certificates could adversely affect the value and liquidity of the Certificates during the pendency of the audit, regardless of its
ultimate outcome.

Tax Changes

Existing law may change to reduce or eliminate the benefit to registered owners of the exclusion of interest on the Certificates from
gross income for federal income tax purposes. Any proposed legislation or administrative action, whether or not taken, could also
affect the value and marketability of the Certificates. Prospective purchasers of the Certificates should consult with their own tax
advisors with respect to any proposed or future changes in tax law.

Ancillary Tax Consequences

Prospective purchasers of the Certificates should be aware that the ownership of tax-exempt obligations such as the Certificates
may result in collateral federal tax consequences to, among others, financial institutions (see discussion under the caption "Qualified
Tax-Exempt Obligations" herein), property and casualty insurance companies, life insurance companies, certain foreign
corporations doing business in the United States, S corporations with subchapter C earnings and profits, owners of an interest in a
FASIT, individual recipients of Social Security or Railroad Retirement benefits, individuals otherwise qualifying for the earned
income tax credit and taxpayers who may be deemed to have incurred or continued indebtedness to purchase or carry, or who have
paid or incurred certain expenses allocable to, tax-exempt obligations. Prospective purchasers should consult their own tax advisors
as to the applicability of these consequences to their particular circumstances.
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'~~~ ~c:cn~9rix6n~ ~'re~f.rt~er~~ caf ~ s~c~e.9~i C'ert~f~c~~e~

The inifiai public offering price to be paid for certain Certificates may be less than the amount payable on such Certificates at
maturity (the "Discoun4 Certificates"). An amounf equal to the difference be#weep the ini#ial public r~ffering price of a niscaunt
Certiiicaie ~assur~ii~~g iiiai a siii~siat~tiai ai~iouni vi iris uisc~unc Ceriificaies of ina4 maturity are sold to the public at such price] and
the amount payable at maturity constitutes original issue discount to the initial purchaser of such Discount Certificates. A portion of
such original issue discount, allocable to the holding period of a Discount Certificate by the initial purchaser, will be treated as
inferesf for federal income tax purposes, excludable from gross income on the same terms and conditions as those for other interest
on the Certificates. Such interest is considered to be accrued actuarially in accordance with the constant interest method over the
life of a Discount Certificate, taking into account the semiannual compounding of accrued interest, at the yield to maturity on such
Discount Certificate and generally will be allocated to an initial purchaser in a different amount from the amount of the payment
denominated as interest actually received by the initial purchaser during his taxable year.

However, such accrued interest may be required to be taken into account in determining the alternative minimum taxable income of
a corporation, for purposes of calculating a corporation's alternative minirr7um tax imposed by section 55 of the Code, and the
amount of the branch profits 4ax applicable to certain foreign corporations doing business in the United States, even though there
will no4 be a corresponding cash payment. In addition, the accrual of suci~ iiiieresi may result i~7 certain o4her collateral iedeeai
income tax consequences to, among others, financial institutions (see discussion under the caption "Qualified Tax-Exempt
Obligations" herein), property and casualty insurance companies, life insurance companies, S corporations with subchap#er C
earnings and profits, owners of an interest in a FASIT, individual recipients of Social Security or Railroad Retirement benefits,
individuals otherwise qualifying for the earned income tax credit, and taxpayers who may be deemed to have incurred or continued
indebtedness to purchase or carry, or who have paid or incurred certain expenses allocable to, tax-exempt obligations.

in the event of the sale or other taxable disposition of a Discount Certificate prior to maturity, the amount realized by such owner in
excess of the basis of such Discount Certificate in the hands of such owner (adjusted upward by the portion of the original issue
discount allocable to the period for whir_.h such Discount Certifir~te was hPl~il is inch~~2~1e ~n ~rncs incerpg.

owners of Discount Certificates should consult with their own tax advisors with respect to the determination for federal income tax
purpases of accrued interest upon disposi#ion of Discount Certificates and with respect to the state and local tax consequences of
owning Discount Certificates. It is possible that, under applicable provisions governing determination of state and local income
taxes, accrued interest on the Discount Certificates may be deemed to be received in the year of accrual even though there will got
be a corresponding cash payment.

T ax ,4ccounting Yreatment of Premium Certificate

The initial public offering price to be paid for certain Certificates may be greater than the stated redemption price on such
Certificates at maturity (the "t remium Certificates°). An amount equal to the difference between the initial public offering price of a
Premium Certificate (assuming that a substantial amount of the Premium Certificates of that maturity are sold to the public at such
price) and its eta#ed redemption price at maturity constitutes premium io the initial purchaser ofi such !'remium Certificates. The
basis for federal income tax purposes of a Premium Certificate in the hands of such initial purchaser must be reduced each year by
the amortizable certificate premium, although no federal income tax deduction is allowed as a result of such reduction in basis for
amortizable certificate premiums with respect to the Premium Certificates. Such reduction in basis will increase the amount of any
gain (or decrease th4 amaunf of any loss) to be recognized for federal income tax purposes upon a sale or other taxable dispasition
of a Premium Certificate. The amount of premium which is amortizable each year by an initial purchaser is determined by using
such purchaser's yield io maturity.

Purchasers of the Premium Certificates should consult with their own tax advisors with respect to the determination of amortizable
certificate premium on Premium Certificates for federal income tax purposes and with respect to the state and local tax
consequences of owning and disposing of Premium Certificates.

~J.u~iified T~x~~xemnt ~ik~iigations

Sartinn ~~5 of tha ~nrla nmvirlgc in ns nr cal that intarr~gt nvnnncA to ~rniiir~ nr r;arn~ t~d_o;;o;r,nt .,h~~n~+~.,n~ ~ .,~ ~ov441't~~~ f~v
the gross income of the ovvner of such obligations. In addition, section Z65 of the Code generally disallows 100% of any deduction
for interest expense which is incurred by "financial institutions" described in such section and is allocable, as computed in such
section, to tax-exempt interest on obligations acquired after August 7, 19f36. Section X65{b) of the Cocle ~rc~vides a~~ exception to
this interest disallowance ~ ule fog financial insiiiutioiis, siaiing iiiai such disallowance does not apply to interest expense aiiocable to
tax-exempt obligations (other than private activity bonds that are not qualified 501(c)(3) bonds) which are properly designated by an
issuer as "qualified tax-exempt obligations." An issuer may designate obligations as "qualified tax-exempt obligations" only if the
amount of the issue of which they are a part, when added to the amount of all ather tax-exempt obligations (other than private
activity bonds that ai-e not qualified 501(c;)(3) uk~liyaliuns and other lfian certain current refunding bonds) issued or reasonably
anticipated to be issued by the issuer during the same calendar year, does not exceed $10,000,000.

The City has designated the Certificates as "qualified tax-exempt obligations" and has certified its expectation that the above-
described $10,000,000 ceiling will not be exceeded. Accordingly, it is anticipated that financial institutions which purchase the
Certificates will not be subject to the 100% disallowance of interest expense allocable 4o interest on the Certificates under section
265(b) of the Code. However, the deduction for interest expense incurred by a financial institution which is allocable to the interest
on the Certificates will be reduced by 20% pursuan# #o section ?91 of the Code.
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CONTINUING DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION

In the Ordinance, the City has made the following agreement for the benefit of the Registered Owners of the Certificates. The City
is required to observe the agreement for so long as it remains obligated to advance funds to pay the Certificates. Under the
agreement, the City will be obligated to timely file with the MSRB updated financial information and operating data of the City that is
included in this Official Statement, that is customarily prepared by the City, and that is publicly available, as well as notice of
specified events. The information provided to the MSRB will be available to the public free of charge via the EMMA system through
an Internet website accessible at www.emma.msrb.org.

Annual Reports

Under Texas law, including, but not limited to Chapter 103, as amended, Texas Government Code, the City must keep its fiscal
records in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, must have its financial accounts and records audited by a
certified public accountant and must maintain each audit report within 180 days after the close of the City's fiscal year. The City's
fiscal records and audit reports are available for public inspection during the regular business hours, and the City is required to
provide a copy of the City's audit reports to any certificate holder or other member of the public within a reasonable time of request
to the Interim City Clerk, 3015 Bellmead Drive, Bellmead, Texas 76705, and upon payment of charges prescribed by the Texas
General Services Commission.

The City will file certain updated financial information and operating data with the MSRB annually. The information to be updated
includes all quantitative financial information and operating data with respect to the City of the general type included in APPENDIX
A Tables 1, 3, 9, 10, 11, 12, 18, 19, 20 and 22 and APPENDIX D to this Official Statement. The City will update and provide this
information within six months after the end of each fiscal year ending in and after 2016.

The financial information and operating data to be provided may be set forth in full in one or more documents or may be included by
specific reference to any document available to the public on the MSRB's EMMA Internet Web site or filed with the United States
Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC"), as permitted by SEC Rule 15c2-12 (the "Rule"). The updated information will
include audited financial statements, if the City commissions an audit and it is completed by the required time. If audited financial
statements are not available by the required time, the City will provide unaudited financial statements by the required time and
audited financial statements when and if such audited financial statements become available.

Any such financial statements will be prepared in accordance with the accounting principles described in APPENDIX D or such
other accounting principles as the City may be required to employ from time to time pursuant to State law or regulation. The City's
current fiscal year end is September 30. Accordingly, it must provide updated information by March 31 in each year, unless the City
changes its fiscal year. If the City changes its fiscal year, it will file notice of the change with the MSRB through EMMA.

Notices of Certain Events

The City will file with the MSRB notice of any of the following events with respect to the Certificates in a timely manner (and not
more than 10 business days after occurrence of the event): (1) principal and interest payment delinquencies; (2) non-payment
related defaults, if material; (3) unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting financial difficulties; (4) unscheduled draws
on credit enhancements reflecting financial difficulties; (5) substitution of credit or liquidity providers, or their failure to perform; (6)
adverse tax opinions, the issuance by the Internal Revenue Service of proposed or final determinations of taxability, Notices of
Proposed Issue (IRS Form 5701-TEB), or other material notices or determinations with respect to the tax status of the Certificates,
or other material events affecting the tax status of the Certificates; (7) modifications to rights of holders of the Certificates, if
material; (8) Certificate calls, if material, and tender offers; (9) defeasances; (10) release, substitution, or sale of property securing
repayment of the Certificates, if material; (11) rating changes; (12) bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership, or similar event of the City,
which shall occur as described below; (13) the consummation of a merger, consolidation, or acquisition involving the City or the sale
of all or substantially all of its assets, other than in the ordinary course of business, the entry into of a definitive agreement to
undertake such an action or the termination of a definitive agreement relating to any such actions, other than pursuant to its terms, if
material; and (14) appointment of a successor or additional paying agenUregistrar or the change of name of a paying
agent registrar, if material. Neither the Certificates nor the Ordinance make any provision for debt service reserves, credit
enhancement, or liquidity enhancement. In addition, the City will provide timely notice of any failure by the City to provide
information, data, or financial statements in accordance with its agreement described above under "Annual Reports". The City will
provide each notice described in this paragraph to the MSRB.

For these purposes, any event described in clause (12) of the immediately preceding paragraph is considered to occur when any of
the following occur; the appointment of a receiver, fiscal agent, or similar officer for the City in a proceeding under the United States
Bankruptcy Code or in any other proceeding under state or federal law in which a court or governmental authority has assumed
jurisdiction over substantially all of the assets or business of the City, or if such jurisdiction has been assumed by leaving the
existing governing body and officials or officers in possession but subject to the supervision and orders of a court or governmental
authority, or the entry of an order confirming a plan of reorganization, arrangement, or liquidation by a court or governmental
authority having supervision or jurisdiction over substantially all of the assets or business of the City.

Availability of Information

The City has agreed to provide the foregoing information only as described above. Investors will be able to access continuing
disclosure information filed with the MSRB free of charge at www.emma.msrb.org.
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#~i~i~a~~~ns za~at~ ~irnen~9rnera4s

The City has agreed to update information and to provide notices of material events only as described above. ~I he City iias not
agreed to provide; other information that may be relevant or material to a complete presentation of its financial results of or~erations,
~~~~ciiiiaii, or ~r~os~~cis ur agreed io updaie any inTormaiion that is provided, except as described above. the ~i#y makes no
representation or warranty concerning such information or concerning its usefulness to a decision to invesf in or sell Certificates of
any future date. The City disclaims any contractual or tort liability for damages resulting in whole or in part from any breach of its
continuing disclosure agreement or from any statement made pursuant to its agreement, although holders or registered owners of
Certificates may seek a writ of mandamus to compel fhe City to comply with its agreement.

The Cify rr~ay amend its continuing disclosure agreement irom iime to time fo adapt to changed circumstances that arise firom a
change in legal requirements, a change in law, or a change in the identity, nature, status, or type of operations of the City, if (i) the
agreement, as amended, would have permitted an underwriter to purchase or sell Certificates in the offering described herein in
compliance with the Rule, taking into account any amendments or interpretations of the Rule to the date of such amendment, as
well as such changed circumstances, and (ii) either (a) the holders of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the outstanding
Certificates consenk to the amendment or (b) any person unaffiliated with the City (such as nationally recognized bond counsel)
determines that the amendment ~vili i~ot inaterialiy impair the inieresis of the holders and Beneiiciai Owners of the Cerfificates. The
City may also amend or repeal the provisions of this continuing disclosure agreement if the SEC amends or repeals the applicable
provisions of the Rule or a court of final jurisdiction enters judgment that such provisions of the Rule are invalid, but only if and to
tine extent that the provisions of ihis sentence would not preveni an underwrifer from lawfully purchasing or selling Certificates in the
primary offering of the Certificates. If the City so amends the agreement, it has agreed to include with the next financial information
and operating data provided in accordance with ifs agreement described above under "Annual F2eports" an explanation, in narrative
form, of the reasons for the amendment and of the impact of any change in the type of financial information and operating data so
provided. The City may also amend or repeal the provisions of this continuing disclosure agreement if the SEC amends or repeals
the applicable provision of the rule or a court of final jurisdiction enters judgment that such provisions of the rule are invalid, but only
if ~rlcl tp the PXtE`nt that tf1P hrpvisioll~ Of thig Sgntgn~g iNn~l~l npt nra~~ent a pi ir~h~ser frpm ~a~n~f~ll~i pi ir~l-~agi~q nr ca~~jnq
Certifica#es, respectively, in the primary offering of the Certificates. v v

Compliance with ~'rior !lr~dertak9ngs

During the past five years, tha City has complied in all material respects with all previous agreements in accordance with SEC Rule
15c2-12.

LEGAL MATTERS

Legal Opinion and ft1o~Litigafion Certificate

The Issuer will furnish the Purchaser with a complete transcript of proceedings incident to the authorization and issuance of the
Certificates, including the unqualified ~ppro~~ing legal opinion of the Attorney Genera! of the State of Texas to the efieci that the
Initial Certificate is a valid and legally binding obligation of the Issuer, and based upon examination of such transcript of
proceedings, the approval of certain legal matters by Bond Counsel, to the effect that the Certificates, issued in compliance with the
provisions of the Ordinance, are valid and legally binding abligations of the Issuer and, subject to the qualificatians se4 ior~h herein
under "TAX MATTERS", the interest on the Certificates is exempt from federal income taxation under existing statutes, published
rulings, regulations, and court decisians. Thaugh it represents the Financial Advisor from time to time in matters unrelated 4o the
issuance of 4he Certificates, fond Counsel was engaged by, and only represents, the City in connection with the issuance of the
Certificates. In its capacity as Bond Counsel, Norton Rose Fulbright US LLP has reviewed (except for numerical, statistical or
technical data) the information under the captions "THE CERTIFICATES" (except under the subcaptions "Use of Certificate
Proceeds", "Sources and Uses" "Payment F2ecord", and "Defaulf and Remedies", as to which no opinion is expressed),
"REGISTRATION, TRANSFER AfVD EXCHANGE", "TAX MATTERS", "COfJTINUING DISCLOSURE ~F INF~RMATIOfV" {except
under the suk~heading "Compliance with Prior Undertakings" as to vuhich no opinion is expressed), "LEGAL MATTERS—Legal
~n~estments and Eligibility to Secure Public Funds in texas", and "OTHER PERTINENT INFORMATION—Registration and
Qualification of Certificates for Sale" in the Official Statement and such firm is of the opinion that the information relating to the
C'.artifiratPs anti thn Clrtlinan~r rnntainr~rl iinrlAr cYirh ~antinnc :~ M fujr arr~i arruira±o Sl;mmur~r of Oho ~nfnrm~t~n~l C~~u to u~..r,...,. y ~,u; ~,

shovvn and that the information and descriptions contained under such c;apfions relating Co the provisions of applicable state and
federal laws are correct as to matters of law. The customary closing papers, including a certificate to the effect that no litigation of
any nature has been filed or is then wending to res#rain the issuance and cleliv~ry cif the Certificates or ~a~l~ich w~oulti affect tf~e
~,rovision rnacie tar ineir payrr~eni of security, or in any manner questioning the vaiidiey or` the Certificates will also be Furnished. The
legal fees to be paid Bond Counsel for services rendered in connection with the issuance of Certificates are contingen4 on the sale
and initial delivery of the Certificates. The legal opinion of Bond Counsel will accompany the Certificates deposited with DTC or will
~e printed on the definiti~ie Certificates in the e~~2nt of the discontinuance of the Book-Entry-Onl;~ System.

The various legal opinions to be delivered concurrently with the delivery of the Certificates express the profiessional judgment of the
attorneys rendering the opinions as to the legal issues explicitly addressed therein. In rendering a legal opinion, the aftorriey does
no4 become art insurer or guarantor of the expression of professional judgment, of the transaction opined upon, or of the future
perfiormance of the parties to the transaction, nor does the rendering of an opinion guarantee the outcome of any legal dispute that
may arise out of the transaction.
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Litigation

In the opinion of City officials, there is no litigation or other proceeding pending against or, to their knowledge, threatened against
the Issuer in any court, agency, or administrative body (either state or federal) wherein an adverse decision would materially
adversely affect the financial condition of the Issuer.

At the time of the initial delivery of the Certificates, the City will provide the Purchaser with a certificate to the effect that no litigation
of any nature has been filed or is then pending challenging the issuance of the Certificates or affecting the payment and security of
the Certificates or in any other manner questioning the issuance, sale, or delivery of the Certificates.

Legal Investments and Eligibility to Secure Public Funds in Texas

Section 1201.041 of the Public Securities Procedures Act (Chapter 1201, Texas Government Code) and Section 271.051, as
amended, Texas Local Government Code, each, provide that the Certificates are negotiable instruments governed by Chapter 8, as
amended, Texas Business and Commerce Code, and are legal and authorized investments for insurance companies, fiduciaries,
and trustees, and for the sinking funds of municipalities or other political subdivisions or public agencies of the State of Texas. For
political subdivisions in Texas which have adopted investment policies and guidelines in accordance with the Public Funds
Investment Act, Chapter 2256, as amended, Texas Government Code, the Certificates must have to be assigned a rating of at least
"A" or its equivalent as to investment quality by a national rating agency before such obligations are eligible investments for sinking
funds and other public funds. (See "OTHER PERTINENT INFORMATION —Rating" herein.) In addition, various provisions of the
Texas Finance Code provide that, subject to a prudent investor standard, the Certificates are legal investments for state banks,
savings banks, trust companies with at least $1 million of capital, and savings and loan associations.

The City has made no investigation of other laws, rules, regulations or investment criteria which might apply to such institutions or
entities or which might limit the suitability of the Certificates for any of the foregoing purposes or limit the authority of such
institutions or entities to purchase or invest in the Certificates for such purposes. The City has made no review of laws in other
states to determine whether the Certificates are legal investments for various institutions in those states.

FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS

The statements contained in this Official Statement, and in any other information provided by the City, that are not purely historical,
are forward-looking statements, including statements regarding the City's expectations, hopes, intentions, or strategies regarding
the future. Readers should not place undue reliance on forward-looking statements. All forward-looking statements included in this
Official Statement are based on information available to the City on the date hereof, and the City assumes no obligation to update
any such forward-looking statements. It is important to note that the City's actual results could differ materially from those in such
forward-looking statements.

The forward-looking statements herein are necessarily based on various assumptions and estimates and are inherently subject to
various risks and uncertainties, including risks and uncertainties relating to the possible invalidity of the underlying assumptions and
estimates and possible changes or developments in social, economic, business, industry, market, legal, and regulatory
circumstances and conditions and actions taken or omitted to be taken by third parties, including customers, suppliers, business
partners and competitors, and legislative, judicial and other governmental authorities and officials. Assumptions related to the
foregoing involve judgments with respect to, among other things, future economic, competitive, and market conditions and future
business decisions, all of which are difficult or impossible to predict accurately and many of which are beyond the control of the City.
Any of such assumptions could be inaccurate and, therefore, there can be no assurance that the forward-looking statements
included in this Official Statement will prove to be accurate.

OTHER PERTINENT INFORMATION

Registration and Qualification of Certificates for Sale

The sale of the Certificates has not been registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, in reliance upon exemptions
provided in such Act; the Certificates have not been qualified under the Securities Act of Texas in reliance upon exemptions
contained therein; nor have the Certificates been qualified under the securities acts of any other jurisdiction. The Issuer assumes
no responsibility for qualification of the Certificates under the securities laws of any jurisdiction in which they may be sold, assigned,
pledged, hypothecated or otherwise transferred. This disclaimer of responsibility for qualification for sale or other disposition of the
Certificates shall not be construed as an interpretation of any kind with regard to the availability of any exemption from securities
registration or qualification provisions.

It is the obligation of the Purchaser to register or qualify the sale of the Certificates under the securities laws of any jurisdiction
which so requires. The City agrees to cooperate, at the Purchaser's written request and sole expense, in registering or qualifying
the Certificates or in obtaining an exemption from registration or qualification in any state where such action is necessary; provided,
however, that the City shall not be required to qualify as a foreign corporation or to execute a general consent to service of process
in any jurisdiction.
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Standard & Poor's Rating Service, a Standard &d'oor's financial Services LLC business ("SAP") has assigned an unc~erlyi~g,
unenhanced rating of "AA~" fo fhe Certificates end #o the City's oi.i#skancling general obligation debt. An explanation of the
siyr~i~icGr~ce of such a ~aiiiiy i1lay ue oiiiai~ieu YUill S1kF'. I fl@ iail~ly UT ille l.2RITIC7teS 1Jy J2ScF' i"2t18CtS Only ItIG' VI@W OT S2ScF' ai (Yl@

time the rating is given, and the Issuer makes no representations as to the appropriateness of the rating. There is no assurance
That the rating will continue for any given period of time, or that the rating will not be revised downward or withdrawn entirely by
S&P, if, in fhe judgmen# of S&P, circumstances so warrant. Any such do~Nnward revision or withdrawal of 4he rating may have an
adverse effect on the market price of the Certificates.

ElutherrYicity a~ F6r~ancia9 Inforrnatia~

The financial data and ofher information contained herein have been obtained from the Issuer's records, audited financial
statements and other sources which are believed to be reliable. All of the summaries of the statutes, documents and Ordinances
contained in this Official Statement are made subject to all of the provisions of such statutes, documents and Ordinances. These
summaries do not purport to be complete statements of such provisions and reference is made to such documents for further
information. All information eantained in this Official Siatemeni is suojeci, ire ail res~ecfs, 4~ the compieie body or' information
contained in the original sources thereof and no guaranty, warranty or other representation is made concerning the accuracy or
completeness of the information herein. In particular, no opinion or representation is rendered as to whether any projection will
approximate actual results, and all opinions, estimates anti assumptions, whether or not expressly identified as such, should not be
considered statements of fact.

Financial ,4dvisor

SAivCu Capital iViarkets, Inc. is employed as a 1=inanciai Advisor to the Issuer in connection with the issuance of the Certificates. In
this capacity; the Financial Acivisar has compiled cPrt~in data rgi~tjnn to the (~`g~-ti{i~atag and hag rlr~fte~l 4f~ic n{{icia! S±a!emen?.
The Financial Advisor has not independently verified any of the da#~ contained herein or conducted a detailed investigation of the
affairs of the Issuer to determine the accuracy or completeness of this Official Statement. Because of its limited participation, the
Financial Advisor assumes no responsibility for the accuracy nr completeness of any of the information contained herein. The lees
for the Financial Advisor are contingent upon the issuance, sale and initial delivery of the Certificates.

The Financial Advisor has provided the following sentence for inclusion in this Official Statement. The Financial Advisor has
reviewed the information in this Official Statement in accordance with its responsibilities to the City and, as applicable, to investors
under the federal securities laws as applied to the facts and circumstances of this transaction, but the Financial Advisor does not
guarantee the accuracy or completeness of such information.

~1/iiiiii6ic~ oiciil~"r

After requesting competitive bids for the Certificates, the Cify accepted the bid of Hilltop Securities Inc. (the 'Purchaser" or the
"Initial Purchaser") to purchase the Certificates at the interest rates shown on the page ii of this Official Statement at a price of par,
plus a net reoffering premium of $91,656.80, plus accrued interest on the Certificates from their Dated Date to their date of initial
delivery. The Purchaser's comr~ensafion is $25, 27.00. The City can give no assurance that any trading market will be developed
for the City after their sale by the Gity to the Purchaser. The City has no control over the price at which the Certificates ire
subsequen#ly sold and the initial yield at vuhich the Certificates wit! be priced and reoffered will be esiabiished by and will be the
responsibility of the Purchaser.

Certification of the OfFiciaB Statement

At the time vi payment for and delivery of the Initial Certificates, the Purchaser will be furnished a certificate, executed by proper
officials of the City, acting in their official capacities, to the effect that to the best of their knowledge and belief: (a) the descriptions
and statements of or pertaining to the City contained in its Official Statement, end any addenda, supplement or amendment thereto,
for the Certificates, on the date of such Official Statement, on the date of sale of said Certificates and the acce~fance of the best bid
therefor, and on the date of the delivery: were and are true and correct in all matPri~l resner_.ts; (h1 ingnfar ac thg ~it1i an~i ors ?{~a~rG,
including its financial affairs, are concerned, such O(fici~l Statement did not and does not contain an untrue statement of a material
fact or omit to state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein, in the light of the
circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; (c) insofar as the descriptions and statements including financial data,
of or pertaining to entities, other than the City, and their activities contained in such O~ficia~ ~tate~ent are concerned, suci~
statements and data have been obtained from sources which the City believes to be reliable and the City has no reason to believe
that they are untrue in any material respect; and (d) there has been no material adverse change in the financial condition of the City,
since September 30, 2014, the date of the last financial statements of the City appearing in the official S#atement.

Information from ~xternaB Source

References to web site addresses presented herein are for informational purposes only and may be in the form of a hyperlink solely
for the reader's corrvenience. Unless specified otherwise, such web sites and the information or links contained therein are not
incorporated into, and are not part of, this Official Statement for purposes of, and as that term is defined in, SEC Rule 15c2-12.
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Concluding Statement

No person has been authorized to give any information or to make any representations other than those contained in this Official
Statement, and if given or made, such other information or representations must not be relied upon as having been authorized by
the City. This Official Statement does not constitute an offer to sell or solicitation of an offer to buy in any state in which such offeror
solicitation is not authorized or in which the person making such offer or solicitation is not qualified to do so or to any person to
whom it is unlawful to make such offer of solicitation.

The information set forth herein has been obtained from the City's records, audited financial statements and other sources which the
City considers to be reliable. There is no guarantee that any of the assumptions or estimates contained herein will ever be realized.
All of the summaries of the statutes, documents and the Ordinance contained in this Official Statement are made subject to all of the
provisions of such statutes, documents, and the Ordinance. These summaries do not purport to be complete statements of such
provisions and reference is made to such summarized documents for further information. Reference is made to official documents in
all respects.

The Ordinance authorizing the issuance of the Certificates also approved the form and content of this Official Statement and any
addenda, supplement or amendment thereto and authorize its further use in the re-offering of the Certificates by the Purchaser.

This Official Statement was approved by the Council for distribution in accordance with the provisions of the SEC's rule codified at
17 C.F.R. Section 240.15c2-12. as amended.

CITY OF BELLMEAD, TEXAS

/s/ Gary Moore
Mayor

City of Belimead, Texas
ATTEST:

/s/ Codi Delcambre
Interim City Cierk

City of Belimead, Texas
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APPENDIX A

FINANCIAL INFORMATION RELATING TO THE CITY OF BELLMEAD, TEXAS

(This appendix contains quantitative financial information and operating data with respect to the Issuer. The information is only a
partial representation and does not purport to be complete. For further and more complete information, reference should be made

to the original documents, which can be obtained from various sources, as noted.)
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FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE ISSUER

ASSESSED VALUATION TABLE 1

2015 Actual Market Value of Taxable Property (100% of Actual) $ 458,055,491

Less Exemptions:
Local, Optional Over-65 and/or Disabled Homestead Exemptions $ 4,832,529
Disabled and Deceased Veterans' Exemptions 5,740,633

Productivity Value Loss 2,126,140

Freeport Exemption -

10°/o Cap Loss 2,638,397

Pollution Control 48,342

Charitable /Other 223,180

Partially Exempt Property 68,803

Totally Exempt Property 60,731,500 76,409,524

2015 Net Taxable Assessed Valuation ~a~ $ 381,645,967

a  ~See "AD VALOREM TAX PROCEDURES" and "CITY APPLICATION OF THE PROPERTY TAX CODE " in the Official Statement
for a description of the Issuer's taxation procedures.

Source: McLennan County Appraisal District

GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDED DEBT TABLE 2

General Obligation Debt Principal Outstanding: (As of February 29, 2016)
General Obligation Refunding Bonds, Series 2012 $ 345,000
Tax Notes, Series 2012 95,000
Combination Tax and Limited Pledge Revenue Certificates of Obligation, Series 2014 8,360,000

8,800,000
Current Issues General Obligation Debt Principal

Combination Tax and Limited Pledge Revenue Certificates of Obligation, Series 2016 (the "Certificates") 2,400,000

Total Gross General Obligation Debt Principal Outstanding (following the Issuance of the Certificates) $ 11,200,000

Less: Self-Supporting General Obligation Debt Principal:

General Obligation Refunding Bonds, Series 2012 (approx. 100% UF) $ 345,000

Combination Tax and Limited Pledge Revenue Certificates of Obligation, Series 2014 (approx. 46.53% UF) 6,064,294

Combination Tax and Limited Pledge Revenue Certificates of Obligation, Series 2016 (the "Certificates") (approx. 100% UF) 2,400,000

Total Self-Supporting General Obligation Debt Principal Outstanding: 8,809,294

Total Net General Obligation Debt Principal Outstanding (Following the Issuance of the Certificates) $ 2,390,706

General Obligation Interest and Sinking Fund Balance as of January 31, 2016 (Unaudited) $ 379,544

Ratio of Gross General Obligation Debt Principal to 2015 Net Taxable Assessed Valuation 2.93%
Ratio of Net General Obligation Debt Principal to 2015Net Taxable Assessed Valuation 0.63%
2015 Net Taxable Assessed Valuation $ 381,645,967

Population: 1990 - 8,336; 2000 - 9,214; 2010 - 9,901; Current (Estimate) - 10,184
Per Capita 2015 Net Taxable Assessed Valuation - $ 37,475
Per Capita Gross General Obligation Debt Principal - $ 1,100
Per Capita Net General Obligation Debt Principal - $ 235

OTHER OBLIGATIONS TABLE 3

The City has no other debt obligations outstanding.
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GENEFdAL O~LIGAYI(~N DE~7SERVICE RFQUIf?~iVI~NTS T',4BL~ 4

Cuorentiy Combined Less Net
Fiscal Year Ouistanding ~'he C2rtificafias `fo4al del( Sia;a~c~rtinc~ 7oi~l
3eyi 3u ue'vY_~ervice— — i~rincipai inzeo•esi

m

Toeai~
—

uepc Service uepc Service uebt Service
2016 $ 637,795.50 $ - $ 31,925.00 $ 31,925.00 $ 669,720.50 $ 365,891.50 $ 303,829.00
2017 639,807.50 95,000.00 62,900.00 157,900.00 797,707.50 493,103.75 304,603.75
201F3 636,893.75 95,000.00 61,000.00 156,000.00 792,893.75 492,237.50 300,656.25
2019 603,943.75 100,000.00 59,050.00 159,050.00 762,993.75 496,037.50 2.66,956.25
2020 606,143.75 100,Q00.00 57,050.00 157,050.00 763,193.75 494,687.5Q 268,506.25
2021 607,637.50 105,000.00 55,000.00 160,000.00 767,637.50 497,906.25 269,731.25
2022 608,412.50 105,000.00 52,900.00 157,900.00 766,312.50 495,687.50 270,625.00
2023 608,696.88 105,000.00 50,800.00 155,800.OU 764,496.88 498,150.00 266,346.88
2024 608,212.50 110,000.00 48,650.00 158,650.00 766,862.50 500,087.50 266,775.00
2025 601,725.00 110,000.00 45,900.00 155,900.00 757,625.00 490,906.25 266,718.75
2026 609,350.00 115,000.00 42,525.00 157,525.00 766,875.00 495,656.25 2.71,2'18.75
2027 605,975.00 120,000.00 39,000.00 159,000.00 764,975.00 494,725.00 270,250.00
2028 606,650.00 125,000.00 35,325.00 160,325.00 766,975.00 498,100.00 268,875.00
2029 606,562.50 125,000.00 31,575.00 156,575.00 763,137.50 495,925.00 267,212.50
2030 610,300.00 130,000.00 27,750.00 157,750.00 768,050.00 498,012.50 270,037.50
2031 602,575.00 135,000.00 23,775.00 158,775.00 761,350.00 494,162.50 267,187.50
2032 608,587.50 140,000.00 19,650.00 159,650.00 768,237.50 499,450.00 268,787.50
2033 608,093.75 140,000.00 15,450.00 155,g50.00 763,543.75 493,825.00 269,718.75
2034 606,156.25 145,000.00 11,175.00 156,175.00 762,331.25 492,362.50 269,968.75
2035 - 150,000.00 6,750.00 156,750.00 156,750.00 156,750.00
2036 - 150,b00.00 2,250A0 152,250.00 152,250A0 152,250.00 -

$ 11,623,518.63 $ 2,400,000.00 $ 780,400.00 $ 3,180,400.00 $ 14,803,918.63 $ 9;595;914.00 $ 5;2Q8,004.63

TAX ADEQUACY (Includes pelf-~upportincg Debt) 'FABLE 5A

2015 Net Taxable Assessed Valuation $ 381,645,967
Maximum Annual Debt Service Requirements (Fiscal Year Ending 9-30-17) $ 797,708
Indicated Ntaximum interesi and Sinking Fund lax Rate ai 96% Collections $ 0.217727

Note.' Above computation is exclusive of investment earnings, delinquent tax collections and penalties and
interest on delinquent t~ x collecticns.

TAX ADEQUACY {Exciutles deli-~upp~o~finc~ DebYi i ABLE 38

2015 Net Taxable Assessed Valuation $ 381,645,967
Maximum Annual Debt Service Requirements (Fiscal Year Ending 9-30-17) ~ 304,&04
Indicated Maximum Interest and Sinking Fund Tax Rate at 96%Collections $ O.OII3139

Note: Above computation is exclusive oiinvestment earnings, delinquent tax collections and penalties and
interest on delinquent tax collections.

T,AX,4~LE ,4SSESSEU VALU,4`f'10~ FOR ~'~C YEAR i 2005-2015 TABLE 6

Net Taxable Ghange from P3•evious Year
Yaar Assessed Valuation Amount t$) Pereen4

2005-06 $ 247,774,534 9,537,6£37 4.00%

2^v0o^-0i 27o,iw3,725 2$,36 , i9i i i.45%

2007-08 275,677,485 (466,240) (0.17%)

2008-09 291,103,380 15,425,895 5.60%

2009-'10 32 %, 880,1(76 35,776,726 12.63%

2010-11 328,311,013 430,907 0.13%

2011-12 330,975,338 2,664,325 0.81%u

2012 13 337,473, 605 6, 498, 267 1.96%

?013-'I~ 356,138,II81 18,665,276 5.53°

2014-15 365,397,502 9,258,621 2.60%

2015-16 381,645,967 16,24II,465 4.4Fi%

Note: Assessed Valuations may change during the year due tv various supplements and protests. Valuations in other tables of this Official Statement
may not match those shown in this table.

Sources: Texas Comptroller of Public Accounts and McLennan County Appraisal District and the issuer.
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INTEREST AND SINKING FUND MANAGEMENT INDEX TABLE 7

Interest and Sinking Fund Balance, Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2015 (Unaudited)

2015-2016 Interest and Sinking (I&S) Fund Tax Levy of $0.079611 at 96% Collections Produces~a~
Total Available for Debt Service

Less: Net General Obligation Debt Service Requirements, Fiscal Year Ending 9-30-16

Estimated Surplus at Fiscal Year Ending 9-30-16

~a~ Does not include delinquent tax collections, penalties and interest on delinquent tax collections or
Investment earnings.

$ 233,053
291,679

$ 524,732

303,829

$ 220.903 ~a>

GENERAL OBLIGATION PRINCIPAL REPAYMENT SCHEDULE TABLE 8
(Includes the Certificates)

Principal Repayment Schedule Bonds Percent of
Fiscal Year Outstanding The Unpaid at Principal
Ending 9/30 Obligations ~a~ Certificates Total End of Year Retired (%)

2016 $ 395,000 $ - $ 395,000 $ 10,805,000 3.53%
2017 405,000 95,000 500,000 10,305,000 7.99%
2018 410,000 95,000 505,000 9,800,000 12.50%
2019 385,000 100,000 485,000 9,315,000 16.83%
2020 395,000 100,000 495,000 8,820,000 21.25%
2021 405,000 105,000 510,000 8,310,000 25.80%
2022 415,000 105,000 520,000 7,790,000 30.45%
2023 425,000 105,000 530,000 7,260,000 35.18%
2024 435,000 110,000 545,000 6,715,000 40.04%
2025 440,000 110,000 550,000 6,165,000 44.96%
2026 460,000 115,000 575,000 5,590,000 50.09°/a
2027 470,000 120,000 590,000 5,000,000 55.36%
2028 485,000 125,000 610,000 4,390,000 60.80%
2029 500,000 125,000 625,000 3,765,000 66.38°/a
2030 520,000 130,000 650,000 3,115,000 72.19%
2031 530,000 135,000 665,000 2,450,000 78.13%
2032 555,000 140,000 695,000 1,755,000 84.33%
2033 575,000 140,000 715,000 1,040,000 90.71%
2034 595,000 145,000 740,000 300,000 97.32%
2035 - 150,000 150,000 150,000 98.66%
2036 - 150,000 150,000 - 100.00%

$ 8,800,000 $ 2,400,000 $ 11,200,000

~a~ As of February 29, 2016.
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PRINCIPAL TAXPAYERS 2015-2016 TABLE 10

2015 NeY % Of TOt81 2015
Taxable Net Taxable
Assessed Assessed

Name Tvpe of Business Valuation Valuation
Butt H. E. Grocery Co. Retail Grocery Sales $ 15,730,238 4.12%
Wal-Mart Real Estate Business Trust Real Estate 11,954,561 3.13%
Wal-Mart Stores East LP Retail Sales 8,678,870 2.27%
Sams Club East Inc. Retail Sales 8,150,620 2.14°/o
Prem Sai Inc. Hotel/Motel 7,921,743 2.08%
Bellmead McLennan NH Ltd. Nursing Home 6,900,913 1.81%
Home Depot USA Inc. Retail Home Improvement Sales 6,762,540 1.77%
Realty Income Properties 25 ~~C Real Estate Development 5,093,970 1.33%
TBA Associates LP Association 4,017,660 1.05%
American Bank NA Banking Services 4,010,530 1.05%

Total $ 79.221.645 20.76% ~a~
Based on a 2015 Freeze Adjusted Taxable Assessed Valuation of $ 381,645,967

As shown in the table above, the top ten taxpayers in the City account for in excess of 20% of the City's tax base. Adverse
developments in economic conditions, especially in a particular industry in which any one of these large taxpayers participates, could
adversely impact these businesses and, consequently, the tax values in the City, resulting in less local tax revenue. If any major
taxpayer, or a combination of top taxpayers, were to default in the payment of taxes, the ability of the City to make timely payment of
debt service on the Certificates maybe dependent on its ability to enforce and liquidate its tax lien, which is a time consuming process
that may only occur annually. See "THE CERTIFICATES -Default and Remedies" and "AD VALOREM TAX PROCEDURES -
Issuer's Rights in the Event of Tax Delinquencies" in this Official Statement.

Source: Texas Comptroller of Public Accounts

PROPERTY TAX RATES AND COLLECTIONS ~a~ TABLE 11

Tax Net Taxable Tax Adjusted % Collections Year
Year Assessed Valuation Rate Tax Levv Current Total Ended

2004-05 $ 238,236,847 $ 0.305100 $ 725,517 96.25% 99.33% 9-30-05
2005-06 247,774,534 0.296400 769,885 90.85% 93.80% 9-30-06
2006-07 276,143,725 0.278800 768,214 96.19% 99.47% 9-30-07
2007-08 275,677,485 0.267500 778,490 96.54% 100.10% 9-30-08
2008-09 291,103,380 0.253300 809,763 93.69% 96.66% 9-30-09
2009-10 327,880,106 0.247000 806,616 96.02% 98.10% 9-30-10
2010-11 328,311,013 0.265600 867,934 95.86% 97.69% 9-30-11
2011-12 330,975,338 0.274500 903,305 96.65% 99.62% 9-30-12
2012-13 337,473,605 0.298600 1,006,643 97.29% 99.42% 9-30-13
2013-14 356,138,881 0.298608 1,060,718 94.66% 96.05% 9-30-14
2014-15 365,397,502 0.298608 1,086,718 96.90% 99.14% 9-30-15
2015-16 381,645,967 0.318608 1,216,261 ~b~ (In process of collection) 9-30-16

~a~ See 'AD VALOREM TAX PROCEDURES-Levy and Collection of Taxes"in the body of the Official Statement for a complete discussion
of the City's provisions.

~b~ Information is as of January 11, 2016.
Note: Assessed Valuations may change during the year due to various supplements and protests. Valuations in other tables of this Official

Statement may not match those shown in this table.
Source: Texas Comptroller of Public Accounts, McLennan County Appraisal District, Texas Municipal Report published by the Municipal

Advisory Council of Texas and the Issuer's Audited Financial Statements and SupplementalInformation.

TAX RATE DISTRIBUTION TABLE 12

2015-2016 2014-2015 2013-2014 2012-2013 2011-2012
General Fund $0.238997 $0.214408 $0.214186 $0.211100 $0.211100

& S Fund 0.079611 0.084200 0.084422 0.087508 0.063400

TOTAL $0.318608 $0.298608 $0.298608 $0.298608 $0.274500

Source: I ne Issuer
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FUNS ~ALA~~ES ~AB~~13

General Operating Fund
General Obligation Debt Service Fund
Water &Sewer Operating Fund
Special Revenue Funds (Hotel Occupancy &Court)
Street Improvements Fund (Sales Tax)

Capital Improvements Fund

Unaudited ~s of Unaudified as of
~u*n4ami~ar ̀~(1 '7111 ~. _ian~~ary ~9 )(lia

$ 1,889,908 $ 1,784,116

233,053 379,54~k

3,963,521 4,268,647

1,330,078 1,414,517

1,985,602 2,143,973

8,773,845 7,774,489

~'ofal $ 18,176,007 $ 17,765,286

1 ' E

At an election held on March 26, 1980, the registered voters of the City approved an additional one-half percent ('/z%) sales tax to
be collected for economic developmen4 purposes in accordance with Chapters 501, 502 and 504, Texas Local Government Code,
as amended (formerly Section 4A of Article 5190.6, Texas Revised Civil Sta4utes). Levy of 4his sales tex began on October 1, 1992.

At an election held nn November 6, 2007, registered voters of the City voted to reduce 4he one-half percent (Yz%o) additional sales
lax ioi economic devei~~menF i~ arie-quarier percent (%n%} and approved an additional one-quarter percent (%a%) additional sales
tax for street maintenance and improvements. Levy of these additional sales taxes did not begin until July 1, 2010.

At an election held on May 8, 2010, the registered votes o. the City voied io uissolve tine 4A Economic Devei~prnenQ ~,gep~r'atic,n
and approved an additional one-quarter percent (%<%)sates tax to be collected for communi4y development purposes in accordance
with Chapters 501, 502 and 505, Texas Local Government Code, as amended (formerly Section 4B of Ar4icle 5190.6, Texas
Revised Civil Statutes). Levy of this community development sales tax began on October 1, 2010.

The City has not held an election regarding an additional sales tax for reduction of property tax reduction.

The Commissioners Court of McLennan County levies and assesses the remaining '/s% additional sales and use tax for ad valorem
property tax reduction.

City Portion 0.50%10.25%
'1.50% 1.OU% Gi4y Por?ion ($) Equivalen4 of Econamic fl.25%

Fiscal Total City % of Ad Valorem Ad Valorem Deveopment Streets
tsar Gol9eciions Go99eci9ons sax Lsw 7'ax Rats CallecYians Collections
2006 $ 2,698,110 $ 1,798,740 233.64% $0.69 $ 899,370 ~a> $

2007 2,875,858 1,917,238 249.5%% 0.70 958,619 ~~~ -

2008 2,991,705 1,994,470 25620% 0.69 997,235 ~a~ _

2009 3,034,576 2,023,051 249.83% 0.63 1,011,525 ~a~ -

2010 3,071,535 2,049,690 254.11% 0.63 1,024,845 ~a~ -

2011 3,132,993 2,088,662 ?_40.65% 0.64 522,166 ~b~ 522,166

2012 3,161,020 2,107,347 233.29% 0.64 526,837 ~b~ 526,837

2013 3,27II,348 2,185,565 217.11% 0.65 546,391 ~~~ 546,391

2014 3,282,297 2,188,198 20629% 0.62 547,050 ~n~ 547,050

2015 3,433,253 2,288,836 210.62.% 0.67 572,209 ~b~ 572,209

~a~ Represents 0.50% collections.
~v1 aoN.ogo;,rg n ?FoU CC!!gC!icr,.,.

Sources: Texas Comptroller of Public AccountsWebsite http://ecpa.cpa.state.tx.us/allocation/AllocHist

!dote: The Comptrol9er's websi#e figures list sales tax revenues in fhe month they are deliverers fa the Cify, which 9s
twa months after fh2y aee generated/aollacieri.
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OVERLAPPING DEBT DATA AND INFORMATION TABLE 15
(As of February 29, 2016)

Gross Debt % Amount
Taxing Body Principal Overlapping Overlapping

Connally Independent School District $ 18,325,000 0.92% $ 168,590
La Vega Independent School District 42,657,068 48.06% 20,500,987
McLennan County 12,860,000 2.41% 309,926
McLennan County Junior College District 67,370,000 2.41 % 1,623,617

Total Gross Overlapping Debt $ 22,603,120

City of Bellmead 11,200,000 ~a~ 100.00% 11,200,000 ~a>

Total Gross Direct and Overlapping Debt Principal $ 33,803,120 ~a~

Ratio of Direct and Overlapping Debt to 2015 Net Taxable Assessed Valuation 8.86% ~a~
Ratio of Direct and Overlapping Debt to 2015 Actual Market Value 7.38% ~a~
Per Capita Direct and Overlapping Debt $3,319 ~a~

Note: Figures above show Gross General Obligation Debt Principal for the City of Bellmead, Texas
The Issuer's Net General Obligation Debt Principal $ 2,390,706 ~a~

Calculations on Net General Obligation Debt Principal would change the above figures as follows:

Total Net Direct and Overlapping Debt Principal $ 24,993,826 ~a~

Ratio of Net Direct and Overlapping Debt Principal to 2015 Net Taxable Assessed Valuation 6.55% ~a~
Ratio of Net Direct and Overlapping Debt Principal to 2015 Actual Market Value 5.46% ~a~
Per Capita Net Direct and Overlapping Debt Principal $2,454 ~a>

2015 Net Taxable Assessed Valuation $381,645,967

~a~ Includes the Certificates.
Source: The most recent Texas Municipal Reports published by the Municipal Advisory Council of Texas

ASSESSED VALUATION AND TAX RATE OF OVERLAPPING ENTITIES TABLE 16

2015 Net Taxable 2015
Governmental Entitv Assessed Valuation % of Actual Tax Rate
Connally Independent School District $ 601,186,463 100% $1.28163
La Vega Independent School District 706,688,132 100% 1.45900
McLennan County 13,193,967,705 100% 0.53529
McLennan Community College 14,535,691,854 100% 0.14972

Source: McLennan County Appraisal District Reports

AUTHORIZED BUT UNISSUED GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS OF
DIRECT AND OVERLAPPING GOVERNMENTAL ENTITIES TABLE 17

Date of Amount Issued
Taxing Bodv Authorization Purpose Authorized To-Date Unissued
La Vega Independent School District None
McLennan County None
McLennan County Community College Dist. None
City of Bellmead None

Source: Texas Municipal Reports published by the Municipal Advisory Council of Texas
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~~l~ ~9-3~~G~~ Ira ~'4JR9D ~AL1aN~~S T:1~LE '3~

Fiscal Year Ended SepEember 30

(Unaudited)

F2EVENUES: 2015 2094 2013 2012 2011

PropertyTaxes $ 789,181 ~ 768,018 $ 721,099 $ 704,056 $ 638,877

Sales Taxes 2,869,045 2,735,250 2,731,957 2,634,182 2,610,813

Franchise Taxes 531,867 523,OS5 492,154 522,II44 569,355

Hotel Occupancy Taxes - - - -

OtherTaxes 57,993 59,713 52,305 43,236 44,197

Licenses and Permits 42,170 46,792 55,093 34,668 112,098

I ntergovernmental 69,~J87 92,029 89,713 93,191 -

Rent - 40 - - -

Parksand Recreation Fees - - - -

Finesand Fees 321,537 357,416 371,414 269,182 307,005

InvesFmenf Earnings 20,158 17,292 15,658 8,847 12,778
Miscellaneous 663,156 624,226 479,102 196,729 100,108

Total Revenues $ 5,357,094 $ 5,223,861 $ 5,008,495 $ 4,506,935 $ 4,395,231

EXPENDITURES:

General Government $ 1,014,783 $ 982,935 $ 909,033 $ 1,379,384 $ 1,284,233
PUuiiC ~aieiy 3, i~57,47~3 3,U4U,LL5 L,23~I ti,7J6 L,53b,4L% L,~14L,R%3

Highways and Stre2fs 821,014 5~4,OOo 616,325 510,S9i 034,40 i

Economic and Physical Development - - 1,000 160,014 37,714

Culture and Recreation 88,032 82,883 69,733 51,347 48,922
Debi Service - - - 10,000 -

Total Expenditures $ 5,111,303 $ 4,69Q,051 ~ 4,414,847 $ 4,648,069 $ 4,147,743

Excess (Deficit) of Revenues

Over Expenditures $ 245,791 $ 533,810 $ 593,648 $ (141,134) $ 247,488

OTHER FlNAYVCIPlG SOURCES (USES):

Transfers In $ - $ - $ - $ 30,991 $ -

Transfers Out - - - - -

Proceeds from Debt Issuance - - 230,000 -
Sale of Property - - -

~-

- -

7otai tither Financing Sources (Uses) $ s $ - ~ $ 260,991 $ -

Net Change in Fund Balance $ 245,791 $ 533,810 $ 593,648 $ 119,857 $ 247,488

Fund Balance -October 1 (Beginning) 3,811,730 3,283,920 'L,690,282 2,493,984 2,246,496 ~a~
Prior Year Adjustment - - - 76,441 -

Fund Balance -September 30 (Ending) $ 4 (163 521 ~W 3.817.730 ~_ _3.283_,930_ $ 2,690,282 $ 2,493.984

~a~ Restatement of the fund balance to include the Grant Fund and Street Special Fund and to remove the Court technology.

~v~ viiaiiyc iii ili2 i~cJ.iviiiiiy icyiiii2riiciriS /vi .cij~cCigi iZBVBi~u@ i-iiiiuS, pfB'viOiiSly' i@pvii@u Wiih ih8 G2112r"8i Fii~~us, tCJUit`~U !l7 G 7~UUC~U 1`LIIfG Uc71F (7G2

for the General Fund.

Source: The Issuer's Audited Annual Financial Reports
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CONDENSED WATERWORKS AND SEWER SYSTEM OPERATING STATEMENT TABLE 19

Revenues~a~

Expenses~b~

Net Revenue Available for Debt Service

Annual Debt Service Requirements

for Revenue Bonds

Coverage of Revenue Debt Service

Annual Debt Service Requirements

for General Obligation Debt Service

Paid from System Revenues

Coverage of All Debt Paid From System

Revenues

Customer Count:

Fiscal Year Ended September 30

(Unaudited)

2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

$ 2,633,910 $ 2,760,460 $ 2,681,105 $ 2,683,083 $ 2,602,693

1,957,177 ~°~ 1,523,105 1,528,841 1,339,988 1,479,491

$ 676,733 $ 1,237,355 $ 1,152,264 $ 1,343,095 # $ 1,123,202

N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

$ 313,147 $ 190,740 $ 193,962 $ 189,948 $ 189,948

2.16 x 6.49 x 5.94 x 7.07 x

Water 3,455 3,454 3,389 3,381

Sewer 3,357 3,356 3,276 3,267

~a~ Revenues include operating revenues, interest income and other revenues of the Waterworks and Sewer System.

~b~ Expenses include total expenses less depreciation and amortization of the Waterworks and Sewer System.

~O~ During Fiscal Year 2015, (wo of the City's water wells failed and were replaced at a one-time cost of $350, 000.

Sources: Information from the Issuer and the Issuer's Annual Audited Financial Reports

5.91 x

3,372

3,263

/•~']



WAT~F2 RATES TABLE 20
(Basea on lvlonthly Billing)

Effective March 1.2015

Minimum Monthly Charge -First 2,000 Gallons $ 17.00
Per each additional 1,000 Gallons of Consumption (Within City Limits) $ 3.68
Per each additional 1,000 Gallons of Consumption (Outside City Limits) $ 5.20

PRINCIPAL WATER CUSTOMERS 20'i4-2015 TABLE 21
(As ofi September 30, 2015)

Name of Cus4omer

Atrium of Bellmead

Bordeaux Apartments

Faglecres! Apartments

Belimead Carwash

Delta Inn
Home Depot
Cloverleaf Mobile Park

Bellmead Kidney Center

HEB Grocery

Holiday Inn

Total

l otal Wa4er Sales as of September 30, 2015 (unadudited)

Average Mon4hly Average
Consumption (Gals.) Monthiv Bill

2,287,400 $ $,427.13

739,000 2,729.02

528,925 ~ ,955.94

510, 500 1, 888.14

169,700 6.40
177,100 061.23
176,300 658.28
313,150 1,169.39
221,300 831.38
212,700 ~ '%99.'74

5,336,075 $ 19,126.65 ~a~

$ 1,633,850

~a~ Principal Water Customers represent approximately 94.0.5% of total annual water sales.

SEWER RATES TABLE 22
(Based on Monthly Bil/ingJ

EffectiveMarch 1, 2015

Schedule A Customers Minimum (First 1,000 Gallons) ~ 9.50
(single family, multi-family, trailer park, charitable, office buildings)
Per each additional 1,000 Gallons of Consumption $ 2.00
Maximum Charge $ 21.00

Schedule 8 Customers $ 9.50
(small businesses, school)
Per each additional 1,000 Gallons of Consumption $ 2.00

Schedule C Cus4omers
4-inch Sewer Taps $ 1,150.00
6-inch Sewer Taps $ 1,400.00

Schedule DCustomer -Union Pacific Railway Company Contract

PRINCIPAL SEWER CUSTOMERS 2014-2015 TABLE 23
(As of September 30, 2015)

Average Monthly Average
Name of Cus4omer Consumption {Gais.1 Monthiv Bill
Atrium of Bellmead 2,287,400 $ 4,584.30
Bordeaux Apartments 739,000 1,487.50
Eaglecrest Apartments 528,925 1,067.35
Bellm~ad Carwash 510,500 1.030.50
~Jelta inn 169,700 348.90
Home Depot 177,100 363.70
cloverleaf Mnhile Park 176,300 362.10
Bellmead Kidney Center 313,150 635.80
HEB Grocery 221,300 452.10
Holiday Inn 212,700 434.90

Total 5,336,075 $ 10,767.15 ~~~

1 otal Sewer Charges a~ of September 30, 2015 (unaudited) $_ II51,433

~̀ '~ principal Sewer Customers represent approximately 15.1 £3% of total annual sewer charges.
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GENERAL INFORMATION REGARDING THE CITY OF BELLMEAD
AND McLENNAN COUNTY, TEXAS

General

The City of Bellmead is a residential area located three miles to the northeast of Waco on U.S. Highway 84. The 2010 census
was 9,901, increasing 7.46% since 2000. The current population estimate is 10,184. Many residents of the City work in Waco.

McLennan County is located in central Texas and comprises the Waco Metropolitan Statistical Area (MSA). The County's
economy is based primarily on manufacturing and agriculture, with higher education also making a significant impact on the
economy. The County is traversed by interstate Highway 35, United States Highways 77, 81 and 84, State Highways 6, 31 and
317, and 29 farm-to-market and park roads. The County economy has experienced a growth trend from new industry,
expansions of existing industry and new commercial investment that is generating service sector and manufacturing jobs. The
City of Waco is the county seat and a center for manufacturing, tourism, conventions and agribusiness for central Texas.

The County is a major center for higher education. Baylor University, the world's largest Southern Baptist University, with an
enrollment of over 13,000 is located in the City of Waco. Also located in the County are McLennan Community College and the
Texas State Technical College -James Connally Campus.

Recreational and camping facilities are provided at Fort Fisher Park and Lake Waco. Other points of interest include the Homer
Garrison, Jr. Texas Ranger Museum, Texas Ranger Hail of Fame, Cameron Park and the Cen-Tex Zoo. Activities of interest
include the Brazos River Festival, symphony orchestra, civic theater, college and university events, Heart O' Texas Fair Rodeo
and the Central Texas Fair.

Source: Latest Texas Municipal Report published by the Municipal Advisory Council of Texas

Population:

City of McLennan
Year Bellmead Countv

2015 Estimate 10,184 243,441
2010 Census 9,901 234,906
2000 Census 9,214 213,517
1990 Census 8,336 189,123

Sources: United States Bureau of fhe Census and the City of Bellmead

B-1



~.e~c~ing ~mpiny~rs ~eiimead and the surrounding ,area:

~rnpiayer

Baylor University

L-3 Integrated Systems

Wal-Mart

HEB Grocery

Sanderson Farms

Texas State Technical College
La Vega Independent School CSistrict

Sam's Club

Clayton Homes

Source: Information from the issuer

education

~~~„lJp ~ g

Id~~l,~~~' ~1

i_i/B3~ O~ bUSiYiBS~ ici~fitoli"iiler~

Higher Education 2,675
Aircraft maintenance /Modification 2,300
Retail Sales 1,656

Grocery 1,500
Poultry Factory 1,01
Technical Higher Education 672
Public School Education 415
Retail Sales 180
Manufactured Homes 1 %5

The City is served by the La V~;ga independent School District (the "District"), which is fully accredited by the Texas Education
~g~ncy. The high schaoi is also accredited by the Southern Association of Colleges and Schools. The Disirici is comprised of
two elementary schools for grades kindergarten through third, one intermediate school for grades fourth through sixth, and one
high school Por grades ninth through 4welfth. All campuses o~fier enriched curricula with special programs for gifted/talented
students as wail as students aci~ievii~g below grade level and are equipped with computers and full cafeteria service. The
Districts enrollment for the 2015-2016 school year was 3,031 (as of January 1, 2016), and the District employs 415 persons,
190 of which are classroom teachers.

Source: Information from the Issuer

~aN~; F~;vc ~Pafi~tiv;

McLennan County ln/aco fViSA S4ate of Texas

Dec€:rr~ber December December December December ~ecemiaer
2015 2014 2015 2014 20'9 201~d

Civilian Labnr force 109,734 111,640 116,220 118,297 13,077,390 13,152,203
Total Employed 1Q5,632 107,205 111,$58 113,56G 12,522,151 12,612,084
Total Unemployed 4,102 4,435 4,362 4,733 555,239 540,119
°/a Unemployed 3.7% 4.0% 3.8% 4.0% 4.2% 4.1

Unemployed (United States) 4.8% 5.4% 4.8% 5.4°/o 4.8% 5.4°/o

Source: Texas Workforce Commission, Labor Market Information Department.
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Norton Rose Fulbright US LLP

300 Convent Street, Suite 2100

San Antonio, Texas 78205-3792

United States

Tel +1 210 224 5575

Fax +1 210 270 7205
nortonrosefulbright.com

FINAL

I N REGARD to the authorization and issuance of the "City of Bellmead, Texas Combination Tax
and Limited Pledge Revenue Certificates of Obligation, Series 2016" (the Certificates), dated
March 1, 2016 in the aggregate principal amount of $2,400,000 we have reviewed the legality
and validity of the issuance thereof by the City Council of the City of Bellmead, Texas (the
Issuer). The Certificates are issuable in fully registered form only in denominations of $5,000 or
any integral multiple thereof (within a Stated Maturity). The Certificates have Stated Maturities
of March 1 in each of the years 2017 through 2030, March 1, 2032, March 1, 2034, and March
1, 2036, unless optionally or mandatorily redeemed prior to Stated Maturity in accordance with
the terms stated on the face of the Certificates. Interest on the Certificates accrues from the
dates, at the rates, in the manner, and is payable on the dates as provided in the ordinance (the
Ordinance) authorizing the issuance of the Certificates. Capitalized terms used herein without
definition shall have the meanings ascribed thereto in the Ordinance.

WE HAVE SERVED AS BOND COUNSEL for the Issuer solely to pass upon the legality and
validity of the issuance of the Certificates under the laws of the State of Texas and with respect
to the exclusion of the interest on the Certificates from the gross income of the owners thereof
for federal income tax purposes and for no other purpose. We have not been requested to
investigate or verify, and have not independently investigated or verified, any records, data, or
other material relating to the financial condition or capabilities of the Issuer or the Issuer's
combined utility system and have not assumed any responsibility with respect to the financial
condition or capabilities of the Issuer or the disclosure thereof in connection with the sale of the
Certificates. We express no opinion and make no comment with respect to the sufficiency of
the security for or the marketability of the Certificates. Our role in connection with the Issuer's
Official Statement prepared for use in connection with the sale of the Certificates has been
limited as described therein.

WE HAVE EXAMINED, the applicable and pertinent laws of the State of Texas and the United
States of America. In rendering the opinions herein we rely upon (1) original or certified copies
of the proceedings of the City Council of the Issuer in connection with the issuance of the
Certificates, including the Ordinance; (2) customary certifications and opinions of officials of the
Issuer; (3) certificates executed by officers of the Issuer relating to the expected use and
investment of proceeds of the Certificates and certain other funds of the Issuer and to certain
other facts solely within the knowledge and control of the Issuer; and (4) such other
documentation, including an examination of the Certificate executed and delivered initially by
the Issuer and such matters of law as we deem relevant to the matters discussed below. In
such examination, we have assumed the authenticity of all documents submitted to us as
originals, the conformity to original copies of all documents submitted to us as certified copies,
and the accuracy of the statements and information contained in such certificates. We express

Norton Rose Fulbright US LLP is a limited liability partnership registered under the laws of Texas.

Norton Rose Fulbright US LI.P, Norton Rose Fulbright LLP, Norton Rose Fulbright Australia, NoRon Rose Fulbright Canada ALP and Norton Rose
Fulbright South Africa Inc are separate legal entities and all of them are members of Norton Rose Fulbright Verein, a Swiss verein. Norton Rose
Fulbright Verein helps coordinate the activities of the members but does not itself provide legal services to clients. Details of each entity, with certain
regulatory information, are available at nortonrosefulbright.com.
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no opinion concerning any effecfi on fhe following opinions which may result from changes in law
efiFecfied affer the daf~ hereof.

F3ASEL~ t~(~ QUR EXAMII~ATIOI~, IT I~ (JUP~ OPIf~ION that fhe Gertificafes have been duly
authorized and issued in conformity with the laws o~ the Sfiafe ofi Texas now in force and fhai the
Certificates are valid and legally binding obligations of the Issuer enforceable in accordance with
the terms and conditions described fiherein, excepfi to fihe extent that the enforceability thereof
may be ai~ecteci by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, rr~oraforium, nr other similar laws
affecting creditor' rights or the exercise of judicial discretion in accordance with general
principles of equity. The Certificates are payable from the proceeds of an ad valorem tax levied,
within the limitations prescribed by law, upon all taxable property in the Issuer and are
addirionaiiy payaale from and securea by a lien on and pledge ofi the Piedgeci Revenues, being
a li!?'?~f~~l ~!??c~~~!~± of }I~4 p~14+ R~~~t?n~~~r ~l~rite~~! f;-rzm #hr nrnmr~tin;; of +ham lr=~,'="'~ ~~mh~r~ri utjl~+~;

syste;~ {t; ~ ~yste~n.), s~aci~ lie~~ ~n ~~~a pl~ag~ ~~ she limi~s~ ~tnour3f ~~vN~f r~svenues being
subordinate and inferior to the lien on and pledge thereof providing for the payment and security
of any Prior Lien Obligations, Junior Lien Obligations, or Subordinafie Lien Obligations hereafter
issued by tie Issuer. The Issuer alsa preciously auttioriz~d the issuance ~i tYi~' Lii~iii~~ PI~CIf~~'
Obligations that are payable in part from and secured by a lien on and pledge of a limited
amount of the filet Rever~ue~ of the ~ysterr~ in accordance with thn o~di~anc~ authorizing ih~
issuance of the currently outstanding Limited Pledge Obligations. in the Ordinance, the Issuer
reserves and retains the right to issue Prior Lien Obligations, Junior Lien Obligations,
subordinate Lien Obligations, and Additional Limited Pledge t)biigafiions without limitation as zo
principal amount but subject to any terms, condi#ions, or restrictions as may be applicable
thereto ui~de~ lavv oa- otherwise.

~3A~ED Qf~ QUR EXAMl~fA;~l~f~, 1T I~ FURTI-I~R ~U~? flPlNIflN $hat, ~~sur~ing continuing
compliance after the dale hereof by fihe issuer wiri~ the provisions or` the C3rdinance and in
reliance upan the r~pr~s~ntations and cerkifications of the Issuer made in a certificate of even
date herewith pertaining to the use, expenditure, and investment of the proceeds of the
Certificates, under existing statutes, regulations, published rulings, and court decisions (1)
interest on the Certificates will be excludable from the gross income, as defined in section 61 of
the fnternaf 6~evenue Code at 1986, as amended to the date hereof (the Code), of the owners
thereof fior federal income fax purposes, pursuan# to section 103 of the bode, and (2) interest on
the Certificates will not be included in computing the alternative minimum taxable income of the
n~ninPrc fhgrpnf ~nihn ara inrli~~irl~_ialc nr s~Yrc~nt ac h~r~;naf+~r ~Ir~S~~'9~'2~, ''u'~"~vr~+;^;?i.

W~ GALL YOUR ~T~ENTIDN TO THE FACT that, with respect Yo our opinion in clause (2)
above, inters# ~n ail fax-exemr~t obliaafions, such as the t~,e~~ticates, o~~rned b;~ a cc~rp~rafiion
will be included in such corporation's adjusted current earnings for purposes of calculating the
alternative minimum taxable income of such corporation, other than an S corporation, a mutual
~ur~d, a fi~a~ciai as~e~ 5@CUi'IiIZ~~iCil invea~~e~t gust, a r~~i estdt~ rfi~~igac~~ IilV2Sirri~rii

GOndUIT, UI` a real @SLd~e IC1VeSItl1@Ili ICUSL. A COI"~Ot"atiOtl's alternative minimum taxable income is
the basis on ~rhich the alternative minimum tax imposed by section 55 of the Code wil! be
computed.
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Legal Opinion of Norton Rose Fulbright US LLP, San Antonio, Texas, in connection with
the authorization and issuance of "CITY OF BELLMEAD, TEXAS COMBINATION TAX AND
LIMITED PLEDGE REVENUE CERTIFICATES OF OBLIGATION, SERIES 2016"

WE EXPRESS NO OTHER OPINION with respect to any other federal, state, or local tax
consequences under present law or any proposed legislation resulting from the receipt or
accrual of interest on, or the acquisition or disposition of, the Certificates. Ownership of tax-
exempt obligations such as the Certificates may result in collateral federal tax consequences to,
among others, financial institutions, life insurance companies, property and casualty insurance
companies, certain foreign corporations doing business in the United States, S corporations with
subchapter C earnings and profits, owners of an interest in a financial asset securitization
investment trust, individual recipients of Social Security or Railroad Retirement Benefits,
individuals otherwise qualifying for the earned income credit, and taxpayers who may be
deemed to have incurred or continued indebtedness to purchase or carry, or who have paid or
incurred certain expenses allocable to, tax-exempt obligations.

OUR OPINIONS ARE BASED on existing law, which is subject to change. Such opinions are
further based on our knowledge of facts as of the date hereof. We assume no duty to update or
supplement our opinions to reflect any facts or circumstances that may thereafter come to our
attention or to reflect any changes in any law that may thereafter occur or become effective.
Moreover, our opinions are not a guarantee of result and are not binding on the Internal
Revenue Service; rather, such opinions represent our legal judgment based upon our review of
existing law that we deem relevant to such opinions and in reliance upon the representations
and covenants referenced above.

Norton Rose Fulbright US LLP
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APPENDIX D

EXCERPTS FROM THE CITY OF BELLMEAD AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED
SEPTEMBER 30, 2014

(Independent Auditor's Report, Managements Discussion and Analysis, General Financial Statements and Notes to the Financial
Statements -not intended to be a complete statement of the Issuer's financial condition. Reference is made to the complete Annual

Financial Report for further information.)
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P1ITTILI..O, BRC?WN c4r I-TILL, ~.. ~.. ~~.
C EkTIPIED PUBLIC ACGpUNTANTS ~ BUSINESS CONSULTANTS

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

1̀'o the Honorable Mayor and
Members of the City Council

City of Bellmead, Texas

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the
business-type activities, the aggregate discretely presented component units, each major fund, and the
aggregate remaining fund information of City of Bellmead, Texas, as of and for the year ended
September 30, 2014, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the
City of Bellmeads' basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.

ManagemenP's Responsibility for t/te Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this
includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and
fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

Auditors' Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards,
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from
material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment,
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the
entity's preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity's internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant
accounting estimates made by managemezit, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our audit opinions.

•lFi1.b7L6259
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Opinions

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects,
the respective financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major
fund, and the aggregate remaining fiend information of the City of Bellmead, as of September 30, 2014,
and the respective changes in financial position thereof for the year then ended in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Change in Accounting Principle

As discussed in Note 1 to the Financial Statements, in 2014 the City adopted new accounting
guidance, GASB Statement No. 65, Items Previously Reported as Assets and Liabilities. Our opinion is
not modified with respect to this matter.

Other Matters

Requzred Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the
management's discussion and analysis and budgetary comparison information on pages 3-10 and 39-44
be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, although not a part of the
basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers
it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate
operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required
supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the
information and comparing the information for consistency with management's responses to our
inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic
financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because
the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion oz provide any
assurance.

Other In, formation

Our audit was conducted far the purpose of forrr~ing opinions on the financial statements that
collectively comprise the City of Bellmead's basic financial statements. The combining and individual
nonmajor fund financial statements are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a
required part of the basic financial statements.

The combining and individual nonmajor fund financial statements are the responsibility of
management and were derived from and relate directly to the underlying accounting and other records
used to prepare the basic financial statements. Such information has been subjected to the auditing
procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures,
including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other
records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves,
and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America. In our opinion, the combining and individual nonmajor fund financial statements are
fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the basic financial staternents as a whole.

March 17, 201 S
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The manageanent of the City of Bellmead, Texas (the "City") offers the following overview and analysis
of the City's financial statements and financial activities for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2014.
It should be read in conjunction with the City's financial statements, which follow this section.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

The assets and deferred outflows of resources of the City exceeded its liabilities at the
close of the most recent fiscal year by $29,339,517 (net position). Of this amoLult,
$8,796,784 (unrestricted net position} may be used to meet the City's ongoing
obligations to citizens and creditors in accordance with fund designation and fiscal
policies. In the prior year, the City's assets exceeded its liabilities by $26,923,237.
Of this amount, $8,327,981 (unrestxieted net position) could have been used to meet
the City's ongoing obligations to citizens and creditors in accordance with the City's
fund designation and fiscal policies.

• The City's net investment in capital assets increased by $310,822 from the prior year.

As of September 30, 2014, the City of Bellmead's governmental funds reported
ending fund balances of $12,701,684. Of this amount, $1,909,873 is unassigned fund
balance in the General Fund available for use within the City's fund designation and
fiscal policies. In the prior year, the City's governmental funds reported ending fund
balances of $7,632,482. Of this amount, $1,$69,707 was unassigned fund balance in
the General Fund available for use within the City's fiscal policies.

• As of September 30, 2014, the restricted net position of the govenunental activities is
$6,100,197 of which $4,695,853 is restricted for economic development and
$1,106,713 was restricted for culture and recreation. In the prior year, restricted net
position of the governmental activities was $4,483,968 of which $3,166,471 was
restricted for economic development and $995,230 was restricted for culture and
recreation.

As of September 30, 2014, the City of Bellmead's Enterprise Fund reported ending
fund net position of $8,335,515. Of this amount, $5,20$,403 is unrestricted fund net
position available for use within the City's fund designation and fiscal policies. In
the prior year, the City's Enterprise Fund reported ending fund net position of
$7,892,677. Of this amount, $5,213,955 was unrestricted fund net position available
for use within the City's fiscal policies.

• The total cost of the City's programs represents the inclusion of the City Council's
funding priorities including: employee compensation and insurance, maintenance of
the water system, and equipment for maintenance and operations.



rii~ ~isc;ussic~ai anci analysis is i~7iencied io serve as an iricroduc~iozi iv one ~itiy's basic ~in~nciai
stat~me~~ts. Thy City's basic financial state9nents inc~lud~ tll~°ee ca~~lponents: 1) ~ov~rn ~~t-wide
#financial statements; 2} fu1~d financial staleme~ts9 and 3) notes tc~ the financial statements. This report
also ~;ontains other supplementary information in addition to the basic financial statements.

G~~e~°n entmwic~e I+i~ancfal ~at~r~e~ts

~̀'l~e ~ov~rnment-wide financial statements are designed to pzovide reade~•s ~,vifh a broad overview of the
pity's ~nar~c~s, ~n a nlag~ae~° sitnilaz• to ~ ~ri~r~.ie~sector b~tsitiess.

The statement of net position presents information on all. of the City's assets and liabilities, with tla~
difference betv✓een the two ~•eported as nit ~c~s~tion, ~v~r time, i~cr~ases or decreases ire nit pc~sit~on
may se~•ve as a useful indicator of whether the financial position of the City is improving or
d~t~rzarating.

The statez~eXlt ~f activ~t~Ps nr~sents inf~rm~.tion show'n~ ho~r~ the rig's net positiox: changed during the
most recent fiscal year. All changes in net t~osition are reported as soon as the underlying event ~zvin
riS~ t~J t~"!P ~'~?Tl~?~ QCCL!1'S~ :'~~s`lI'C~,~SS L~~ 4~1~ ~117i111~' Of ]'€',atL'L~ ~~S~3 ~`Ji✓VS. ~A1LISg T~`Jesl'6idS ill'i~ vA~~ddS4✓J

are reported in this statement for some items that will only result in cash flor~vs in future fiscal periods.

~otla of the ~~~~~rnm~n~-vvici~ fin~n~~al statements distinguish functions o~ thv pity that are principally
supported by citations, sales tax, street tax, and intergovernmental revenues (goveznmental activities)
~rc~n3 other fi~~~ations th~~t are ~r~ierad~c~ L~ r~~over aa~ or a si~n~fic~nt portion. ~f tliaiz° cons thz°a~gh us~a
fees and charges (business-type activzties). The governmental activities of the City include general
~oveY~runent, public safety, economze development, culture and recreation, and highways and streets.
The business-type activities of the pity include a water distribution operation and sewer sezvices,

The govenunentWwide financial statemegits pan be found on pages 11 and 12 of this report.

~'a~n t~ancial staters~ents> 1~ fiand is a ~ro~apin~ of r~lateci ~~~ounts that as used to maintain control
o~v~r r~st~urces that h~v~ been s~~;reg~t~~ for spec~fi~ ~c~zvities or abj~~tives. The City, like o~hez• state;
and local goveir~ments, uses fund accounting to ensure ar~d demonstrate campliance with finance-related
legal requirements. All of the funds of the City cap be divided into two categories: governmental funds
and proprietary funds.

~'~v~~°r~~rser~trr! efis~t~~o ~avernmen~al funds are eased t~ account for essentially tl~e same functions
reported as ~overnrnental activities in the government-wide financial statements. However, unlilc~ the
~~V~Tl7tY]eTtt-~717f~~ ~111~11~;i~1 ~r~tP~r,P„t~o n~,~Q,-~,~~,~t~t ~t1nt~ finanri~~ cta4PmPntc Fnr.~7c nn nP~r-4arm~_ . ___--___------ ------- -----,.____w_ ....._____~,___., _~d.,.~ __..,._ _..____

inflows and outflows of spendable resources, as well as on balances of spendable resources available at
the end af~ the fiscal year. such information may be useful in evaluating a gnv~rnment'~ near-term
illlc"12i~1I1~ I'~C~L11i~TT1~1"dt~.

Because the focus of governmental funds is narrower than that of the government wide fanai~cial
statem~nt~, it is iisef~.~l to compai~~ t31e izi%rmation pr~se~3ted fog• ~ov~s~~m~ntal F~a~ds r~rr~h sitrril~z~
information pz•es~nted for- gc~ve~-n~n~ntal activities in the gove~•n111ent-~raide financial sia~ements. By
cloin~ s~, reader zr~~y bett~z• ~~~aderstaxzci the langW~errn i~1~p~.~t ~:[~ the ~;os~e~-nment's neap•-t~rn~ finaz~cin~
d~cisiors. ~3~t~ the ~flve~~rra ,nta] fu~7c; b~~lar~,~ sheet and the g~v~r~~ne;~tal Band s~a~emen~ of reve~~aes,
eYp~nditures, and changes in fund l~ala~~ces ~~rovide a rreco~aciliatior~ to facilitate this c;omp~risaz~
bet~,~reen ~ov~rnm~ntal finds and gc~vernm~i3ta1 activities.
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The basic governmental fund financial statements can be found on pages 13 through 17 of this report.

Proprietary funds. The City maintains one type of proprietary fund. Enterprise Funds are used to
report the same functions presented as business-type activities in the government-wide financial
statements. The City uses Enterprise Funds to account for its water distribution operations and sewer
services.

Proprietary fund financial statements provide the same type of infornnation as the government-wide
financial statements, only in more detail.

The basic proprietary fund financial statements can be found on pages 18 through 20 of this report.

Notes to financial statements. The notes provide additional information that is essential to a full
understanding of the data provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements. The notes to
the financial statements can be found on pages 21— 38 of this report.

GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS

Net assets. The City's combined net position was $29,339,517 at September 30, 2014, which is a
8.97% increase from September 30, 2013. (See Table A-1) The largest portion of the City's net
position, $14,422,110, xeflects its investment in capital assets (e.g., land, buildings and improvements,
equipment, and water and sewer facilities), less any related debt used to acquire those assets. The City
uses these capital assets to provide services to citizens; consequently, these assets are not available for
future spending. Although the City's investment in its capital assets is reported net of related debt, it
should be noted that the resources needed to repay this debt must be provided from other sources since
the capital assets themselves cannot be used to liquidate these liabilities.

Table A-1
City of Bellmead, Texas' Net Position

Governmental Activities Business-type Activities Totals

2014 2013 2014 2013 _2014 v_, 2013 _ _.._

Current and other assets $ 14,271,930 $ 9,270,202 $ 10,352,535 $ ~.7 ~7.;~ ~~ $ 24,624,465 $ 15,007,747

Capitalasse~s ,~_ M 11,523,753, ll.877.168 3.695.555 3~~~~~.~13_~ _ 15,214,308 ~ IS 225.471

Total assets 5;' ̀~ <,~,~~.~ 21 1.a7.370~ r --14,9 8,090 ~ ~) (:;ia.£~~~5 _ ~~:`t 1;,773 X30,233.218

Total deferred outflows of resources _~ - 13;888 ~_ 1$,518 _̀ _u13.888 18 51,$

Long-term liabilities 4,195,272 1,330,029 4,941,788 ''~~~'.7`~~ 9,]37,060 1,852,828

Other liabilities 596.409 786,781 ?k~~#,G7S' t~n8, ~`>il 1.381,08a 1475 671

Total liabilities 4,791,681 2;1Ifi,$I0 5726,463 I?l t f^9 ]0;518,144 3,323,499

Net position:

Net investment in

capital assets 11,315,424 l],~~~~~~s? 3,IOb,686 ',n'*k3.3t)~ 14,422,110 14,111,288

Restricted 6,IOQ,147 ~,#~~:!,: ~9 20,426 ?t),~11,9 6,120,623 4,A83,963

Unrestricted ,3,588,38.1 3, I 1 I rt ;'(, 5:~475,~4~1;3 ~ ~' ~.~ X155 _....... 3 796 784 8,327 98_L

Total net position $ 21,004,002 ~- "~~' ' ~ ~ ~ $ 8.335.515 ~`6~ ~~? f> > ' '~ 29 339 517 ~ 26,923,237
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~'i~ c~~ ~~°piember 3i~y 2~i~, ~h~ a~ity gas ~osz~iv~ baia~a~~s ~~ aii thr~~ ~ate~t~ri~~ ~#:n~t ~sse~s, ~~~'r~ dog• tiz~
t7tJ~7Ft°nSa~Pgtt ~S ~. ~7.~~30~a;' 25 ~r'~I}.'~,~~ ta.~ :iP~)ulil~:;~ j~ ~:11' ".;.5 ~` ~~Jpri;~"~1~~76?~. ~~'.,~ ~7v1~~x1~' ,5 ~ J/~3~ 2i^,~2~J].~Ia,Sa

C"lY~z~~e~ ~~ I~~t ~~~t~~~ee The City's total x°avenues ~vcre ,`69, 11,307. I'ropex~y taxes corz~pris~ 10.93%,
or $1,072,159 of the City's zevenue. Sales tax revenue comprises X3.45°/a, os~ $~3,~~~9~99 of the City"s
avenue. In additiozz, ~3,255,~37 ar 33.18°/m comes from charges for serviccs9 ~vatei• and sewer fees of
~2,74'~,642 ~ompr~se 84.39% of the charges for ~~z-viccs.

For the prior yeas°, The ~rty's tofal revenues vver~ X9,212,006. Property taxes compz°ise 11.03%, or
$1,0209937 of the pity's revenue. Sales tax xev~nue co~aprises 3 ,59%, or $r;927~,348 of the City's
re~r~nue. In additzos~, $39161,419 or 34.32% comes from charges fog° ~ervic~s; water aid s~~~~ fees of
X2,672,771 coznptrse X4,54% of fhe charges for services.

~.~ x - ~- ~ ~'



The total cost of all programs and services for the year ended September 30, 2014, was $8,605,757. For
the prior year ended September 30, 2013, the total cost of all programs and services was $7,757,887.

T̀otal ~'11SeS 2013 - 29.4

Public safety

}3,z~tr?, t7::
_..€ Interest on long-term debt $2,313,591..

`~ Economic development

Highways and streets

] Culture and recreation

~ $1,092,2761 ~ $54,027General government
s

~' $675,330Water and sewer ~'
$511,342 yfi~l,fl✓3

~~ ~ ~ _-~~

Governmental Activities

• The City's property tax rate remained the same for 2014 at $0,298608 per $100
valuation resulting in a slight increase in property tax income for fiscal year 2014 due
to increased assessed values.

• City franchise tax revenue increased $30,931 or 6.2$% from the prior year while
hotel occupancy tax revenue increased $49,470 or 12.98% from the prior year.

• Miscellaneous income increased due to the change in the charging for administrative
services and insurance recoveries.

• The increases in general government and public safety are related to the additional
salaries expenses including some from the change in administrative services.
Economic development expenses decreased due to the administrative charge and
capital outlay.

Business-type Activities

• Water and sewer expenses increased due to professional fees, depreciation and bond
issuance costs.

7



~~ s~~° . ~~Z~ra~~a ~ '°e:~a~~ ~t~~~ ~~t ~#' A~ t~viti~s

Revenues

Program revenues:

Charges for services

Operating grants

General reve~~ues:

Property taxes

Sates taxes

Franchise 4~xes

Hokel occupancy

Investment earnings

Miscellaneous

Garn on sale of land

Total revenues

Expenditures

Ueneral government

Public safety

FIighways and streets

Economic dcvelopme~it

Culture and feereatiori

Interest on lone term debt

Water a~ad sewer

Iota► expenditures

Lrcrea~e (decrease] iii n~[ position
bei'ore transfers

Transfers

Cha~~ges in neY position

Net position, beginning

Prior period adjustment

Ne[ posiCron, ending

Ciovernrnentai activities Business-type ~etivities Totals
:?014 ?013 2014 2013 2P7~~ 2013

$ 50 ,195 $ 488,6h8 ~ 2,747,042 $ 2,672,771 $ 3,255,537 $ 3,161,419
92,029 89,713 11,904 - 103,933 89,713

1,072,1 S9 1,020,937
3,282,299 3,278,348

523,085 492,154
430,662 3$1,192
95,090 98,338

86Q,424 53],407

~. 175,000. 150,164,.__._
e. 7,O;i8,9~3. C 530,961~_ _~-

12,818 8,334

2,'772304 2(81,f~S_._ ._~._~..._. __z_.....~.......

1,072,1 S9 1,024,937
3,282,299 3,278,348

523,085 492,15A
430,G62 381,192
107,908 lOb,b72
860,424 531,407
175,000---, ..M lS,0,1~54

9 81 ] 307 y.212.006

1,092,276 988,499
3,298, 118 2,905,293

fi3t,073 728,820
675,330 359,382
5 33,342 51G,03b

84,027 20,432

'6~ 5,~1$,~bfi7

746,777 1,012,434

745,777 I,012,93n

19,03b,56~ 18,013,126

$ 7i ,;ft1; iiu:t $ 1~ tt +fi ti ~;tt

2,313,591_ 2;239,~2U
-- 2,313,591 2,23~J,420

A58,773 441,685

45S,773 441,585

7,892,677 7,450,992

~_ ...._. 15,43 M~~.~~-

:'~ li,3;x,525 k 7,89?,b71

1,092,276 988;499
3,298, 118 2,905,298

631,073 728,820
b75,330 359,382
X11,342 ~i6,03G

A4,027 20,432
2,3I3,Syl 2,239,420

$,6(35,757 7,757.R87

1,205,550 1,454,119

1,205,556 1,45 ,! 19

26,923,237 29,469,11£3

1,210,730

!~ 29,339,517 $ 26,923,237

~Ad°~R~~S~~ QD~~~Rf,' ~~~'~~ ~~~t's`@~1(D11.'S`n T~~71~ ~.-'2 ~}k'r1~r; ~ =! s~11177at'=~3- ~' i~('i~1 . ~ 'j4~;° ~ii.,'t.,al4 ~t't.; {r)e~ 17~,'. ~',,,1~,

ended ~e~tei3~~er 30, 2014. T11~ ~oveinmen~al ~3_~~~~iEi~~~, ix~t t~~~~~~U:~i ~.1~~ ti ilt~~=; zi~~~ ~~~ir,iii~~~~ i~z ,,;7~~«~%"i7,
"~'he business-type acfiivities increased izet position ~~ ~, .~~~~~_i'F i"(ae s~~~~~{~-,~~~~,~t~~~t ,t ~ts~t »z3~,iiir~~z ~~~~,<i
increased by X1,226,655, whzle the business-tyke z~~~.E. ~,~~~~iii~7a~ ~~i~.~.~t.,~ ;r:.~ti ,~>15,~~ , ~> c~u~~ 1~~, ~_7ri~,~~ E:}~;~~~ix>c{
adjustments. M.a~e infarmation on th~s~ px~ioa• p~~;,~,~ =ct~zi .~~~~a=.~.-~~t.s `~:zzz ~~~.- ~~~a~,~r~ ~~~ tl-~e ~~E>~ t;~ ~~-~ ~I~~~
~ti~3ilria~ St~fPl1'iPj1~s,



FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE CITY'S FUNDS AND BUDGETARY HIGHLIGHTS

Governmental Funds

In the current year, actual expenditures as compared to prior year actual expenditures, increased by
$763,826. The significant changes in actual expenditures reflected au increase in general government of
$73,902, public safety of $221,469, economic development of $302,716 and culture and recreation of
$89,885 offset by decreases in highways and streets of $32,317. Also, actual resources available were
$4,706,658 or 72.10% more than the actual resources available in the prior year. Notable changes in
actual resources were as follows: bond proceeds and premiums increased by $4,070,106; miscellaneous
revenue increased by $145,624; insurance recoveries increased by $175,985; and sales of capital assets
increased by $154,511.

Proprietary Fund

For the current year, actual expenses as compared to prior year actual expenses increased by $74,171, ar
3.31%. Opexating revenues in the content year were $74;871 or 2.80% more than the operating revenues
in the prior year. The notable increase in operating revenues was an increase in miscellaneous revenue
in the amount of $122,722.

General Fund Budgetary Highlights

The original budget for the General Fund was not amended during the year. For fiscal year 2013-2014,
revenues exceeded budgetary estimates while expenditures exceeded the budget in public safety and
culture and recreation.

f\ct ~~~l ~.;.~~c.~~r3iti~rc~~ c~~~.a~~+.l~~~ t~tul~;et~~c1 ~t ,.:~3+~ni~i~~lres 1>y~ X33,18$. The most significant variance
r~~~tilt~~~i I"~-z.~rn ~~ic.l~ial c~;~~~~_nclit~.~rz~,; l~ein~ n°~o~'~ tl~i~~i l~t~~i~~c~t<c~ in public safety by $152,17$, while actual
~~~c}~~ur~i3ittares ~~tia~er~ le~~;5 thrat~ 1~~~~i~~~t~~~~ iii s=~~titi~~~iil <~~,vc~~naa~ent by $48,178 and highways and streets by
.~t7''a7~ >. 4~)~i tl~~ ~~tl-~~r ~~,~r~atl, a~.ti.~;al a~~z-~•~~~r~ ~~.xl. "~f?)2,445 more than budgeted revenue.

CAPITAL ASSETS AND DEBT ADMINISTRATION

Capital Assets

During the year ended September 30, 2014, the City spent $208,441 for governmental capital asset
additions. Of the additions, $177,578 represented the construction of buildings and improvements.
Additionally, the City spent $860,366 for enterprise capital asset additions during the year ended
September 30, 2014.

s Total gross governmental capital assets as of September 30, 2014, are $18,310,510.
For the prior year, gross governmental capital assets were $18,102,069.

• Total gross enterprise capital assets as of September 30, 2014, are $11,649,855. For
the prior year, gross enterprise capital assets were $10,853,528.

Additional information on the City's capital assets can be found in Note 8 to the financial statements on
pages 31 — 32 of this report.
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~~~~~~~~~ ~b~:

At S~ptembei° 30, 2014, the City had $9,150,000 in bonds and notes outstanding. ~s of ~epter~lber 30,
2013, tl~~ City had $1,1 ~~,000 in bonds grad notes outstanding.

~d~itional infoi°~nation on the City's long-term debt can be found ~n Note 9 to the financial statements
on pales 32 — 34 of~this report.

The ~ziy is continuing to bud~ct conservatively zra orc~~r to maintain fiscal res~oilsibility. 'I"he
unassigned fiu~d ~a~ai3c~ is the General Fund is cLir~~~itly ~p~zvxitnately ~ rno~7ths ~i estimated
expenciituies f'ar a year. The City will continue to rn~nitor iYs fund balance closely in order ~o keep a
strong fund balance foz• future considerations.

4~~J1'~d ~A~:,'"111V~ ".Akl~' f:l"i'Y'~ 1+'11~lA1~1(:lA'la '1i~lAl~JA($L:i~11~;C~"1~

~Z~~~~sts ~'o~ I~f~g° ~tic~~

This financial report zs designed to pxovic~e ~. g~ner~.l ovexvi~w of the City's finances foi• X11 those with
~r~ i„t~r~st in the City's finances. Qa~estions concerning any ~~the infoz~ati~n proyide~ in phis r~~ort or
requests for additional financial information should be addressed to the Office of the City Manager, Czty
of Belinlead, Texas, 3015 Belln lead Drive, ~3ellrriead, Texas 7b705.
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BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



s~~r~ A art; nn r. ~si~u~ t>r.~ Air, ~-r nre~ a~e~e <e ni
.~ar~aa:.ivaa~,iva ara~ iva~,a acr~sasa~iv

Governmental Business-type
activities Activities Total

~~~~`T~
Cash artcl c~sl~ equivalents $ 16,965,962 $ 3,953,515 $ 20,919,477
Accowits receivable, aiet b94,926 301,715 996,b41
I~~ventories 7~8 5,000 5,728
~zlternal balances ( 4,497,933) 4,497, 33
Prepaids 440 ~ 440
Restricted cash and cash equivalents _ 20,426 20,426
xyiaiiy in jointi vez~ttare 1,573,946 1,573,946
lease receivable:

Ti~rie within one year ] 83,005 ~ 183,005
J~ue in more Phan one year 921,802 ~ 924,842

Ca~iial assets ~i~i b~it~g depreciafeci:
T .anci. ?,771,t93 3$799 2.09.992
ri (~in.~i~{.~wti QZi ~ :progress -~ s f 1 y~j[J ~~f 1 yJ l~O

Capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation:
Building and improvements 4,666,702 801,242 5,467,944
ZnfrasYructure .2_.;784,227 a 2,784,27
Water and sewer facilities 2,533,103 2,533,103

Ec~uiprnen~ 1,301,63.1.~.m~. ,~__ _
174,.813~, _..... __..e 1,475,444

Total assets 25,795,683 14,048,090 39,843,773

TYTFF~ I21RE~ ~UTT+T.~`W~ Q~P i$_F.~(1TJ3~f'FC

deferred charge on refiinding 13,,888. 13,888

Total deferred t~utflc~ws c~fresouz•ces ~ l3,$88 13,88$

~,z~~~~,~~~~~
Accounts payable 197,1372 247, 51 ~4~3,623
Accrued liabilities 157,615 28,497 186,112
CustomeY• deposits payable 337,654 337,654
Noncurrent liabilities:
Due within one yeas• 241,722 170,973 412,695
I3Xie in more than one year 4,195,272 4,941,788 ~ 9,137,060

'Total liabilities ~ 4 '7_~6~ 1 ~,726.~t~3 .10,518,144

1~+dI+',1 t C~~I 13i~t~I
Net investment in capital assets 11,315,424 .3,106,686 14,422,110
P~estricTed for:
Court security and technology 31,225 ~ 31,225
Public safety ?6,55~~ - 76,SS4
Debt service 189,852 m 189,852
Capital projects 20,x}26 20,426
Economic development 4,695,853 ~- 4;695,853
Culture and recreation 1,106,713 ],106;713

Unrestricted 3,58f3,381 5,208,403 8,79b,784

Total net position $ 2,1,t~~~-,002 $ £x,335 S)S $ 29,339,517

5~;~ 4~e~~~a;~p~a~y~~~; ~o~e~ to ~~~~~~~~i~~ ~#a~~i~~~ia~,
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Y~f4,lLf~I~~..~~ .~~f1.~. 1 .e ~a~1~/k.~2I~I$~1:~°d 1~f~~. }~ ~~~)~

f'.~~I;'1'3
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables (net of allowance for
uncoliectibtes)

I.s;ase xeceivabie
Due from other fiends
Prepaids
Inventories

Total assets

L1IABILT"PXES
nccounts paylblc
Accrued liabilities
Due to other funds

l of~l liabilities

ll~FGIt1tE13 IIVI+L.Ol~'S O[~ IdESOUI2CES
Unavailable revenue -property taxes
Unavaiilble revenue - !case receivable

Total deferred inflows of resources

~'(J1V17 73AI,ANCI~;S
Restricted for:

Inventories
Prepaids
Public safety
Court technoloSY
Culture and recreation
Economic development
Capital pr~~iects
Debt service

Committed for:

I3el)mead
General EDC A

~ 3,(143,36] .9, 1,323;6'70

566,643 -:

9,107,807

~i40
7?g

$ 4,21 i~172 ~ z.-isi,~7~

$ 150,018 $
1 19,972
33,!73 1,585

308,1 C;3 1,585

85,26)

____T_..... ~ _ ~,io~ xo~~._ _.. .
85,2b9 1,107..807

728
440 --

76,i54

1,322;085

Street improvements I,S30,145
Un~issigned I,y09,873

"Ibtal fund balances 3 817 7h0 1 3??,OAS

Total liabilities, deferred inflows ofresourccs and fwid balances `~ 4;21 1,177. 5 2,431,477

Amounts re~~rted for povern~uental ~~tivilies iii (he st~~~ein~_nt of act position are di~'erert beca~!!Se:

Capital assets used in governmental activities arc not ~n~u~cial resources and, therefore, are not reported 'ni Uie funds.

C!l3~~:' long-isrm assess are ~1ot available to }7a~y Fo; ~ur;en? ~erio.l expe~itliti.res anc;, there;o;e, ter:; reported a; ur,~•dailablc i;i ilic fu~3ds.

Long-term liabilities including bonds payable are nos dtie and p~iyabie in d~c curre~ri period end; therefore, aren't reported in the limds,

Net position of government~il <~ctivities

~~~ as~con~~ar~y3r~~ ~€~fc~s ~~ f'iza~~~~i~l st~►te~~~~ra~~,

I3



Tota!
Bellmead Capital Other Governmental
EllC B Hotel/Motel Tax Projects Governmental Punds

$ 2,191,551 $ 1,131,451 8,50Q,179 ~u 175,750 ~ 16,965,462

93,086 35,197 694,926
- - 1,107,807

1,585 6,94R 1,598 35,090 45,221
440

N ~ _ ~zs

$ 2,2f~b,222 $ 1,133399 $ 8,501,777 $ 24b,03~ $ 18.815,084

$ 2Q261 $ 26,793 $ - $ $ 197,072
4,893 ~ 21,564 14b,429

_~ 4,500,000n. 3,396~ __ ~ _ -,T 4,Sh3,154

20,261 31,686 4,500,000 .24,460. 4,886,655

33,669 118,938

.~ ,.~:'.~.~.. ;, 1,107,807.

33,6tit3, 1,2262745

728

4~4
76,554

- 31,225 31,225
],106;713 - 1,1U6,7I3

2,265,961 - - 3,588,046
- - 4,001,77", - 4,001,777

156,133 ]56,183

-. - - 1,830,1 a5
1,909,873

„2,265,961 1,106,713 4001777. 787,408 12,701.684

$ 2,286,222 $ 3,138,399 $ 8,501,777 $ 246,037

t 1,523,753

1,226,745

{ 4,448,180)

$ 21;004,002



"i'i'i ~l~9i~,i~d"~' ~t<' ~;~1~,[~UF~~, ~XE'EI~I3~"~'~)~~.~

r~I~II~ C~AI~(bl;~ SP@] I+~I~I9 ~3~~.~Sid~:~ - ~t)'~~itI~1i1~E10"~"~~~ ~+~.1i~~3~

A`4J i6 d'L@Y`i 48:itR5\A'~1~A9~i9 ~~%~Bi ~A fl➢9ab~~ily .S.V&~A

i2~~k:i~tl1~;~

Taxes:

Property

Sales

Franchise

F~lotel occupancy

Other

I..iuenses and permits

Intergovernmental

Rent

A 3114) CIIIU '1 Cti;j

I ll ̀ Je51[Y1e711 B31':lli'l~S

Miscellaneous

Total revenues

EXPEIVDI'TUI2F,S

General government

Public safety

Highways zind streets

Economic and physical development

Culture and recreation

debt service:

Principal

Interest

i3vnd issuance casts

Capi#a! outlay

Dotal expenditures

EXCESS (DEFIC]EN~Y) ~I+' dZEeI~TVUES

~d~;dZ (i11VIDEiB) ~X~'~NI3I'1'[JitF~S

OTIiER I'1tvA10(C7NG sol)itCEs (USES)
7'ransiers in

"I'r~tnsfers oiit

T3nn~ nrnrrr~l~

Premium on bonds issued

Insurance recoveries

~̀alc af'gener<~l capital asset,

'lbtal other liriar~cing sources (uses)

NET C1~r~1VGE IN I~11~7D BfiLANC7E

~'$JIN~3 a'3A~,~`eNi.I~„a3~,ie11~l1~ll~ia

a~'fiJI~~ 63~a~~.~~1~lC:a~,, ~?1~1i3H14~

~e~ ~ac~~a ~s~~z~i;'g notes to ii~z~a~~is~l ~ts~t~ra~a~~a~s.

13cllmead

General EDC A

$ 7G3,~18 $

2,73S,25U

S23,Ok5

59,713

46,792

92,079

40

JJ %~~41 b __ .

~~G ~L USES / L

C24,22~

5,223,861 65,572

982,935

3,040,225

584,008 -

69,79

82,883

---
4,6)0,051_ 

... 

59,7)3

533;x 1(~ ( 4,226)

( 166,4! 6)

}29,b7~
- ---

__.._ ~ _ _~ {.___.,.____ 36,'147}

S3~;tilt; ( 44.96?)

;i,2.~3,93Q 1,3b3;0~2

!i; ~-ui7.7~60 $ 1,322,08

I S



Total
Bellmead Czpital Other Govermnental

EDC B ...Hotel/Mokel_Tax Projects Governmental Funcls

$ $ -~ $ - $ 300,10] $ 1,068,119

547,049 - 3,282,299

523,085

430,662 - - 430,662

- - 59>713

46>792

- _ 92,029
65,049 38,898 - - 103,987

357,416

8,311 3,298 179 438 95,040
500 - -

6 ~ 

624,726

620,909 472,858 179 300,539 6,683,918

982,935
_ 3,040,225

584,008
498, l 90 567,988

351,924 434,807

29~,000 295,Od0

4,982 4,9&2

68,508 68,SQ8
177,578 9,451 - -

ry jv299982

187,029

675,768 361,375 68,508 6,165,482

~___ 54,859) 111,483 { 68,329) 557 518,436

166;416 - - 166,416
- - - { 166,416)

4,000,000 - 4,000,000

70,106 70,106
1 75,185 - 175,985

l 75,000 - 304,575

~ 17,401 - 4,070,106 - 4 550 7E,6

462,542 111,483 4,001.777 557 x,069,202

1;803,4.19 995,230 - 18G,~351 7,632,4$2

$ 2,265,961 $ t ins ~7~ $ 4,001,777 $ 187;408 $ 12,701,684

~~'~



~az:~~r~~~~,z,~'r't~~ €~r' ~rt~r ~`~'~~r'r1m~~r~r' o~ ~a~v~r~u~,s, ~:~~r,~~r~'~~tt~~
~r~~ ~~~~~~~~ ter ~~~r~ ~,~~.~rv~~~ c~~ ~~vr~~r~~r~~r~~~, ~~~~~ ~ro ~~~~~

~~'~~Y'I'~~~: l'I~AT2 ~I~VD~~ ~~~'1°~1~ZY~7E12 30, 2014

Net change in fund balances -total governmental fand~

Amowlts reported for governmerytal activities in the statement of activities are different because;

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. However, in the staterraent of
activities, the cost of those assets is allocated over their estimated useful lives and reported as
depreciation expense. This is the amount by which depreciaiton expense exceeds capital outlays
its 2i7e current period,

~ce~enl!es in the staiemeni of activities that dc~ not provide current financial t•esour~es are nit
reporked ~s revenues in the funds.

The net effect of vas•ious miscellaneous transactions involving capital assets (i.e., sales and
donations} is to decrease net assets,

']'he issuance of long-term debt (e.g., bonds, leases} provides current financial resources to
governmental finds, while the repayment of'the principal of long-teem debt consumes the current
finanieal resources of governmental funds. Neither trar7saction, however, has any effect an net
position. Also, governmental funds repart the effect of premiums, discounts and similar items
when debt is f7rst issued, ,vhei•eas these amounts are deferred and amortized in the statement of
activities. This amount is the net effect of these differences in tine treatment of~ long-term debt and
:•elated items.

Some expenses c•eported ire the statement of activities do not i•egtzire the use of current financial
resources and, therefore, are not reported as expenditures in governmental funds.

Changes iii net position of governmental activities

fee 6ic~c}rn~gi~~yin~ r~~~e~ ~r~ ~'itaa~ca~il ~t~t~rtic~i~ts,

$ 5,069,202

353,415)

a,aao

( 129,675)

( 3,"175,106)

( 68,2b9'}

$ 746,777

1 '1



CITY OF BELLIV~EAD, TEXAS

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

PROPRGITARY FUND

SEPT~?Y~BER 30, 2014

Business-type
Activities

L'•nterprise Fund
Water and Sewer

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 3,453,51
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for uneollectibles of $49,707:

Accounts 275,164
Other 26,551

Due from other funds 4,501,798

Inventories 5,000

'Total current assets 8,762,028

Noncurrent assets:
Restricted cash 20,426
Equity in _joint venture 1,573,946

Capital assets:

Land 38,799
Buildings and improvements 877,b95
Water and sewer ('acilities 9,2A8,100
Equipment 1,337,6fi3
Construction in progress 147,598

Less: accumulated depreciation t?,954,300}

Total capital assets (net of accumulated depreciation) 3,b95,5~5

Total noncurrent assets 5,289,927.

Tot11 ~sset~ 14,051,955.

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOiJRCES

lleferred charge of refunding 13,888

Total deferred outflows of resources 13,888

LIABILITT)GS
Ctu~rent liabilities:
Accounts payable 247,551
Accrued liabilities 28,497
Customer deposits payable 337,654
Compens~tcd absences, current portion 5,973
Due to other funds 3,865

Revenue bond Ind note payable, current portion ~~ ]65,000

Total current liabilities 788,540

Noncurrent liabilities:
Compensated absences 17,919

Itevcnue bond a~}d note payable 4,923,869

T̀otal noncurrent liabilities 4,941,788

Total I iabilities 5,730,32A

NET POS17~70N
Net investment in capital assets 3,106,686
Restricted for:
Capital ~noiects 20,42(

i i n restri cted 3i.?43~,~Ft)~S

Total net position $ R.33S 515

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
18



~~["A~.0.'li~tl~~ibn Y~%' ll"45'iVX:l~dJ lll~q ll:i~% ~` IV.S7 fl'~~_5 ['~i Vlld ~~Lr~t°t~~~ dl`Y AV Ai~ p3~~1.=1~ ~k~1V

F't~~d ̀ ~']~~, ~'~~,It ~I'~I~~~ ~~I''~'Y,1`1~}~I~,~Z 3(1, 2(Di~

~tE'JEl°I6J~
Operating revenues:
Water sales
Sewer charges
Turn-on fees
Water and sewer tap fees

Other

Total operating rever7ue

F~PENS~S
operating expenses:
Salaries and benefits
system re~~ir and ir~aintenas~ce
Auto and equipment maintenance
Uffice expense
Yrofessianalf'ees
Utilities
Depreciation
Ins~zrance

1vlisceliaveous

Total operating expenses

~1'~TL~4TIIVG INC014~4~

I~~I~OPi~:ItA7'It~lG I2~~I~NU~S f~%I'ff;iVSE3~
Intergovernmental
Interest and otl~e~• incornc
Gain Qoss} on,joint venture

Interest charges

"Total nonoperating revenue (expenses)

~'~IAI@I£p~ 31~J 1w1~T ~"fl~]TI~I~I

NE'T POSITION, I3EGIIVI~dITV~

l'p2101t PPc,Y21O1~ tA1D,~U~7'M~P1T

1 Y9:~ d'oJ! S fl•.1t 9y ~1V 9Jy~LY

~~~ ~s~ ~~~p~ny~n ~~~~~ tai fz~a~~a°~~~ ~t~t~r~ae;~~~s<

Business-type
(Activities

Enterprise Fund
Water and Sewer

$ 1,'105,580
805,847
41,750
1 9,F,4S

174,820

2,747,642

419,945
27,259
69,890
33,972
94,452
319,523
449,075
fi0,028

39.8,036

1,972,180

775:,462

a ~ «~ ;i

~, t
s r;,"/!r

45 ,773

7: ~r>'`.677

~; ; ~'; ; i
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CTTY OF B~LLMEAD, TEXAS

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Pt2~PRIE'TARY FUND

YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2014

Business-type
Activities

Enter rise Fund
Water and Sewer

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Receipts from customers and users $ 2,834,400
Payments to suppliers ( 1,020,311)

Payments to employees ~ 41115 r~)

Net cash provided by operating activiCies I,<1(i2.513

CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Operating grants 1, 53

Net cash provided by noncapital and related financing activities ~ 1k7S3

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED ~'iNANCING ACTIVITIES
Acquisition of capital assets (~ 7~)[~,3J,1 }
Nrincipal paid on bonds and note payable ~' l fiO,(JOCI}

Interest paidon bonds and note payable ~ { l i),S~?~)__
Net cash provided by capital and related financing activities t `>~~a ̀ ~?~))

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Investment in joint venture ( 242,407)

Interest received 12,818

Net cash provided by investing activities (' '2`?_ ~h`?)

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (~~;?~i'~7

CASH AND CASH EQUNALENTS, BEGINNING ~,73G, I ~~I— _ __ .

CASH AND CASH GQUIVAL~NTS, ENDING $ 3,973,941

RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING INCOME TO NET
CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIViT1ES
Operating income {loss) $ 775,462
Adjustments to reconcile operating income to
net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation 449,075
Change in assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable, net 71,570
Other receviables ( 11,725)
Inventories 14,713
Customer deposits 26,913
Accounts payable 68,283
llue to other funds ( 147)

Other liabilities 8,369

Net cash provided by operating activities $~ 1,4Q2,513

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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CITY OF BELLMEAD, TEXAS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

S~PTEMBEI2 30, 2014

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The City of Bellmead, Texas (the "City") is a home-rule municipal corporation organized
and existing under the provisions of the Constitution of the State of Texas. The City operates
under aCouncil-Manager form of government and provides the following services: general
government, public safety (police and fire), highways and streets, economic development,
and culture and recreation.

The financial statements of the City are prepared in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles (GAAP). The City's reporting entity applies all relevant Governmental
Accounting Standards Boarci (GASB} pronouncements. The more significant accounting and
reporting policies and practices used by the City are described below.

A. Reporting Entity

The accompanying financial statements present the City and its component units, entities for
which the City is considered to be financially accountable. Blended component units,
although legally separate entities, are, in substance, part of the City's operations and are
appropriately presented as funds flf the primary goverrunent. Discretely presented
component units, on the other hand, are reported in a separate column in the government-
wide financial statements to emphasize it is legally separate from the City.

The above criteria were applied to potential organizations to determine if the entity should be
reported as part of the City. The following was determined:

The Bellmead Economic Development Corporation Type A (EDC A) and Belimead
Economic Development Corporation Type B are blended component units and are reported
within the City's pximary government. The Corporations are responsible for certain
economic development expenditures benefiting all citizens of the government and az•e
financed by a portion of sales tax revemie and are governed by a board comprised of
members of the government's council and citizens of the community. The Corporations have
a September 30 year-end and are xeported as Special Revenue Funds. A separately issued
financial report is available for the F3elimead Economic Development Corporations may be
obtained from the City of Bellmead.

2l



~n ~9~v~~~~~~~~mew~ ~ ~~~a~ ~`~ a~ ~`a~~~~~~~~~ 5~~~~ ~~~~s

l~he ~overnment~wide ~ig~anczal statements (i.e., the statement of filet positron and the
statement of activities) Y°sport information on all of the activities of the ~rinlary government
aiic~ its ~omponer~t units, for the most per, Lhe cf~~c;t of ineerfunc~ ~~tivity his been r~movec~
Fi-orn these stat~m~~ts. Gov~rnrnent~cl activities, ~nrhicl2 na sally a~°e st~~poz~t~d by ta~~s ar~d
ir~l:ergov~rs~xa.ental 1~venu~9 are ieport~d sep~rat~ly from business-type activities, which rely
to a significant extent on fees and charges #or support, Likewise, the primary government is
repogted separately fi°om certain legally sepat~at~ ~omponerat units foz° vvh~ch the pri~nar°y
~o~v~rnment is ~inanciall~ ac~~untable.

The statement of activities demor►strates the degg°ee to which the cli~•ect expenses of a give
function o~° segment are offset by program revenue. Dared expenses are those that are clearly
identy~iable with a specific function car segment. Cert~i~ ~~d~rect costs 1~ave ~ee~n included as
part of the progr~n expenses reported for the various functional activities. P~~og~am revenue
includes 1) charges to customers or applicaa~,ts who purchase, use, or directly benefit from
goods, services, or pizvileges provided by a given functxoza ox segment, and 2) grants and
contributions that are restxzcted to rnn~eting tk~e operat~or~al or capital req~~irernents of a.
parcicuiar gunciioil or segm~rat. Taxes anti o~ner items nog properly included among program
revenue are r°sported instead as gineral revenue.

separate financial statements are z~rovzded ~o~° gov~x~me~tat #u~ds arac~ ~~roa~rieta~•y finds.
Majflr individual Governmental Punds and major individual Enterprise Funds are reported as
se~aa•~te co~urnns in the fi~~~ financial st~t~m~nts,

~e t"ri;~~~~' Y91~"~X~' 6:¢i~ 43~:I:~ ~9~ ' - ~ ¢gasa~c~~ c~IRt ~{~~iRd"rw~~,.i~ ~~a ~ ,~ ~, '` a ,`~ ~paa

Thy gover~arnent-wide financial statements are repart~d using tl~e economic resources
rneasut•ement focus and the accNual basis of'accvunting, as are the proprietary fu~ld financial
statements. l~.evenue ~s z•~cord~d when earned and expens~;s are recorded when a lz~bility is
incurred, regaY•dless of the timing of related cash flows. Property taxes are xecogr~zzed as
revenue in the year for which they are levied. grants and similar items are recagnized as
revenue as soon as all eligibility requirements imposed by the provider have been met.

Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current frnctnci~C resources
mec~su~~ernent focus at~d the ntodifzed accf~ual basis t~f accortnting. Revenue is y°ecc~gnized as
soon as it is both measu~•able and available. ~.evenue is cons~derec~ to be available when it i~
collectible; ~r~ith~n the current period ~r sc~~n enough ~hereaft~r to pay liabilities c~f~ the current
p~;riosz. i ter iiiis purpose, ~n~ bove;nmeni ct~nsidei°s revenue tc~ bE avaiiani~ II COi1~CT~C1
within 60 days o~ the end of the current fiscal period. ~xpenditur~s generally are recorded
W~1e11 a ~l~bl~it~ is in~y_rr~c~~ ~S L111deS' ~Ecr~~l ~~rpL1T~1.1?1g. 7 ~OWPVFr~ ~9~~t SPr•vic~c~

expenc~ltures, as well as ~:xpenc~itures 1•elated to compensated absences and claims and
judgments, are recorded only when payment ~s due.

~'I'O~~€;I'~y ~ai~i~S, tTilllC~lla2 taX2S, S~1~eS iaX2S, c'liiu iilt~T'cSt ~SSOCI~I~~t~ ~Ilti1 t~1E CiiiicTl~ iiS~ai
period az•~ all consiclsr~d to be susc~~t~bl~ ~o a~~ria~.l end so have° b€esl ~~ecogn~zec~ ~s revenue
of tl~e cuz~z•ent fiscal period. All other revenue i~erns are consider°ed to be ~ieasurab~e ~ncl
availabl€; only whin cash is received by the City.

~2



The City reports the following major governmental funds:

General Fund —The General Fund is the City's primary operating fund. It is
used to account for all financial resources of the general government except those
required to be accounted for in another fund.

Bellmeud Economic Development Corporation —The Bellmead Economic
Development Corporation Types A and B are blended component units which are
reported as Special Revenue Funds that account for sales tax revenue that is to be
used for certain economic development expenditures benefiting all citizens of the
City.

HotellMotel Tax FuncC —The Hotel/Motel Tax Fund accounts for the receipts and
allocation of the City's occupancy tax imposed on the rental of hotel-motel
rooms. These funds are used to promote tourism and related activities within the
City.

Coital Proiects Fund —The Capital Projects Fund accounts for the acquisition or
construction of governmental capital assets.

The City reports the following major proprietary fund:

Water anrt Sewer Fund —The Water and Sewer Fund accounts for the activities
of the water distribution system, the sewage treatment plant, sewage pumping
stations and collection systems.

As a general rule, the effect of interfund activity has been eliminated from the government-
wide financial statements. Exceptions to this general rule are charges between the City's
water and wastewater function and various other functions of the government. Elimination
of these charges would distort the direct costs and program revenue reported for the various
functions concerned.

Amounts reported as pt•ogram revenues include: 1) charges to customers or applicants for
goods, services, or privileges provided, 2) operating grants and contributions, and 3) capital
grants and contributions, including special assessments. Internally dedicated resources are
reported as general f~evenues rather than as program revenue. Likewise, general revemie
includes all taxes.

Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items.
Operating revenues and expenses generally result from providing services and producing and
delivering goods in connection with a proprietary fund's principal ongoing operations. The
principal operating revenues of the City's Enterprise Fund are charges to customers for sales
and services. Operating expenses for the Enterprise Fund include cost of sales and services,
administrative expenses, and depreciation on capital assets. All revenue and expenses not
meeting this definition are reported as nonoperating revenue and expenses.

When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the City's policy to
use restricted resources first; then unrestricted resources as they are needed.
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~o ~~~~a~yade~x~a~e~$a~a ~~d6~ ~~~ ~a3~~iaa'~`s~ e~~' ~..eg~dniy

~ _
99~p)l9~1~S ad~Add ~Y~~~~~~YY~~3~S

For pu~°~oses of tie stateaaa~ent of cash tXows, the City considers ~Il highly liquid investments
(investYnents with original znaturiti~s less than 90 days, including r~str~ct~d assts) ~o b~ cash
equivalents,

state statutes authorize the City to irzv~st ~~~ abligat~ozis of the United States or ats a~e~aci~s and
instrumentalities end stag oz° local gov~mYnents, commercial paper, gua~ante~d investment
cants°acts, repurchase a~~~em~nts, and c~rtail~ ~;overnr~lent~l invesi~ner~~ pools. `The ~~t~'s 1oca1
inv~stan~~t pol:~y lim~t~ the lily to invest zn obligations o~ ~e L7r~ted Mates or its a~en~ivs any'
instxun~entalzties, ~~rti~icates of ~ieposi~, anoney market mu~ial funds, and local government
i~vest~nen~ pools.

Investments are reported at fair rralue. The governrr~ental investment goals opeiate in
~c~c~rc~at~~e with appropa•~ate state laws and regulations, T'he repoa-ted va1L~e of the goal is the
sane as the iaiz° value ~f tree ~oo~ skives.

~~~~~~da~s~e~ a~aai ~~3~~~i~~

~~tivity betw~~n funr~s that are representative of lending/bon~owing arrangements
outstanding at the end of the fiscal year are refers°ed to as either "due to/tram other funds"
(i.e., the current portion of interfund loans) ar "advances to/from other funds" (i.e., the
noncurrent portion of interfund loans). All other outstanciang balances between funds are
r~poi°ted as "due to/from other funds." Any residual balances outstanding between the
~z"J~~:'u'?lvl1~?a~ s`~L'i1V.~i~S 21iu vLiSil2vSS~ty'giE' dCilJl~i~.S uiP iay3l°~ii~ 11"x i~li. ~t~J~1'I3TYz2131—bVlt~a.

financial statements as "internal balances."

I~~er►tor°ies anc~ l~r°~paid Tt~ans

All inventa~-ies are valued at the lower a~ cost (first-in, ~rstaoutj or market. Ii7vez~to~ies az°e
recorded a~ exper~ditt~res whin aonsu~ed rather thin wheel plzrcl~~s~d.

~~~ital A~s~t~

capital assets, which include land, buildings and improvements, machinery and equipment,
and infrastructure assets (e,~., zc~ads, bz°idges, s~d~~r~lks, ai1~l similar it~s~s), ~r~ repo~tec~ in
the applicable ~overnrnental ~x business-type activities columns in the gov~i°nmcnt-wide
~inanci~ll st~temenis. Ii~e i.;ity has elected io report general infrastructure assets
prospectively from ~utober 1, 2003, as pe~aitted by GASB Statement Noa 34. Capital assets
are defined by' the ~i~y a ~ assets •,~it?~ ar initial, ~nclividual cost :~f rrz~r~ Char $1,~0~ and az~x
estimated useful lzfe zn excess of two years. Such assets are recorded at historical post or
~stirxiated historical ~.ost it ~ur~ha5~d ur cc>nslrucled, Donated c;aprtal assts are recorded at
estimated fair market raau~, at tine fat:, ~#~ do~~ati~ra.

The costs of normal maintenance and zepa~rs that coo nit as~d t~ the value of the asset oz~
mat~z~ially ~xt~nd the lives of the assets are not capitalized.

24



Capital assets of the City are depreciated using the straight-line method over the following
estimated useful lives:

Assets Years

Buildings and improvements 5 to 30
Water and sewer facilities 5 to 30
Equipment 3 to 20
Infrastructure 40

Restricted Assets

Restricted cash accounts in the Water and Sewer Fund of $20,426 represents proceeds from
the 200$ t~ and revenue certificates of obligation that have not been spent but have been
restricted to purchase water and sewer improvements in the future.

Long-term Debt

In the governmeant-wide financial statements, long-tei~rn debt and other long-term obligations
are reported as liabilities in the governmental activities statement of net position. Bond
premiums and discounts are deferred and amortized over the life of the bonds using the
straight-line method. Bonds payable are reported net of the applicable bond premium or
discount.

In the fund financial statements, governmental fund types recognize bond premiums and
discounts during the current period. The face amount of debt issued is reported as other
financing sources. Premiums received on debt issuances are reported as other financing
sources while discounts on debt issuances are reported as other financing uses.

Fund Equity and Net Position

The governmental fund financial statements present fund balances based on classifications
that comprise a hierarchy that is based primarily on the extent to which the City is bound to
honor constraints on the specific puzposes for which amounts in the respective governmental
funds can be spent. The classifications used in the governmental fund financial statements
are as follows:

Nonspendable: This classification includes amounts that cannot be spent because
they are either (a) not in spendable form or {b} are legally or contractually
required to he maintained intact. Nonspendable items are not expected to be
converted to cash or are not expected to be converted to cash within the next year.

Restricted: This classification includes amounts for which constraints have been
placed on the use of the resources either (a) externally imposed by creditors;
grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations of other governments, or (b) imposed
by law through constitutional provisions ox enabling legislation.
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~~omn~iti~ci~ i his c1~~ssi~c~iion in~lude;s amounts that pan ~~ ~s~ci only for
~~~c~f?~ p'a.~~~s~s ~urs'aar~t ~~ d~~~st;~ai~~ts ini~:~sP~ ~~ i~oas°:~ reso?uti~:: ~f ¢lav ~'ity
C:ounczl4 fih~ C;ity's hi~h~st level of decision making authority. 'These amounts
cannot be used foz° any othej• purpose ~lnl~ss the City Council removes or changes
the specified Lase by t~lcing tl~e same type of action that vas ez~nployed when the
funds were initially committed. This classification also includes cont~•actual
obligations to the extent that existing resolu~ces hive been specifically ~oznmitt~d
fox use in satisfying those ~ontractu~l requirements.

~ Assigned: 'Phis classificafion includes amounts that: ai•~ constrained by the City's
intent to be used for a spe~i~~ purpose b~~~ az~e neither restricted nog• committed.
Ì'hzs i~at~nt can b~ expressed b~ the Cz~y Council.

IJnassig~ed: ` 'his classi~catior~ includes the residual fLind balance for the general
Fund. The unassigned classification also includes negative residual fund balance
o~ any other governmental fund that cannot be eliminated by offsetting of
assigned fiend bala~ice amounts.

Tw a~~ ~"n: n~rs:mQr v_•••n r'~^ ~g a:'!!'~Y^~ .~iia.svivAi~~ .^# r.ci 4a r.r. r~rrararfc 4~:c ~=~~fc:•c':.^n ?:: d---rr_c::nan L ~v ~wxaaai ~ ae.¢v 1 Au1xVaC~ii 9 AAV4 jJV J1ld V11 A ~d WJ4/Adte9 LAAOs ib11A Wd VAAbV VbiL Ytl O✓bdd

assets and liabiiiti~s. :~t~.t investment i~ ~.apitai assets, .,onsists of capital assets, nei of
accumulated deprecaati~n, zeduced by the outstanding balances of any barrt~vJ~ng used. fc~z° the
acquisition, construction or improvements of t~aos~ assets9 anc~ adc~iz~~; bask unspent pro~eedse
Net position is reported as restricted when there are limitations imposed on their use either
though the enabling legxslafions adopted by the City ar through external restrictions imposed
by creditars, grantoxs ar laws or regulations of other governments.

~'~12 ~OJ2i'riTllcil~-iNIC~~ ~i'~u ~1ai3~. i~Vc~ ~il~ilCii~i~ Stai~iil~il~S i~~~i`~ T~StiiG~~f~ ~iai7C~'i3aiail~~S ~Oi'

amounts not available for appropriation ot° legally restricted for specific uses. ~7Jhen an
e~~enciii~zr~ is incurred io: puzpose~ poi• Lvhich ~oih z-esirictec~ and unrestricted find baflancc
is available, it is the City's }~o~z~y to use ~°~stxi~teci resouz•~es first9 thin uz~r~strict~d resources
as needed. ~Jh~n a~ e~.p~z~c~itur~, is is~~~~xec~ fir whzch cornm~~ted, assigned, ~r car~ass~gned
fund balances ire available, the City considers amounts to have been spe~at first out of
committed funds, then assigned funds, and finally unassigned funds.

~~fer~°~d ~ut~l~av~~ll~~vv~ of ~2~sour~es

In addition to assets, the statement of financial position will sometimes requi~~e a separate
section for ~ei'erred outflows of resources. ' 'his separate financial statement el~:~ent,
t~efeii~d~ Dil~flOih~S C➢~ Y'eSOUl'C~S, represezlts a consumption of net pc~sYtiol~ ~ha~: applies io a
fiuture pe~iod(s) end so wi1~ not b~ reco~rzized ~s ~n oaatfiovv of resources
(expense/expenditure) until then. The city does riot leave any items that quality for re~~orting
112 ~~liS Ct~~igOi;j' i11 ~i1d. e.~i~2'sF:i?i ~1SiJa~ ~/S:a~'.
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In addition to liabilities, the statement of financial position will sometimes report a separate
section for deferred inflows of resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred
inflows of resources, represents an acquisition of net position that applies to a firture
periods) and so will not be recognized as an inflow of resources {revenge) until that time.
The City has one type of item, which arises only under a modified accrual basis of
accounting that qualifies for reporting in this category. Accordingly, the item, unavailable, is
reported only in the governmental funds balance sheet. The govez-nmental funds report
unavailable revenues from one source: property taxes. This amount is deferred and
recognized as an inflow of resources in tl~e period that the amount becomes available.

Prior Period Adjustment

Change in Accounting Principles - As the result of implementing GASB Statement No. 65,
the City has decreased begimling net position as of October 1, 2013 by $10,817 for the
governmental activities and by $15,935 for business-type activities. These decreases result
from no longer deferring and amortizing bond issuance costs.

Further, the City has reclassified its deferred loss on bond refunding, previously reported as a
component of long-term debt, to deferred outflows of resources in the government-wide
statements in accordance wiih GASB Statement No. 65. The effect of this change decreases
current and other assets of the business-type activities by $18,518, and corresponds to an
increase in deferz•ed outflows of resources as of October 1, 2013.

In addition, a prior period adjustment of $1,237,482 was recorded to remove the unavailable
revenue for the lease receivable which had been deferred in previous years. This revenue is
considered earned and therefore should have been included in revenue in the govexnrraental
activities at the trine of the sale. This revenue is still unavailable so fliis prior period
adjustment only effects the government-wide financial statements.

Compensated Absences

Compensated absences are reported as accrued in the government-wide financial statements.
In the fund level financial statements, only matured compensated absences payable to
currently terminated employees are reported.

2. RECONCILIATION OF GOVERNMENT-WIDE AND FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The governmental fund balance sheet includes a reconciliation between fund balance of total
governmental funds and net position of governmental activities as reported in the government-
wide statement of net position.

"I~he governmental statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances includes a
reconciliation between net changes in fund balances of total governmental filzzds and changes in
net position of governmental activities as reported in the government-wide statement of
activities.

3. UNDNIDEll INTEREST IN WACO MI~TROPOLITAN ARi;A R~GIOIVAL S~W~R SYSTEM

During 2004, the City entered into an agreement with the City of Waco; Texas to acquire a
5.73% undivided intez•est in the facilities and operations of the Waco Metropolitan Az•ea Regional
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~~yve~ Systc~n (~,~'I!~(~~ ~ ~ j. "I' a~ ~'7ty ~~;Iiev~.s ~;z~t ins g,~r~l~as~; a,~ca n~~z~at;~~,~ ~ tl~e sysieia~ w i;
increase the efficiei~icy ar~d effectivea~e ,s of jn~°ovi~~z~a~ s~r~r~r ~r~air~~~at~. sexvac:~s ~o its citiz~.ng:

DuT•ing 2009, the t~ndivid~:d interest of 5.~3% in the ~I1~I~1~Z~~ facilities and operations was
adjusted to 5.707% to adjust anc~thez~ City's allocatian to the agi•ee~nent.

Ulader an intez°loc:al ag~~eement, a WM~RS~ boarrd co~sisfs of the City managers from each of
tllc seven part.ic;ipatil3g cities. T'I~e operation and ac1mi11istration of the system is subject to joint
control by the cities through t11e WIV1~R~~ board9 however, a sepaxat~ (~ga~ entity vas not
created. "The agreement allows the cities to pool resources and share the casts, risk, and t-ewards
of providing services. Further, ~ac~ City retains an ongoing #inaYlc~ial rnrea~es~ a~ric~ o~~gorng
fznai~cial interest anc~ ongoing fizial~eial respa~~sibility in #lgu opea~atic~ns ~f f1~e system.

Thy City has reparted its share of assets, Ile2b1~1tl~S, equity, revenges and.,, e~nersses that az•~
associated with this joint activity in its Enterprise Fund as follows:

Ci»•J-ent assets $ 315,009
Capital assets x,3$9,997
Current liabilities ( 131,€354j

Net assets $ 1,573,96

Operating expenses ~( 252,851)
Nonoperating revenues 1.5,074

Change in net assets ~~ ?_if>,7 l i

t;apital contrii~utions -current yeas• ~ 242,407

sun~rnlly of the City's cash end cash e~uiv~lents follows.;

Cash and certificates of deposit in bank $ 20,739,062

Government investment pools:
TexPool i ] 5,646
"1'exStar 5g,25g

Total cash and cash equivalents ~ 20.922.966

Interest Rate Risk. In accordazlce with its in~~estment policy, the Cit}~ manages its exposure to
~iecli,~es it fair v~~~~~ by: ;a) structuring tine investmezzt ~~Atf~lic~ s~ that se~uriti~ ~ anatuz~e tc meet
cash requirez~nents for ongoing operations, (b) investing operating funds primarily in shorter-term
cel-tificates of~ deposit, secua-ities, money market mutual funds, o~• bovernment investmcrit pools;
anal (e) diversifyrn~ 7riatuz~ities ~lr1c~ sta~ge7~rng purchase dates' ~c~ tnini~nize the iinpaet of market
mov~;me~lts over lime. 1i is the pity's policy not to invest in securities n~att~ring more than three
years trozn the date cif purchase. At S~ptenlbei• 30, 2014, the City's on]y investment is in
external investinel~t fools. The wei~htied aveiage n~atiz~it}~ of Texas L,oca~ i7ovcr~7rrrent
I~lvestrricnt Pool ("I'exPool) and ̀ I`exas Short-fet-in Asset Reserve Fund (Tex~ta~•) as of September
30, 2014, is less than 60 days.
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Credit Rzsl~ The City's investment policy limits investments in governmental investment pools
and money market mutual funds to those that are rated no lower than. AAA or an equivalent
rating by at least one nationally recognized rating service. As of September 30, 2014, the City's
investment in TexPool and TexStar was rated AAA by Standard & Poor's.

TexPool is a public funds investment pool created pursuant to the Interlocal Cooperation Act of
the State of Texas. The City has delegated the authority to hold legal title to the pool as
custodians and to make investment purchases with tl~e City's funds. The State Comptroller of
Public Accounts exercises oversight responsibility over TexPool. Oversight includes the ability
to significantly influence operations, designation of management and accountability for fiscal
matters. Additionally, the state comptroller has established an advisory board composed of both
participants in TexPool and other persons who do nat have a business relationship with TexPoal.
The advisory board members review the investment policy and management fee structure.

TexStar is a Texas public funds investment pool that is co-administered by J. P. Morgan Chase
and First Southwest Asset Management, Inc. TexStar is run by afive-member board comprised
of three representatives of eligible governmental entities and one member designated by each of
the co-administrators. TeYStar currently offers a "Cash Reserve Fund" which will invest only in
authorized investments under the Public Funds Investment Act with weighted average maturities
which cannot exceed b0 days.

TexPool and TexStar operate in a manner consistent with the SEC's Rule Za-7 of the Investment
Company Act of 1940. TexPool and TexStar use amortized cost rather than market value to
report net assets to compute share prices. Accordingly, the fair value of the position in TexPool
and TexStar is the same as the value of TexPool shares and TexStar shares.

5. RECEIVABLES

Receivables as of September 3Q, 2014, for the City's individual major funds and nanmajor funds
in the aggregate, including the applicable allowances for uncollectible accounts, are as follows:

Bellmead
Economic

Development Oti~er Water
General Corporation - I3 Nonmajor and Sewer Tc>Ul

Receivables:

Property taxes $ 89,299 $ - ~w" 35,197 $ - $ 124,496
Sales taxes 465,432 93,08b 558,518
Accounts 324,871 324,871
Oilier 11,912 - 26,551 38,463

Grass receivables 566,643 93,086 3S,IR7 351,422 1,046,348

Less: allowance for

uucollectibles - - {~_-#c~ ~t17) ~ atE~;"r(

Net total receivables $ 566,643 $ , .....93,086 $ 35,197 ~ ~(! 1,715_ ~n N~)~i,Cu~ l

The appraisal of property within the City is the responsibility of the McLennan County Appraisal
District (the "District"). The District is required under the Property Tax Code to assess all
property within the District on the basis of 100% of its appraised value and is prohibited from
applying any assessment ratios. The value of property within the District must be reviewed
every four years.
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i is °~;xY~'s ~xv~~r~y t~~ is ietiiL~i ~~~,i1 ~3~~:~~j~i' s' ~~i~ ~ss~~s~ca value i~si~~s ~s c~a ii1~ g~i'ic~i' a~i7uaiy i
for ail ~~eal a~zd ljus~ness ~er~o~~: ~rt~r}c~~t.~ lc~~;~te~ in ~he~ ~`~:~~: The 7~~w ~~ss~ssPcl v~l~:~~ ~x~c~
which the fiscal ~~14 levy was based was $354,~90,~13.

""axes axe ci~e by Ja~u~z°y 31 ~o~lorhrin~ the October 1 levy date, Curreni tax coll~~tions {oi° fh~,
y~aa° ended Sept~rr~be~° 30, 20149 ~vea•~ 96,'1 °/Q o~ tl~~ tax levy.

Int~rfui~d receivables and payable balances at Sept~rrab~r 30, 2014, aze ~.s follows:

Fund

G€neral

B~ilmead EDC - A.

Bellmead EDC - B

I-Iotel/Motc1 'Tax

Capital Projects

Nonmajo~°

Water and sewer

Taials

Rec~ivabl~ ~'~yabl~

$ ~ 38,173

1,585

1,585

6,94

1,598 4,500,000

35,090 3,396

4,501,.798 3,865

~ 4,547,~1~ ~ 4,547,019

AlI balances resulted from the time lag between the dates that 1) interfund goods and services are
pr°ovided or reimbursable expenditures occur, 2) transactions are recorded in the accounting
sysiesn, aalci 3 j ~ayrn~rzis o~Lvve~;n u~.ds are ~~aa~.

Int~r~'und ~~•~nsfers at ~~ptemb~~• 30, 2(;i~, are as fallo~vs:

~elimead

EDP - B Total

Transfers out:

del lmead EDP - A ;6 l bb,~ 16 ~ 1 b6,416

Tota3 transfers ~; 166,41 ~ ~ 166,4 ~ 5

l̀'ransfcrs are used to 1) move rcvcnues from the fund with c;olicction authorization to tlae 17ebt
Se~•viee Fund as debt service principal and interest payments become due, 2) move restrzeted
ai~~e~u;iis ii~oi7~ ~c~~ ~wis~~s io ine Uev~ ~e~=vice read tee esia'n~ish xnanciaiory i~~sel~e accc~unis, ~n~
3) move uru°estricted General Fund revenues to finance various programs that the government
must account for in other funds in accordance with budgetary authorizations, including amounts
p~Qvi~ied ~s subsidies o.~ zn~i~n iuncis ic~z~ va~~ious gram pro~rai3~s.
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7. LJCASE RECEIVABLES

The Bellznead Economic Development Corporation (BEDC) has completed construction on a
building which will be utilized as a plant and office space by Texas Machine &Tool
International, LLC (TMI). BEDC has entered into a 10-year lease agreement with TNII to lease
the property in accordance with the following schedule based on the construction cost of the
building, not to exceed $1,832,000. At any time after the fifth year of the lease, TMI can
purchase the building at amounts specified in the lease agreement. If the lease lasts to its
maturity, TMI can purchase the building for $0. After the 2013 payments, the cur~•ent lease
receivable is $1,107,807.

The Lease began October 1, 2009. The payments, including interest at 6.5%are:

Year Ended
September 30, Principal. Interest

2015 $ 183,005 $ 66,619
2016 195,261 54,363
2017 208,338 41,286
2Q18 222,290 27,334
2019 237, l 77 12,447
2020 61:,73.6 670

$ 1,107,807 $_ 202.719

8. CAPITAL ASSETS

Capital asset activity for the year envied September 30, 2014, was as follows:;

Balance Balance

October 1, September 30,

2013 Additions Deletions 2014

Governmental activities

Capital assets not being depreciated:

Laud $ 2,171,193 $ ~ - $ 2,771,193
Construction in progress - - -. «.

Total capital assets not being depreciated ~ 2,771,193 ~ ~ 2,77 193

Capital assets being depreciated:

Buildings and improvements

Infrastructure

Equipment

Tota! capital assets being depreciated

Less accumulated depreciation for:

Buildings and improvements

Infrastructure

Equipment

Total accumulated depreciation

Tota( capits~l assets being depreciated, ~~et

Governmental aceivities capital assets, net

~,531,b19 177,578 ~ 6,709,197
3,191,770 - - 3,191,770

5,607,4li7 30,363 5,638350

~'.~3i1,Sii~ 208,44( ~ ~~,53~17

t.kto,i36) C 223,359) -- ( 2,02,495)
~ i2~:~lst3j { 79,085] _ ( 407,SA3}

:k_(lT~. ~~}~j~ ( 259,412) µ _~ ( 4,336,7

~~o'f-~~JOI}_ ~ 561,856 _ _„~- ( 6,786,757?

_ „_,_ 9.105,975. ( 353,415) - 8,752,560

$ 11;877,168 $( 353,415) S - $ 11,523.753
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I3zitmce Laiance

October 1, September 3G,

2t)li AddiYrons Deletions 201Q

g3Yisiness-Qype aoctivitics

Capital assets not being depreciated:

Land $ 38,799 $ 'd $ 38,79)

Construction iu progress G4.039 147,998 ( ~~`.,i~'s 1~ 147,598.

'Ibtal capitll assets not being depreciated ] 02,83t? 147,598 ~ G i ~ ~ ~~~ t 86 397

Capital assets being depreciated:

Liuildings and improvements 877,b95 - 877,95

Water and sewer facilities 8, 33,332 712,7(8 9,248,100

Equipment (,33"7,663 ,• 1,337,663

'1'oial capiial assess being depreciated _ 10,75Q690 71 ~i768 - 11.463.458

Less accumul~fed depreciation for:

E3uildings acid improvements ( 32,883} ( 43,570) _ ~~` 16, ';5 ?1

Water~ndsewerfacilities ( 6,359,759} ( 355,238) a ( Ci,il~i.'J~+ij

Equipment ~~_ l,l 12,5 ~ 50,2b7} xi i ~ i ~~ ~i31

Total ~ccumuilted depreciation ~ _ 7,505,2.25) ~_ 449,075 - c ? ~1 l.;;ttt)

Total capita! zsscts being d~~rec~ated, »et 3,21S,4b5 26~.6~? _ 3 "".,_SE

Business-type activities capital assets, net $c~ 3,348,303 $@ 41 I,29I $( 64,039) :~ 3x695.,555

Depreciation expense was charged to functions/programs of the pity as follows:

Governtnental activities
General government $ 84,7b7
Public safety 228,749

Highways and streets 58,742

Economic develapment 107,343

Culture and i•~;cz~eation 72,255

Total depreciation -governmental activities $ 561~,~56

Business-type activities

Ulater and sewer $ 44 ,075

Total depreciation -business-type activities $ 449,075.

'! ►fry :! - =i

I~~ng-tez•m debt consists of bonded indebtedness; note z~ayable; and compensated absences, 'Thy
~;ity issues general obligation bonds to provide funds foz° tk~e acgtaisition and constz•uction of
xna~ar capital facilities and pledges income derived fi~oan the acquired or constr~aeted assets to pay
debt sir ripe. 3~n~~~a1 ~blzgatzon ~~aac~ ~ h~vd been issued fcr the busin~ss~iy~e a~tivit ~s, Fcr tk~e
~;overnm~ntal activities, compensated absences are generally liquidated by the G~r~~ral Fund.
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The following is a summary of changes in long-term debt of the year ended September 30, 2014:

Governmental activities

General obligation bonds
Certificates of obligation
Tax anticipation notes
Compensated absences

Nremium on debt

Business-type activities

General obligation bonds
Certificates of obligation
Compensated absences
Premium on debt

Balance Balance
October 1, September 30, Due Within
2013 Additions Retirements 2014 One Year

$ 250,06Q $ ${ 250,000) $ $ -
$ $ 4,OOQ000 $ $ 4,000,000 $ 140,000

135,000 { 45,000} 140,aao 45,000
169,I56 G9,500 ( 11,768) 226,588 56,722

__ 70,106 ,: 7Q1Ob -,

$~604,15G $ 4,139,606 $ 3( 06,76 $ 4,436,994 $ 241,722

$ 690,000 $ $( 180,000) $ SIO,OUO $ 165,066
$ $ 4,500,000 $ - $ 4,500,000 $

17,065 11,093 ( 4,26C>) ~ 23,$92 5,973
78;869 - 78,869.

$ 707,Ob5 $ h,589,962 $ 1( 84,266) $ 5,112,761 $ 170,973

Long-term debt for governmental activities at Septezx~ber 30, 2014, is comprised of the
following:

$230,000 Seeies 2012 Tax Anticipation Notes, due in annual
installments of $45,000 to $50,000 with an interest rate of 1.79%,
maturing in 2017. $ 140,000

~4,UUU,000 Series '1U 14 C;ombmation'1'ax and Limited Pledge

Revenue Certificates of Obligation, due in annual installments of
$140,000 to $265,000 with an interest rate of 2.00% to 3.75%,
maturing in 2034. $ 4,000,000

Annual debt services requirements to maturity for governmental activities are as follows:

Year Ended
September 30,

2015
2016
2017
2018
2019

2020-2024
2025-2029
203Q-2034

Certificates of Obligation
Principal Interest

$ 140,000 $ 120,565
150,000 107,531
150,000 104,156
200,000 100,656
170,OOd 96,956
915,000 426,984

l ,045,000 299,275
1,230,000 115,700

$ 4,000,000 $ 1,371,$23

Note Payable
Principal Interest

$ 45,000 $ 2,103
45,000 1,298
50,000 448

$ 140,000 $ 3,849
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~0~~041~1i1~:

$b70,000 Series 2.012 General Obligatio~a Ref'undin~ Bonds, due in

annual installu~en~ts of~$165,000 to $180,000 with an interest rite of

1.79%, mahtring in 2017. 510 000

~4,~UU,UUU ~er~es lUi4 Lomb~nat~on i ax atlp Limited Ylec9ge

Revenue Certificates of Obligation, due in annual installments of

$30,000 to $330,000 with an interest rate of 2.00% to 3.75%,

a~a~ttarix~g in 2034. ~ 4 SQ0,000Z

Annual debt service requirements to maturity for l~uszness-type activities az°e as Wallows;

Year Ended
Septeant~er 30,

2015
2016
Lvi i

2~1g

2019
2020-2024

2025-2029
203fl-2Q34

Genea•al Obli ation Bonds
1'Y•incipal Interest

$ 165,000 $ 7,652
170,000 4,654
1 %J,VUU I,JUO

$ S l 0,000 $ 13,872

Certificates of Obli~ation~
Principal Interest

$ ~ 140,495
30,000 129,313
.Yll,lllJtl 'ILiS,U.S2S

210,000 12b,238

215,006 121,988
l , (b0,000 537,1 19

1,310,000 375,988
1,545,~4~ 145,013

$ 4,500,000 ~ 1,704,792

In August 2014, tk~e Caly issued $8.5 million in ce~-tifi~ates of obligation to finance $~.5 million
iz~ Utility F`iind capital improvement prajec;ts and ~4 million in General Fund capital
improvement ~rojecfs. This issuance has been done without a current iz~cre~se in the tax z~ate.

~'Isin ~~s~t°r tf~~

The City provides pension bene~iis for all of its ei~gible employees through a nan-traditional,
joist contributory, l~ybt•id c~efn~d benefit plan in the state wide ̀ I'ex~s Municipal ~eti~~einent
System (`i'ivIRS}, an agent multiple-employer public employee retirement system. 1 he ~l~n
provisions that leave been adapted by the City are within the ont c~~ s ova lahle in the g~verf~ing

state statutes of ̀l'xYll~~.

"z~iv1~S issues a publicly available compt-eh~i~~iv~, annual ~r~~zacial a~Wpo~t ~~~t i.~ciudes f;naz~~ia;
statements and i•egtiired sup}~leme3ltary information (RSI) far T'NIRS; the report also provides
detailed explanations of the contributions, benefits, a~1d actuarial methods and assumptions used
by il~c System. ̀ Phis report may be obtained from TMRS' ~vei~site at vvr-vvv.TIV~RS.eom.
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The plan provisions axe adopted by the goveixling body of the City, within the options available
in the state statutes governing TMRS. Plan provisions for the City were as follows:

Employee deposit rate
Matching ration (city to employee)
Years required. for vesting
Service retirement eligibility (expressed as

age/years of service)

Updated Service Credit
Annuity Increase (to retirees}

Contributions

Plan Year 2013

6%
2 to 1

5 years

60/5, 0/25
100% Repeating,

Transfers
70% of CPI Repeating

Plan Year 201.9

6%

2 to 1

5 years

60/5, 0/2S

I00%Repeating,

Transfers
70% of CPI Repeating

Under the state law governing TMRS, the contribution rate for each city is determined annually
by the actuary, using the Entry Age Normal (EAN) cost method (EAN was first used in the
December 31, 2013 valuation; previously, the Projected Unit Credit actuarial cost method had
been used). This rate consists of the normal cost contribution rate and the prior service cost
contribution rate, which is calculated to be a level percent of payroll from year to year. The
normal cost contribution rate for an employee is the contribution rate which, if applied to a
rrzember's compensation throughout their period of anticipated covered service with the
municipality, would be sufficient to nneet all benefits payable on their behalf. The salary-
weighted average of the individual rates is the total normal cost rate. The prior service
contribution rate amortizes the unfunded (overfunded) actuarial liability (asset) over the
applicable period for that city. Both the normal cost and prior service contribution rates include
recognition of the projected impact of annually repeating benefits, such as Updated Service
Credits and Annuity Increases.

The City contributes to the TMRS Plan at an actuarially determined rate. Both the employees and
the City make contributiozis monthly. Since the City needs to know its contribution rate in
advance for budgetary purposes, there is a ore-year delay between the actuarial valuation that
serves as the basis for the rate and the calendar year when the rate goes into effect (i.e., the
December 31, 2013 valuation will determine the contribution rate begimiing January 1, 2015).

The annual pension cost and net pension obligation/{asset) are as follows:

Three-Year Trend Information

Fiscal Year Annual Pension Actual Percentage of

~ndin~ Cost.{AYC).._ 2__
9/30/2012 268,019
9/30/2013 241,743

9/30/2014 2G7,187

Contribution Made

268,019

241,743

267,187

APC Contributed'

100% o

100%

100°/n

Net Pension

Obligation/

(Asset)
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Ti i C !"' i y 9 i t,' it 7 'S Yx ~~e r~; ~~~~:~•~c~ ~o~:~r~~>u~i~rz rai.~~ :s~:r x~s~a~ y~a~: 2~~~w~x~ c~~~~;r~~~~~c~. ~s ~~rt c~~ ~,ra~ ~~;~~xr~o~~- ~ ~,
?{)11~r~t~ 2~3~2.aCita~7•i.~l v~l>>az r~s~s: Atlr~iti~~zi infr~r~rr~~~ir~n a~ ref ah~ lat~sr_ tic°fi~i~ri~l v~?1»~~ti~~n;

Decemb~t~ 31, 2013, also ~Fo1lor~as:

vaiu~~t,~~,r~~r~ 1zi3zizail Izi3iiao~z ~zisli2or3

~cttbari~~] Cost 1Vletllocl Projected LJniT Credit Projected Unit Credit E;ntxy Age Normal

Amog1 ~ition IV[ethocl I_,evel Percerii I,ev~l i'eruent I..evel Percent

ofPayrol9 of Payroll ofPayroli

C~t;SB 25 Equivalent Single 26.4 years 25.1 years 3~.0 years
L~.mortirttion Period closed period closed pc~~iod closed period

An~o3~t3zatiox~ Pea•aod fo~-ncw 30 years 30 }~ea3's 3D years
Guns/Losses

Asset V~Iuation Method 10-year Smoothed 1Q-year Stnootheci 10-year Sinoothcd
Market Market Market

Investment itaie ofFceiurn^` '7,t~o~~ ~ ~o~~ ; _~ ~o~~~

Projected Salary Increases* Varies by ~Iaries t>y 'Varies by

age anc~ service ~ ale ar~~t service age and seiwice

'Includes Inflation at 3.0{1°/a 3.f?fl%a .. .. 3.00%n

Cost-of-Living Adjustments ~ 2.1%u ~ 2.1% ~ 2.1%

~'a~~~~~ ~#~a~~as ~~ ~+'~~ ~~~~~ ~i ~s r~,~~ ~ In ~'~ta~e~ 2013, the T~T~~ ~~arc1 ~~pg•o~red act~~aaia1
changes in (a) the funding method from Projected Unit Credit to Entry Age Nor°mat, (b) the post-
r~tii•~m~~at rnoz-~~lzty assumptions ~s~d ~n ca~~aalatin~ li~biliti~s end ~ontzibution z•~t~s and ~r the
cie~velopm~ni of the Annu~~y Purchase Rate factors, and (c} the ~n~ortizatzon policy. These
actuarial cha~lg~s w~xe effective with the I)ece~nber 31, X013 ~,ctua~°ial valtiati~~. For a co~x~~let~
description of the new actuarial cost method and assumptions, please see the December 31, 2013
'TMRS Comprehensive annual Financial Report (CAFR).

Thy funded status as of December 31, 2013, the most recent actuarial valuation date, zs pr~s~~~t~d
~s follows:

.~...~._.._..~_._._._.__..m_..n m ..~__________ ~~. m
Actuarial

T~. ..~~~.~ ~.
+ U.AAi,aS

Actuarial Actuarial Accrued ( ~ Perces}tage of
Valuation Value of Liability U~~zfia~~cle~ Ia.~T. Cov~s~~~ Govetr 7

~ Date Assets~ ~~~
(1

~ (A~3)

(21 ~

l~'unded liatio

<3

~ f.IJAAL,)

(9}
I'ayroil
(51

Ya~roll ~

(6)

~i2/3i/2013 ~ iU,085,429~ (z,Od'/,35x 91.f% ~ :b 9~z.129 :~ 1,86.729 32.0% ~.}
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Actuarial valuations involve estimates of the value of reported amounts and assumptions about
the probability of events far into the future. Actuarially determined amounts are subject to
continual revision as actual results are compared to past expectations and new estimates are
made about the future.

Actuarial calculations are based on the benefits provided under tl~e terms of the substantive plan
in effect at the time of each valuation, and reflect along-term perspective. Consistent with that
perspective, actuarial methods and assumptions used include techniques that are designed to
reduce short-term volatility in actuarial accrued liabilities and the actuarial value of assets. The
schedule of funding progress, presented as Required Supplementary Information following the
notes to the financial statements, present multi-year trend information about whether the
actuarial value of plan assets is increasing or decreasing over time relative to the actuarial
accrued liability of benefits.

il. OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS

Sunnlemental Death Benefits Fund

The City also participates in the cost sharing multiple-employex defined benefit group-term life
insurance plan operated by the Texas Municipal Retirement System (TMRS) known as the
Supplemental Death Benefits Fund (SDBF). The City elected, by ordinance, to provide group-
term life insurance coverage to both current and retired employees. The City may terminate
coverage undex and discontinue participation in the SDBF by adopting an ordinazace before
November 1 of any year to be effective the following January 1.

The death benefit for active employees provzdes a lump-sum payment approximately equal to the
employee's annual salary (calculated based on the employee's actual earnings, for the 12-month
period preceding the month of death); retired employees are insured for $7,500; this coverage is
an "other nostemUlovment benefit_" or OPEB.

contributions

The City contributes to the SDBF at a contractually required rate as determined by an annual
actuarial valuation. The rate is equal to the cost of providing one-year term life insurance. The
funding policy for the SDBF program is to assure that adequate resources are available to meet
all death benefit paynnents for the upcoming year; the intent is not to pre-fund retiree term life
insurance during employees' entire careers.

(RETIREE-only portion of the rate)

Plan/ Anmial Required Actual Percentage of
Calendar Contribution Contribution Made ARC
Year Rate ~Rat~) Contributed

2012 0.05% 0.05% 100%
20l 3 0.06% O.Ob% 100%
2014 O.Ob% 0.06% 100%
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I~mou~~ts t~e~~zv~d or s°~.ceivable .from gz•ant a~~ncXes a~•e subject to audit ~na~ adjustm~i~t by
grantor a~enczes, pxincipally the fedez°al governrrient. any di~allovv~d claims; ir~cludin~ amounts
~lrea.c~y collected, may constitute a liability of the applicable funs. The amount, iF any, of
exp~ilc~itc~x°es which may b~ disailow~d by rho grantor cannot be determined at this time althaugh
the City experts such. amounts, if any, to b~ immaterial.

PT'h~r~ ~r~ other° claims and pending actions incident ~a noa~rnal operations of the City. In the
opinion of the City management based on consultation with. the City's attozney, the City's
pofentzal liability in these maters will not have a material impact on the financial statements.

; ~; - ::.;

The City is exposed to various risks o~ loss related to toxts/theft ofy UaTIIA~e LOy and destruction ~f
assets; errors and omissions; injuries to employees; and natural disasteas. 'I'h~ City 1~as joir~~d
togefher r~vith other governrrients in the State of Texas to forn:i the Texas I~1ur~ici~al I,ea~ue
~nter~overz~a~ental Risk Pool (the 66I'oo199), a public entity risk pool currently operating as a
common risk mana~emen~ and insurance program fot° liability, property ar~d workers'
compensation coverages.

Tie ~`~ty gays a q~aarte~°ly romrri~~,~tion t~ the X001 for ids ~nsura_~~P coverage. The ~gre~xnen~ fer
formation of the pool provides that the Pool ~vili be self sustaining through member
~ontrib~~tions ~n~ ~vil~ r~in~aare t~ir~a~gh corr±rr~ercial companies for ~~ai~T3S li3 ~X~~S3 'JI S~~Ci~l~
limits.

The Texas Nlunzc~pa~ ~,ea~ue Inter~avernmenta~ 12is~ Fool has published its own financial
repart, which can b~ obtained by writing the "Texas Municipal League Interg~ve~-nir~ental disk
Pool, 1X21 R~atllerfog°d Lane, Austin, Texas 7 754-512 .
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d'~ 1'~;i~/1~PJ'1 ~f~' 1tk;°VIPdU~S, ~)CI'k',t`dl)t'l'IJ$dl?
r~tVl) ~~-~~11V~X'S iI~I ~'1Ji~'i) 13A1,.~1~~L+~ - k3Ui)CpF..7' Al~ll) ~~7't1fiL

~~IV~I2r11., ~'~i~~

~+'~43'~'~-I~ "~'~.~13 k:I~T~F~ ~F;P7'El~l~3~I3 3(!, 2fl1~

~ry 

......Budgeted flmounts Variance
f\ctua] With Fii1a1

Original Final Amou~its Budget.

Taxes:
Property $ 751,289 $ 751,289 $ 768;018 $ 16,729
Sales 2,733,601 2,733,601 2,735,250 1,649
T~r~nchise 542,850 542,80 523,085 ~ 19,765)
Other 41,850 41,850 59,71"3 17,863

Licenses end permits 52,325 52,325 46,792 ( 5,533)
~ntery~n.,P,~r.nvryrLl _ o~ {)~~ o~ r~~~

Reni --. - 4J 1C
Fines and fees 325,000 325,000 357,416 32,416
Izlvestmenteainit~~s 5,445 5,445 17,292 1 1,847
Miscellaneous N~ 549,056 549 056 6L4,226

~ 

75,,170

Total revenue S,Ofll,h16 5,001,416 5,223,$61 222,445:.

~:XPENDITUR~~
Generalgovernroent ],031,113 1,031,113 982,935 ~G;~,t~~3
Public safety 2,838,047 2,888,047 3,040,225 ~ 17:', i'?isi
Highways az~d streets b56,740 656,740 Sf34,008 ;'~, ~_~:?
Ciiltw•e end recreation ____T__80,y63 80.963. 82 883

-. ~.....~..t ( t,'~'r~)

Total expenditimes ~ 4,6~6.R63 4,656,86s 4,690,051 ~ ~ ;.? ~;'3}

mtis'i' ̀ "~~~4~1t~~ I~ b+'171~~7 I~~~,~~?~~ 3~~l,5.53 314,553 533,510 189,257

F~~~~ r~~il,~'b1Vi:E, ~3~t~i~t~77I>l~y 3,283,930 3;283,930 3,283,930

FUND BAI~ANCF., Ist~IDI1VG $ 3,628,483 ;b 3,628,43'3 $ 3,817,740 $ 189,257



CITY OF BELLNIEAD, TEXAS

STAT~iYIENT OI+ T2EVENUES, ~XPFNDITURES
AND CI~ANGES IN FUND BAI,ANC~ -BUDGET AND ACTUAL

BELLMEAD ECONOMIC D~VELOYMENT CORPORA7'(ON - A

T012 THE YEAR ENDIs'D S~PT~MBER 3U, 20I4

Budgeted Amounts Variance
Actual With Final

Oiigi~~al w Pinal Amounts Budget

I2EVGNUES

lnvestmentearnings ~ 75,304 $ 75,304 $ 65,572 $( sJ,~:~}

'Total revenue 75 304 75 304 b5 572. f ~~ r l?j

EXPENDITURES

Economic development 56,300 56,300 69.798 ( 13,498)

Total expenditures 56,30 54,300 z~~>, I~a~_ { 13,~k98)

EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUES

OVER (UNDER) EXPENDITURES J9,004 19,004 ( 4,226) { 23,230)

OTHE12 FINANCIPIG SOURCES (USES)
Transfers out ( 166,4 ] 6) ( 166,416)
Sale of property ~ 174,320 174,320. 129,675 (_ 44,645}

Total other financing sources (uses) 174,320 174,320 ( 36,741) ( 211,061)

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE 193,324 193,324 ( 40,967) ( 234,291)

FUND BALANCE, BEGINNING ...1,363,052 1,363,052 1,363,052

FUND BALANCE, ENDING $ 1,556,376 $ 1,556,376 $ 1. 22 ~~5 $( 234.291}
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f~f`49~ ~.1-If~1~C~i',:i lf~ ~~lJ1~1fl) li/~L~~iI~1~;~; -• f~YJllls~;~l' Pa1~11~ t1(, I ~.'~L

~~,~,~~~~:~~ ~~:s~~rc~~v~~~ ~~vr~,~,c~~~ra ~ ~~r~~c~r~~~~~~c~~t - ~

~'O~L'T~3~: 1'EA~ ~1~i9~~6) ~~l''I'~I9~~3~~t 3U, 2014

Sales taxes
Rent

Investment eaz•nir~gs

Miscellaneous

Total revenue

~~P~1'dI3l e T.TI3~:,~
F,conomic development

Capital outlay

Total expenditures

ovE~ ~ura~ER~ ~x~~Nl~~~~rH~s

~~~~:~ F~~r~~vcrrr~ s~~~a~~~ ~~~r.s>
Transfers in
insurance recoveries

Sale of general capital assets

Total other financing sourt•ces (uses)

Pd~'~' ~'I-IAIeIG~ 1Ti' FLJI~~ I~ALA~I~~

~'l71'J~ k3~~1~1~dC~, ~i~C~IIVIV~I+1~

k'IJN13 i3r~!..r~I+I~~:S ~1>Il~1N~L.~

Budgeted Amounts~~, Variance

Actual With Final
Oi•i final _ ~'i~ial Amounts Buc~~et

$ 546,500 $ 546,b00 °0 547,049 ~ 44~
19,000 19,000 65,049
1,000 1,004 8,311 7,311

S00 500

566,6~i0.~. ebb bfi0 620 909 ~... 54 309

566,60Q 566,600 498,190 68,410

177;578 ( 177,578)

Y Sb6,600 5b~~,60u fi7~ 768 { I09,1

( S~i,859) ( 51,859)

m 166,416 166,416

175,985 175,985

µ 175,000 175,000

5 7 7,401 517,401

462,542 462,542

1,803,419 1,83,419 t,803,ai9

$ 1,803,419 ~ ],803,414 n 2,265,961 ~ 4~62,Sd2
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CITY OF BELLMEAD, TEXAS

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, ~XPENDITUR~S
AND CHANGES IN FUND I3ALANCE -BUDGET AND ACTUAL

HOTEL/MOTEL TAX FUND

FOR THE Y]GAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2014

Budgeted Amounts Variance
Actua] With Final

Original Final Amounts Budget ~~

REVENUES
Hotel occupancy tax $ 357,700 $ 357,700 $ 430,662 $ 72,962
Rent 42,000 42,000 38,898 ( 3;102)
Investment earnings 1,000 1,000--_ .._.._____3,298... _.2,298..

Total revenue 400,700 ~ 400,700 d~.,,72z858 72,158

EXPENDITURES
Culture and recreation 349,792 349,792 351,924 ( 2,132)
Capital outlay 13.000 ...~.. 13,000 _. 9,451 3,549.

Tota] expenditures 362,792.. 3:62,792 361 37~ 1,417

NET CHANGE 1N FUND BALANCE 37,908 37,908 111,483 73,575

FUND BALANCE, BEGINNING 995,230 995,230 995,230

FUND BALANCE, ENDING $ 1,033,138 $ 1,033,.138 $ l,1d6,713 $ 73,575



~'ity of L3ellmead, '~'e~as
7'l',~iF~~ Analysis of k'undin~; 179-o~;z-ess
Foa~ the Yeas° ~;nc~eci SepteYnber 30, 20 l ~
{~[lnaudited)

Aatuaria9 V~iu~tion Tate 12131/1 t2/31/l~ 12/31/11

~c1ua~~iat Value of Assets $ I Q,i~85,4~9 ~ 9,412,8 5 $ 3,951,St34

Actuarial Acc~•ued Liability $ 7 1,007,SS8 :6 9,736,08 $ ~,43~,~57

Percentage Funded 91.6% 96.7% 94.9%

Unfunded (over-fianded)
Actuarial Accrued Liability
(UAAI_,) $ 922,129 $ 323,237 $ 478,'753

~nr:i~al L;at~ered ~a3ra17 .~~ 2,~~~,i2~ $ 2,'124L',~~"7 ~ z,~05,~T:'

Uf~L as a Percentage of
Covex•ed Paiys'oll 32.4% i i.~a/a 1?.1%

~~



CITY OF BELLMEAD, TEXAS
NOTES TO REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
SEPTEMBER 30, 2014
(Unaudited)

BUDGETARY 1NPORMATION -The City follows these procedures annually in establishing the
budgetary data reflected in the budgetary compa~•ison schedules:

1. Prior to the beginning of each fiscal year, the City Administrator submits to tl~e
City Council a proposed budget for the fscal year beginning on the following
October• 1. The operating budget inctudes proposed expenditures and the means
of financing them.

2. Public hearings are conducted at which all interested persons' comments
concerning the budget are heard.

3. The budget is legally enacted by the City Council through passage of an
ordinance prior to the beginning of the fiscal year.

4. The City Administrator has the autho~•ity to transfer appropriations within
departmental accounts. The City Council, however, must approve any
interdepartmental transfer of unencumbered appropriation balances or portions
thereof as well as any increases in fund appropriations. At the end of the fiscal
year, all appropriations lapse.

5. Amlua3 budgets are only adopted for the General Fund. This budget is adopted
on a basis consistent with generally accepted accounting principles ("GAAP").
There are no legally mandated budgetary constraints for the proprietary funds,
however a budget is adopted for the proprietary fiend aiulually as a management
tool and for purposes of planning revenue bond repayment in accordance with
bond covenants.

6. The budgetary data presented has been amended from the original budget by the
City Council. There were no significant supplemental appropriations necessary
during the year.

7. Expenditures exceeded appropriations in public safety and culture and recreation
expenditures in the General Fund. These overruns were covered by unexpected
revenues and unspent expenditure budget. Expenditures exceeded appropriations
in economic development expet7ditures in the EDC A Fund. This overru~~ was
covered by available fund balance. Expenditures exceeded appropriations in
capital outlay in the rDC B Fund. This overrun was covered by unexepected
revenue a~~d other financing sources. Expenditures exceeded appropriations in
culture and recreation in the Hotel/Motel Tax Fund. This overrun was covered
by unexpected revenues and unspent expenditure budget.
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